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PART I

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-looking Statements and Risk Factors

      This report on Form 10-KSB contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Sections 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the Company intends that such forward-looking statements be subject to the safe harbors created thereby. The Company is
hereby providing cautionary statements identifying important factors that could cause the Company’s actual results to differ materially from those projected in
forward-looking statements of the Company herein. Any statements that express, or involve discussions as to expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, assumptions,
future events or performances (often, but not always through the use of words or phrases such as “will result,” “expects to,” “will continue,” “anticipates,”
“plans,” “intends,” “estimated,” “projects,” and “outlook”) are not historical facts and may be forward-looking and, accordingly, such statements involve
estimates, assumptions and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements. Such
uncertainties include, among others, Risk Factors at the end of the Management Discussion and Analysis.

Item 1.     Business

      Unless the context otherwise requires, “Company”, “we”, “us” and “our” refer to Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation, Smith & Wesson Corp.,
and their subsidiaries combined, and the terms “holding company” and “parent company” refer to Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation while the
references to “S&W” refer to Smith & Wesson Corp.

Overview

      Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation is a Nevada corporation headquartered in Scottsdale, Arizona. The Company was initially formed in June, 1991 as De
Oro Mines, Inc. From inception, De Oro was primarily engaged in the business of developing mining properties. During 1992, De Oro transferred its remaining
assets and settled its liabilities and after this transfer and settlement no longer conducted any business. Effective October 20, 1998, De Oro Mines acquired the
assets of Saf-T-Hammer, Inc., and changed its name from De Oro Mines, Inc. to Saf-T-Hammer Corporation. On May 11, 2001, Saf-T-Hammer Corporation
acquired Smith & Wesson Corp. and changed its name to Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation on February 15, 2002.

History Prior To Acquisition of S&W

      Prior to our acquisition of S&W, our principal operations centered around development of two childproof gun safety devices known as the “Saf-T-
HammerTM” and “Saf-T-TriggerTM”. Both devices are easily removable, external devices that enable safe storage of weapons, including loaded firearms.

      We also developed a proprietary handgun vault and security cable lock system. At the time we acquired S&W, we had completed the research and
development of our products and had begun marketing them to various distributors and retailers. After the acquisition, we changed our marketing strategy to rely
on the distribution channels of S&W and added our products to the S&W product line.

      Now we have restructured our Company as a holding company for S&W and have refocused the parent company’s mission to explore and expand the
licensing and direct sales of various non-gun products, and to develop technology products and solutions that compliment our law enforcement related sales. We
have relocated our licensing and branding personnel to our Scottsdale office and are in the process of transferring certain licenses from our subsidiary S&W to the
holding company.

Financing the Acquisition of S&W

      On May 11, 2001, we acquired S&W from Tomkins Corporation in exchange for a $5 million down payment and a $10 million note due in full on May 11,
2002. We also entered into a guaranty of a $30 million unsecured note from S&W to Tomkins. Our $5 million down payment was financed through a loan from
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Colton Melby, now a director, officer and major shareholder of our Company. The Melby note was due on May 15, 2002.

      On March 28, 2002, we repaid our $10 million note to Tomkins and our $5 million note to Mr. Melby through obtaining a $15 million note from Banknorth,
N.A. based in Springfield, Massachusetts. The Banknorth note has a twelve year term with interest only payments until March 28, 2004, when principal and
interest is due monthly. The Banknorth note is secured by some of the cash and marketable securities of S&W.

      Repayment of our obligation to Mr. Melby permitted us to terminate an outstanding lien on all of our outstanding S&W common stock. Prepayment of the
$10 million note to Tomkins freed us from some of the more restrictive covenants with Tomkins, including a prohibition of: a merger with or into another
company; an acquisition of another company and a sale of S&W assets. Although we are still subject to substantial restrictions on the use of S&W cash, we are no
longer prohibited from pursuing business strategies such as acquisitions or divestitures to enhance shareholder value.

History of S&W

      S&W was founded in 1852 by Horace Smith and Daniel B. Wesson to manufacture a lever action pistol incorporating a tubular magazine and firing a fully
self-contained cartridge. Messrs. Smith and Wesson wanted to replace “hand cannons” used since the 14th century which required muzzle loading with loose
powder, balls and primer. Our Model 1, .22 caliber pistol was the first firearm developed which did not require loading gunpowder separately from a lead ball,
thereby permitting firing the pistol as rapidly as the lever could be manipulated. By 1871, we had introduced our Model 2, ..32 caliber revolver and our Model 3,
.44 caliber revolver. In 1899, we developed our most famous revolver, the ..38 Military & PoliceTM, predecessor to today’s Model 10, our best selling revolver. It
is the only handgun model in the world that has been in continuous production since 1899, and to date over 6 million units have been produced.

      We supplied revolvers in the Civil War, World War I, and World War II.

      Even though we started manufacturing pistols in 1913, historically our core business has been the manufacture of revolvers. However, we began to
aggressively compete in the burgeoning pistol market with the production of our Model 39, 9mm in 1953. Many of our current 22 models are based on this
model.

      In 1965, S&W was sold by the Wesson family (which had owned us at least in part continually until that time) to the Bangor Punta Corp.

      During the 1970’s, management installed by Bangor Punta Corp. embarked on a purchase of other companies to augment our line of handgun and handcuff
products for the law enforcement and sporting market. Our product line was increased to include law enforcement products like riot control equipment, police
Identi-Kit identification equipment, night vision instruments, breath testing equipment, and leather products.

      Although S&W’s product line expanded in related products, our Springfield plant focused on the development of new handguns. Stainless models continued
to evolve and develop through the 1970’s.

      In 1979, we began the modernization of our Springfield facilities. We also introduced the stainless-steel Model 629, .44 Magnum revolver and the
Model 547, 9mm revolver, which used a special patented extractor system.

      During the 1980’s, the most important development was our L-Frame line of .357 Magnum revolvers: Models 581, 586, 681, and 686. These had a
significant impact on both law enforcement and sporting markets and became the most popular revolvers ever introduced.

      Today, most of the revolvers we manufacture are variations on three styles: the Model 36, .38 caliber Chief’s SpecialTM, first sold in 1950; the Model 27,
.357 caliber Magnum, presented to J. Edgar Hoover in 1935; and Model 29, .44 caliber Magnum, first sold in 1955.
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      Historically, most of our revolver frames were manufactured in one size, the “K” size (medium) and made out of steel. During the 1950’s we started offering
three different sizes of frames for our revolvers. Today, we sell frames in the “J” (small), “K” (medium), and “L” (large) size. During the 1960’s, we were the first
arms manufacturer to develop a process whereby stainless steel could be used in the manufacture of our revolvers. Today, we manufacture our various models of
revolvers out of stainless steel, aluminum, titanium and scandium.

      In January of 1984, Lear Siegler Corporation of Santa Monica, California, purchased Bangor Punta and acquired S&W in the package. Lear Siegler
recognized that S&W’s strength lay in the manufacture and sale of handguns, handcuffs, and police Identi-Kits. Under Lear’s direction, we divested of all
unrelated lines to concentrate on our traditional product lines.

      The Lear Siegler Corporation was purchased by Forstmann Little & Co. in a friendly takeover in December of 1986. However, Forstmann Little had no
interest in developing the business of S&W. Its primary interest was Lear Siegler holdings in the automotive and aerospace industries, and it sold S&W to help
finance the acquisition. For the first time since 1964, S&W was offered for sale on its own merit.

      The successful bidder for S&W was Tomkins PLC of London, England. Tomkins embarked on a program to improve the quality and modernize our
manufacturing techniques and invested in excess of $60 million to do so. Generally, we directly purchased all of our new equipment at that time. This
modernization included highly productive computer numerically controlled (CNC) machine tools, super accurate CNC gauging equipment, new robotics
applications and automated finishing processes, utilization of “state of the art” materials processes, including new metallic forming processes which produce
highly accurate internal components very efficiently and with consistently high quality. Substantial investments were also made in environmental and waste
management systems. These improvements made us one of the most modern American firearms manufacturing companies. All of these improvements served to
make a highly skilled work force even more productive.

      In 1988, to gain market share for its pistols, the factory introduced a new line of autoloading pistols called third generation models. Incorporating many
improvements, these pistols were ergonomically designed to improve the handling characteristics as well as the handgun’s mechanical function.

      In 1990, we introduced a new caliber and model to our third generation pistol line; it was an immediate success with law enforcement agencies. This pistol,
called the Model 4006, was developed to fire a newly-designed cartridge called the .40 S&W, which we jointly developed with Winchester/ Olin. This new
caliber handgun offered law enforcement agencies a high-capacity pistol that was the same size but more powerful than the 9mm. Many law enforcement
agencies switched back to S&W handguns during the 1990’s, having previously changed from S&W’s traditional revolvers to competitive pistols, but returning
with our third generation pistols.

      Our steel frame pistols have undergone three generations of development: the first beginning in the 1950’s; the second introduced in the 1980’s; and the third
(which is still sold today) originally introduced in the 1990’s. Our popular polymer frame pistols called the “Sigma Series” were introduced in 1994 and were
followed in 1999 by the introduction of a new polymer frame pistol, the SW99, a model developed in conjunction with Carl Walther GmbH of Germany.

      The passing of the Crime Bill in 1994, restricting the sale of pistol magazines to those having only a 10-round capacity, changed the course of our sales. Our
factory saw an increased interest in our extensive line of revolvers. To stimulate these sales, we introduced a new seven shot Model 686 and a 10 shot Model 617
in January of 1996. To meet a growing demand in the .45 caliber pistol market, we introduced the Model 457 — a lightweight compact pistol chambered for the
.45 ACP cartridge.

      In the Fall of 2001, we entered into a distribution agreement with Carl Walther GmbH giving us the exclusive distribution rights in North America for the
sale of its popular P99 pistol, a polymer frame pistol which is very similar to our SW99, and its P22, a very popular pistol.
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Products

     Firearms

      Our primary business, representing approximately 76% of all sales, is the manufacture and sale of handguns. We are the second largest manufacturer of
handguns in the United States and the largest U.S. exporter of handguns. All of the S&W produced handguns are sold under the “Smith & Wesson” name.

      We manufacture high quality center fire revolvers and pistols based on forgings. We have never manufactured or sold inexpensive concealable firearms,
sometimes known as “Saturday Night Specials,” nor do we produce “assault weapons” as defined in the anti-crime legislation enacted by Congress in 1994.

      We currently offer almost 70 different standard models of handguns in a wide variety of calibers, finish, composition, ammunition capacity, barrel lengths
and other features.

      Revolvers. A revolver is a handgun with a cylinder that holds the ammunition in a series of chambers that are successively aligned with the barrel of the gun
during each firing cycle. There are two general types of revolvers: single-action and double-action. To fire a single-action revolver, the hammer is pulled back to
cock the gun and align the cylinder before the trigger is pulled. To fire a double-action revolver, a single trigger pull advances the cylinder and cocks and releases
the hammer.

      We presently manufacture 46 different models. The basic design of our revolvers has changed little since we first started selling them in the late 1800’s. Our
revolvers’ suggested retail prices vary between $500 to $1,000. One of our newest and best selling revolvers is the “J” Frame Scandium AirliteTM model
introduced in 2001.

      Revolvers accounted for approximately $33 million or approximately 43% of our total net sales for the year ended April 30, 2002. As of June 22, 2002, we
had a backlog of approximately $5.4 million. Our management believes we have the largest share of the revolver market in the United States.

      Pistols. A pistol is a handgun in which the ammunition chamber is an integral part of the barrel and which is fed ammunition from a magazine contained in
the grip. The firing cycle ejects the spent casings and loads a new round into the chamber.

      We presently manufacture approximately 22 different models. Our pistols’ suggested retail prices vary between $250 and $1,000. Historically, our best
selling model is the Model 910, 9mm. Our Sigma series and SW99 polymer frame models are also popular.

      During the Fall of 2001, we became the exclusive importer of Walther pistols and hold the production rights for the popular Walther PPK model in the United
States. As of June 22, 2002, we had a backlog of approximately $2.7 million on Walther orders. We are actively seeking to obtain a significant amount of
additional Walther pistols to meet the strong demand but there is no assurance we will be able to obtain them as the German company also must serve its
European distributors which also are experiencing strong demand for Walther pistols.

      During the Fall of 2002, we plan to introduce additional models of our SW99 and believe there will be considerable demand for these products. We are also
increasing the production rate of the very popular S&W produced PPK product. There is no assurance that demand will remain strong by the time we obtain
additional Walther products or introduce our SW99 as consumers’ preferences for those pistol styles may change.

      Our pistol sales (including sales of Walther models) accounted for approximately $19.5 million of net sales or approximately 26% of our total net sales for
the fiscal year ended April 30, 2002. As of June 22, 2002, backlog for pistols other than Walther was $5.2 million.

      Premium and Limited Edition Handguns. We have a separate department called the Performance Center which independently designs, modifies and
assembles premium and limited edition pistols and revolvers. The 24 employees in this department are all trained gunsmiths who undergo periodic peer review
and personally select new employees when needed. Products offered by this department provide high quality
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features found only in handguns produced by custom gunsmiths. For the fiscal year ended April 2002, we generated approximately $5.9 million in net sales in this
department.

      Handcuffs. We are the largest manufacturer of handcuffs and restraints in the United States which accounted for $4.3 million of net sales for the fiscal year
ended April 30, 2002.

     Firearms Related Safety Devices

      Saf-T-TriggerTM. The Saf-T-TriggerTM is an easily operated device that enables or disables the trigger without awkward add-on pieces and operational
shortcomings associated with standard firearms locking devices. It is a very small, highly engineered device, permanently and unobtrusively installed in the
trigger guard, behind the trigger. When activated by use of a special high security key, the Saf-T-TriggerTM extends and prevents the trigger from moving. To
reactivate the gun, the same key is used to retract the device into its housing. The Saf-T-TriggerTM requires no batteries and has no codes or numbers to
remember. We began marketing the Saf-T-TriggerTM in October 2000, although sales to date have been limited.

      VersaVaultTM. The VersaVaultTM is a handgun vault designed to provide more than 40 percent more capacity than any comparable product on the market. It
offers electronic and mechanical security and features an owner-programmable and user-friendly lighted keypad with four keys and more than 10,000 available
combinations.

      The vault is designed for both vertical and horizontal installation, includes a steel mounting plate, and has a tamper, low battery alert and easy access for
electronic backup and internal lighting. Its small external dimensions provide maximum space utilization and allows the VersaVaultTM to be installed nearly
anywhere. It has an internal holster that presents the firearm to the owner for maximum speed and accessibility. This holster is also removable, providing
additional storage capacity depending upon the owner’s needs. We anticipate marketing the VersaVaultTM in the Fall of 2002.

     Research and Development; Planned Product Introductions

      Our advanced products engineering department expands existing handgun product lines and creates completely new products. Presently this group is
developing an electronically fired “smart gun” capable of firing only if used by an authorized user. We have an agreement with Remington Arms Co., Inc. that
gives Remington the right to use our technology in firearms and gives us the right to use Remington’s technology in handguns. The agreement also calls for a
50/50 sharing of royalties generated from sublicensing authorized-user-only and electronic fire intellectual property owned by the two companies. Given that this
technology is still in development, no royalties have yet been generated. The agreement was entered into as of December 28, 2000 and expires when the last
S&W or Remington patent relating to this technology expires. No royalties have been paid to date as the products under development are still in the prototype
stage.

      On March 11, 2001, we announced the entry into an exclusive distribution agreement with AngioLaz, the manufacturer of Tactical Vision®, a high-end
inspection and surveillance tool. The agreement permits us to purchase the product and sell it under the name “Smith & Wesson”. We now anticipate beginning to
sell this product in the early Fall of 2002. This tool consists of a video camera mounted on a pole which allows users to safely view areas without being physically
present in those areas such as underneath cars, up or down staircases or second story locations from the ground.

      For fiscal year 2002, S&W spent approximately $1.9 million on research activities relating to the development of new products, and in fiscal 2001 S&W
spent $850,000. Of those amounts, $1.3 million and $820,000, respectively, was reimbursed to us by the National Institute of Justice based on grants received by
us for development of an electronic or “smart gun”. As of April 30, 2002, we had 6 employees engaged in research and development as part of their
responsibilities.

     SWAT: Smith & Wesson Advanced Technologies

      In May 2002, we began a concerted effort to develop, and ultimately market, sophisticated, advanced technology solutions to assist law enforcement and
justice agencies at the city, state and federal level. With

6



 

SWAT, we plan to pursue the development of strategic alliances in the private and public sectors that will leverage technology expertise with our international
distribution network. Initially, we will focus on the development of new information software and hardware products and services for use by law enforcement in
their efforts to increase public safety, security and protection. We will operate SWAT primarily out of our Scottsdale offices.

Services

     Specialty Services

      We have substantial capabilities in metal processing and finishing. Accordingly, we provide many of these services to external customers as well as meeting
the needs of our business. Our services include forging, heat treat, finishing, plating, specialized cutting tool manufacturing and regrinding plus CNC contract
manufacturing. Our ability to provide quality service coupled with our one-stop vertical integration provides our customers with an attractive alternative to
numerous other contract manufacturers. We can take a project from concept to 3-D modeling and design through final assembly. We manufacture parts for such
well-known names as Harley Davidson, Schrader-Bridgeport International Inc., HoloKrom-Danaher Company and Cleveland City Forge Inc. We also
manufacture products for other firearms manufacturers such as Remington Arms Co., Inc., and Kimber Manufacturing Inc. and provide heat treating and finishing
services for several local companies. This division was first established in 1997 and now has grown to account for approximately 10% of our total volume.

      A more detailed description of the specialty services we offer is set forth below.

      Forging. The fundamental strength of our handguns is derived from the forgings used in our products. We strive to produce near net shaped forgings,
minimizing excess material. Our skilled die makers review each customer’s special requirements, specifying the most effective die layout and determining the
most efficient size and type of forging equipment to be utilized. The die makers oversee the manufacture of the forge, trim and coin die sets from design through
first piece acceptance. Once into production, the dies are maintained on a routine basis.

      Our process capabilities run from small  1/4 lb. to larger 20 lb. parts. We can produce components with lengths of up to 15 inches, utilizing drop hammers
ranging in size from 1,500 lbs to 5,000 lbs. We also have a variety of mechanical presses for cold and hot trimming. Our forging capabilities give us the ability to
forge products from carbon, stainless and alloy steel as well as aluminum, brass and copper.

      Computer Numeric Controlled (“CNC”) Manufacturing. From part concept to CAD design on through to the development of CAM or hard programming,
S&W can create solid model graphics, fully dimensioned blueprints and sample parts for customer approval. Utilizing a state of the art Unigraphics workstation
and trained engineering staff, we can help customers develop the programming, fixturing and tooling needed to process components in a reliable manner.

      S&W’s manufacturing capabilities include a vast array of both horizontal and vertical CNC machining centers as well as precision CNC turning machines.
Although we specialize in medium to large runs in materials such as aluminum, carbon steel and stainless steel, other materials and small production runs can also
be evaluated if requested.

      Standard processes include drilling, tapping and surface grinding along with a limited range of outside diameter grinding capabilities. Utilizing coordinate
measuring machines for accurate gauging, S&W can ensure part quality in all facets of the process. S&W offers high precision EDM wire cutting as well as jig
grinding capabilities for close tolerance requirements.

      Heat Treat. S&W handguns are well known for their durability and dependability. The controlled processes required to improve and enhance the physical
properties of components are performed in our “state of the art” heat treat area. Each process is electronically controlled to ensure that customers’ specific
requirements are met. The equipment allows a wide variety of processes to be performed while minimizing distortion.
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      S&W also offers a variety of controlled quenching atmosphere processes such as: oil; vacuum; water; nitrogen; and salt.

      Our in-process inspection area is able to verify hardness requirements but more critical parameters, such as superficial hardness testing and tensile testing,
can be verified by our in-house metallurgical lab.

      Plating & Finishing. We are recognized by many for the deep, rich blue of our handguns. In addition to world class metal plating capabilities, S&W offers a
variety of metal finishing processing ranging from polishing, buffing, and sandblasting to isotropic vibratory finishing of a variety of base metals.

      S&W’s processes are adaptable to batch, barrel or tumbling and racking methods of component handling. We can process parts up to 60 inches in length.

      S&W’s plating/finishing capabilities include: black oxide; passivate for stainless steel; anodized aluminum (offering clear, black and various colors);
electrolytic nickel for steel, aluminum, brass or copper; barrel nickel; electroless nickel; chemical brightening; stripping; zinc phosphate; chromate conversion
coatings; ultrasonic cleaning; vibratory finishing (processes specializing in elimination of manual polishing requirements).

      Cutter Tool Manufacturing & Regrinding. S&W can manufacture and regrind a variety of cutter types and sizes from  1/4 inch in diameter shank type to
6 inch diameter by 12 inch long hole type cutters. We can complete special order manufacturing in any sized lot in high speed steel and carbide.

      S&W is capable of original manufacture and regrinding various carbide tipped type cutters. We can re-sharpen specialty drills by manufacturers such as
Guhring, Mitsubishi and Hertel. We are also factory certified to re-sharpen Titex specialty drills.

Marketing, Sales and Distribution

      We market our products primarily through in-store promotions at retail stores, vertical print advertising in magazines such as Guns and Ammo, Shooting
Times, American Handgunner, Outdoor Life, and Field and Stream and sponsorship of various shooting events carried on selective cable television channels. We
print various catalogs displaying S&W products, which are distributed to our dealers. Other than non-gun products and handguns sold through our retail stores,
we have little direct contact with our customers. Our catalog is not distributed to customers directly.

      We also sponsor various trade shows such as the Shot Show, the NRA Show, the International Association of Chiefs of Police Show, the IWA Show held in
Europe, and various buying group shows.

      Our media advertising budget is approximately $1 million per year. We have a cooperative advertising program at our dealer level.

      We have both a direct and indirect commissioned sales force. Distribution is primarily handled by commercial and law enforcement distributors. As of
April 30, 2002, we had 27 commercial distributors and approximately 37 law enforcement distributors. Our largest commercial distributor is RSR Wholesale
Distributors which distributes approximately 15% of all handgun sales. We also heavily rely on Sports South (8% of handgun sales) and Lew Horton Distributing
Company (6% of handgun sales) for our distribution. We employ 16 direct sales people and 3 independent contract agencies who service distributors, dealers and
law enforcement agencies. As our ultimate customer is not the distributor, while we may experience a short term downturn in business as a result of the loss of a
distributor, we believe it would be eventually replaced by others to meet customer demand.

      We also sell a significant amount of firearms directly to law enforcement agencies. Our overseas sales are primarily made through distributors who in turn
sell to retail stores and government agencies.

      Since 1996, we have used our website, www.smith-wesson.com, to market our products and services and provide a source of information to our customers,
consumers, dealers, distributors and law enforcement agencies worldwide. Presently, we are exploring ways to further upgrade our websites to provide additional
products and services to our customer base.
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Service and Support

      We operate a toll free customer service number from 8:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. Eastern Standard Time to answer questions and resolve issues regarding any of
our products. In addition, in 1992, we began offering a limited lifetime warranty program whereby we will repair defects in material or workmanship in firearms
products without charge for as long as the original purchaser owns the handgun. We also maintain a number of authorized warranty centers throughout the world
and provide both warranty and charged repair services at our Springfield, Massachusetts facility.

Retail Stores/ Retail Products

      We operate four retail stores (including a commercial shooting range at our Springfield location) in Springfield, Massachusetts; Myrtle Beach, South
Carolina; Pigeon Forge, Tennessee; and Branson, Missouri. Our stores sell our licensed accessories, branded products, apparel and handguns. We also take orders
for our licensed accessories, branded products and apparel via the internet and telephone.

      We have recently relocated the management which supervises our retail stores and products from our Springfield subsidiary to our headquarters in Scottsdale
to combine the management of those activities with a more aggressive approach to branding and licensing activities. We would like to make the distribution of
our retail products more successful through a combination of the following: reevaluating the locations of our retail operations, expanding our branded product
offerings, further improving our website and internet ordering system, and redesigning our accessories catalog to make it suitable for a direct mail solicitation to
our frequent customers.

Manufacturing

      We have two manufacturing facilities: a 530,323 square foot facility located in Springfield, Massachusetts and a 38,115 square foot facility located in
Houlton, Maine. Most of our firearms manufacturing and all of our specialty services activities are completed at our Springfield, Massachusetts facility. Our
Houlton, Maine, facility is used for the production of .22 caliber pistols, the Walther PPK, handcuffs and other restraint devices. Both of our facilities are
ISO 9001 certified. Although we manufacture all major components for our revolvers and pistols, we obtain certain parts, mainly magazines and smaller parts,
from third parties. Our major suppliers include Carpenter Steel for raw steel, Pioneer Tool for cutting tools, Tri-Town Precision Plastics for polymer components,
and Advanced Forming Technology and Parmatech for metal-injected-molded components. The costs of these materials are at competitive rates and could be
obtained from other suppliers if necessary. All assembly, inspection and testing of handguns manufactured by us are performed at the manufacturing facilities and
each handgun is test fired before shipment.

      Beginning in the late 1980’s and continuing through the early 1990’s, we automated our Springfield manufacturing facility spending approximately
$60 million to modernize the plant. For example, today, all of our major handgun components are cut by computer-assisted machines and we deploy sophisticated
automated testing equipment to assist our skilled employees to ensure the proper functioning of our handguns. Even though the manufacture of revolvers and
pistols is much more automated than it was ten years ago, we still must rely on a highly skilled workforce to assemble the components which are required in each
of our pistols and revolvers and to oversee and operate our computer-assisted machinery.

      As of July 1, 2002, the Company had a 40 hour work-week capacity of producing approximately 550 revolvers and 270 pistols per day. Our management
believes that we are currently near this production capacity for our revolvers and pistols. We seek to maintain a just in time inventory system and rarely have
problems selling all of our inventory even when demand is at historical lows. Historically, we have generally filled our orders within 30 days. As of June 22,
2002, we had a combined backlog of revolver and pistol orders totaling approximately $13.3 million.

      We have a strong track record of manufacturing very high quality revolvers with only a limited amount of recalls. From time to time in the past, we have
experienced some manufacturing issues with respect to some of
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our pistols and have had recalls of pistols. Our most recent recalls, both of which were voluntary, occurred in 1992, for pistols, and in 1987, for revolvers.

      Our Performance Center has a separate self-contained facility which it uses to manufacture and design premium pistols and revolvers after receiving a basic
forged pistol or revolver stock from our main manufacturing facility. This rapidly growing sector of our business is at maximum capacity and had a backlog of
approximately $1.7 million as of June 22, 2002.

      We contract with a company based in Hong Kong for the manufacture of our safety lock products and our gun vaults. We plan to introduce our gun vaults to
the market in the late Fall of 2002.

Licenses

      We license our Smith & Wesson trademarks to approximately 25 different companies which manufacture and market products complimenting our core
products line. Our licensees are located throughout the world. Of the current licensees as of June 22, 2002, the ones below generate the largest royalties:

 • Taylor Cutlery — Covers cutlery and gift sets
 
 • Gutmann Cutlery, Inc. — Covers tools, shovels, gunsmithing tools, bookends, compasses, flasks and canteens, binoculars and other optical equipment
 
 • Olympic Optical Co. — Covers sunglasses, shooting glasses, hearing protection, and safety eyewear

      Effective January 1, 2003, the license agreement with Gutmann will be amended to permit us to market our own proprietary optical products and terminate
the license of all optical products with Gutmann.

      We also sell products carrying the Smith & Wesson name in connection with four retail stores selling a wide variety of consumer products located in
Springfield, Massachusetts; Branson, Missouri; Pigeon Forge, Tennessee; and Myrtle Beach, South Carolina.

      We intend to expand our licensing to build greater awareness of the 150 year old “Smith & Wesson” name and capitalize on the goodwill developed through
our historic American tradition by expanding consumer purchases of ancillary products. We have reorganized our licensing activities to be directed out of our
Scottsdale headquarters and expanded our licensing personnel and focus to maximize our licensing opportunities. Presently, we are in the midst of ongoing
discussions with various consultants to provide us with added distribution channels, products and markets for our licensed goods and branded products.

      We recently terminated our license with International Licensing Corporation, a license for certain security products. We have yet to determine whether we
will continue to license security products.

      Our licensing activity offers us both enhanced advertising and goodwill. While our annual royalty revenues are only approximately $1.0 to $1.3 million, and
constitute less than 2% of our annual net sales, the profitability is higher than any other sector of our business.

Patents and Trademarks

      We own numerous patents related to our revolvers, pistols and related products which secure protection both in the United States and abroad. Many of our
patents have expired as some of our original patents were filed over eighty years ago. Our policy is to apply for patents and trademarks whenever new products or
processes deemed commercially viable are developed by us. Historically, we have focused on applying primarily for utility patents but management now is
focusing also on applying for design patents when it believes that a particular firearms design has merit worth protecting. Most recently, we have sought patent
protection for our new electronic, “smart-gun” which is still under research and joint development with Remington Arms Co., Inc. Over 20 patents have been
filed on behalf of S&W related to this technology. We also filed twelve patents to protect our polymer pistol and we have filed patents to protect production of
revolvers manufactured out of titanium and scandium. Management believes that none of our patents is so critical to our business that a violation of them would
cause material adverse harm to us. It is difficult to
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enforce some of our patent filings overseas, however, we are increasingly seeking to find better means of enforcing our patents for us.

      Trademarks and copyrights are important to our handgun business and licensing activities as well. We have an active global program of trademark
registration and enforcement. We believe that our SMITH & WESSON trademark and our S&W MONOGRAM registered in 1913-1914, and the derivatives
thereof are known and recognized by the public world-wide and are very valuable assets. With the return of our company to American ownership we have a
renewed emphasis on strengthening our product branding and realize that the goodwill developed by the use of our name for approximately 150 years is helpful to
leverage our reputation and image among the general public. Many of the products we sell derive higher margins as a result of our brand name.

      In addition to our name and derivations thereof, we have numerous other trademarks, service marks, and logos registered both in the United States and
abroad. Many of our products are introduced to the market with a particular brand name associated with them. Sometimes, we collaborate with other companies
(in particular to develop ammunition suitable for a newly-introduced revolver or pistol) and pursue a co-branding strategy. Some of our better known either
pending or registered trademarks and service marks include:

 • “AIRLITE”, “HERITAGE SERIES”, “THE SIGMA SERIES”, “CHIEFS SPECIAL”, “SHORTY”, “LADY SMITH”, “BODYGUARD”, “MOUNTAIN
GUN”, and “MOUNTAIN LITE” (each used to denote a particular gun design or series of designs);

 
 • “MAGNUM” (used not only for revolvers but a whole line of brand products);
 
 • “IDENTI-KIT” (used to refer to our proprietary software capable of generating facial images for identification by law enforcement agencies);
 
 • “S&W PERFORMANCE CENTER” (our custom gunsmith service center and used in connection with products produced by it);
 
 • “SMITH & WESSON ACADEMY” (refers to our training center); and
 
 • “SAF-T-TRIGGER”, “SAF-T-HAMMER”, “VERSAVAULT”, and “MAXIMUM SECURITY CABLE LOCK” (each used to denote a particular safety

device).

      We intend to vigorously enforce all violations of our trademarks, copyrights and service marks as we believe the goodwill associated with them is a
cornerstone of our branding and licensing strategy.

      All trademarks and trade names used in this report are the property of their respective owners.

Competition

     Firearms

      The firearms industry, in general, is dominated by a small number of companies that are well known to the public. Competition comes from both domestic
and foreign manufacturers and is quite strong. Some competitors manufacture both revolvers and pistols while the majority manufactures only pistols. We believe
we are the largest U.S. manufacturer of revolvers, the largest U.S. exporter of revolvers and pistols, and the fourth largest manufacturer of pistols. Our primary
competitors in the revolver market are Ruger and Taurus, and in the pistol market are Ruger, Glock, Sig Sauer, and Beretta.

      Because we utilize forgings in all of our pistols and revolvers (except .22 caliber rim-fired pistols), we have a higher cost structure than those of our
competitors which use a casting process. We believe that the forged process produces a higher quality, longer lasting product, however, competitors are able to
offer lower retail prices on their cast products. Some of our foreign competitors have lower cost structures. But, we believe we can compete effectively based
upon our quality, reliability, performance and service. Our customer service organization is pro-active in offering timely responses to customer inquiries.
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     Handcuffs

      We are also the largest manufacturer of handcuffs and restraints in the United States. Because the foreign marketplace is extremely competitive and many
foreign companies operate with significant labor costs advantages, over 90% of our handcuff business is in the United States. The only other major manufacturer
with significant market share in the United States which directly competes with us is Peerless.

     Specialty Services

      Our special products division does not manufacture patented or proprietary products nor does it rely on the brand name of “Smith & Wesson” to compete for
customers. It has hundreds of competitors primarily in the Northeast region, many of whom can offer “contract manufacturing” services at prices at or below ours.
Management believes that the modern and extensive metal working expertise and long-standing reputation for quality and service are the primary competitive
advantages available to us in this lower margin business. Any failure by us to maintain the current standard of performance could have a material adverse effect
on this business.

     Licensed Products

      Our licensed products and non-gun products displayed in our catalogs or sold by our distributors compete solely on the goodwill associated with our name. A
decline in the perceived quality of our handguns or other event adversely affecting our goodwill could significantly damage our ability to license or sell those
products at the margins available to us today.

     Firearms Related Safety Devices

      Many companies offer firearm safety and security options to the market. Some are well known companies like Master Lock, but most are smaller companies.
The solutions offered range from products to be added to the firearms to large safes weighing hundreds of pounds. The Saf-T-TriggerTM is a nearly universal
product that can be added as an unobtrusive integral feature of the firearm either during the manufacturing process or as an aftermarket addition. The possibility
exists that products of this type may become a legislative requirement in some jurisdictions.

Customers

     Firearms

      Our ultimate customers include sportsmen, hunters, collectors, law enforcement and other governmental organizations. Approximately 15% of our handguns
are sold to law enforcement agencies, approximately 20% are sold internationally, and the remaining approximately 65% are sold through the highly regulated
distribution channel to consumers. We continue to focus on expanding the commercial general public handgun market.

     Specialty Services

      With respect to our Specialty Services division, our customers include other firearm manufacturers, automotive and aerospace companies, all types of
manufacturing companies and sporting goods businesses. Sales are made directly to our customers or through manufacturer representatives.

     Firearms Related Safety Devices

      Potential customers for the Saf-T-Trigger™ include: firearms manufacturers who may wish to include an integral security device on their products,
consumers who wish to add an additional security device to their firearms, and law enforcement agencies who wish to provide an additional level of security for
off-duty weapons. We currently offer this option on several of our models. Consumers may have the product added by a certified installer or by us directly. We
anticipate that our handgun vaults will ultimately be purchased by gun owners and other customers interested in small, high quality vaults.
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Governmental Regulations

      We are regulated by the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms (ATF) which licenses the manufacture and sale of firearms. ATF conducts periodic audits
of our facility. The U.S. State Department oversees the export of firearms and assures proper permitting by overseas governments. We do not sell firearms to
those not approved by the State Department, which list is updated on a regular basis and must obtain an export permit for all international shipments.

      There are also various state and local regulations relating to firearm design and distribution. In Massachusetts, for example, there are regulations related to
the strength of the trigger pull, barrel length, and the makeup of the material of the gun. California has the same regulations, but also requires that each weapon be
sampled by an independent lab in California before shipping. Warning labels related to operation of the handgun are contained in all boxes in which the weapons
are shipped. With respect to state and local regulations, the local gun dealer is required to comply with those laws and we seek to manufacture weapons
complying with those specifications.

      On March 17, 2002, the United Sates Department of the Treasury, the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”), and S&W
signed an agreement that was subsequently signed by two states and eleven cities and counties. The agreement imposed various terms and conditions related to
the design, manufacture, marketing and distribution of S&W’s handguns. Among other terms, the agreement provided that any city or county that was a party to
the agreement and had a lawsuit pending against S&W would dismiss S&W with prejudice from its lawsuit subject to a consent order. The Company believes that
the agreement is not legally binding for numerous reasons. The Company has received informal confirmation that HUD will not seek to enforce the agreement.
Additionally, as of March 17, 2000, lawsuits had been filed against S&W by nine of the eleven cities and counties that signed the agreement. None of those nine
cities and counties has dismissed S&W with prejudice from its lawsuit subject to a consent order under the agreement. No assurance can be given, however, that
the Company’s position that this agreement is not legally binding would ultimately prevail in any subsequent litigation on this issue. If ultimately required to
comply with the agreement, it could have a deleterious impact on our handgun sales particularly because none of our competitors are bound by similar
agreements.

Environmental

      We are subject to numerous federal, state and local laws which regulate or otherwise relate to the protection of the environment, including those governing
pollutant discharges into the air and water, managing and disposing of hazardous substances, and cleaning up contaminated sites. Some of S&W’s operations
require permits and environmental controls to prevent or reduce air and water pollution, and these permits are subject to modification, renewal, and revocation by
issuing authorities.

      Environmental laws and regulations generally have become stricter in recent years, and the cost to comply with new laws may be greater than management
currently estimates. Several of the more significant federal laws applicable to the Company’s operations include the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (“CERCLA”) and the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”). CERCLA and RCRA, and related state laws, can impose liability for the entire cost of cleaning up contaminated sites
upon any of the current and former site owners or operators or parties who sent waste to these sites, regardless of location, fault or the lawfulness of the original
disposal activity.

      In our efforts to satisfy our environmental responsibilities and to comply with environmental laws and regulations, we have established, and periodically
update, policies relating to the environmental standards of performance for its operations. We have programs in place that monitor compliance with various
environmental regulations. However, in the normal course of our manufacturing operations, we may be subject to occasional governmental proceedings and
orders pertaining to waste disposal, air emissions, and water discharges into the environment. We believe that we are in substantial compliance with material
environmental laws, regulations, and permits. We regularly incur substantial capital and operating costs to comply with environmental laws, including
remediation of known environmental conditions at S&W’s main plant in
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Springfield, Massachusetts. We expect to spend approximately $600,000 in the fiscal year ended April 30, 2003 on environmental compliance.

      We may become involved in various proceedings relating to environmental matters and we are currently engaged in environmental investigation or
remediation at certain sites. S&W’s manufacturing facilities are located on properties with a long history of industrial use, including the use of hazardous
substances. S&W has identified soil and groundwater contamination at its Springfield plant, which it is currently investigating, monitoring, or remediating.

      The 135 acre Springfield property on which S&W’s manufacturing facilities are located has known environmental liabilities related to past operating
practices. S&W has listed the property with the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) under the voluntary remediation program referred
to as the Massachusetts Contingency Plan (MCP), 310 CMR 40.000 (Site Number 1-0202). Environmental investigations on the property began in 1983,
culminating with the completion of a Phase I — Limited Site Investigation (August 1995), Phase II Comprehensive Site Assessment (January 1999), Phase III
Remedial Action Plan (January 1999) and Phase IV Remedy Investigation (February 2000). The MCP Site is divided into five separate release areas which are
known as follows: Wildcat, Tank No. 1, the Fire Pond, the South Field, and the West Field. Wetland areas exist in the South Field, West Field, and Fire Pond areas
of the Site.

      We have provided reserves for remedial investigation and cleanup activities that we have determined to be both probable and reasonably estimable. As of
April 30, 2002, we have reserves of $4.1 million for environmental matters. Management does not expect that the liability with respect to such investigation and
remediation activities will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s liquidity and financial condition. However, we cannot be sure that we have identified
all existing environmental issues on our properties or that our operations will not cause environmental issues in the future. As a result, we could incur additional
material costs to address cleanup environmental issues.

Employees; Labor Relations

      As of May 31, 2002, the Company had approximately 682 full–time employees, of which approximately 455 were paid an hourly wage. No employee of the
Company is represented by a labor union or is subject to a collective bargaining agreement. We have approximately 75% of our employees with ten or more years
of service with our Company and 46% with greater than twenty-five years of service. The Company believes that its employee relations are good.

Inflation

      We do not anticipate that inflation will have any material adverse effect on our sales and we believe we could increase selling prices to offset any cost
increases.

Item 2.     Properties

      The Company leases a 5,000 square foot office facility in Scottsdale, Arizona to house its corporate headquarters. The lease on this facility expires in May
2005. The assets owned by S&W include two manufacturing facilities. The main facility is an approximately 530,323 square foot plant located in Springfield,
Massachusetts. The other facility is an approximately 38,115 square foot plant in Houlton, Maine. The Houlton facility primarily manufacturers handcuffs,
restraints, ..22 caliber pistols and the Walther PPK, while the Springfield facility primarily manufactures pistols and revolvers. Each of the S&W manufacturing
facilities are owned outright by S&W with no liens, mortgages or encumbrances and management believes that each has adequate insurance and is in good
condition and capable of producing products at historic rates of production. In addition, S&W owns a 56,869 square foot facility in Springfield that it uses to
operate the Smith & Wesson Academy, a state-accredited firearms training institution, a public shooting facility, and a retail store.
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      S&W also leases a 2,500 square foot retail space in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina, a 3,900 square foot retail space in Pigeon Forge, Tennessee, and a
3,000 square foot retail space in Branson, Missouri. These retail space leases expire in May 2004, October 2002 and February 2003, respectively.

      The Company’s management believes that all facilities occupied by the Company are adequate for present requirements, and that the Company’s current
equipment is in good condition and is suitable for the operations involved.

Item 3.     Legal Proceedings

      Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation may from time to time be involved in various claims and lawsuits incidental to the operation of its business. Smith &
Wesson Holding Corporation is not currently involved in any such litigation that it believes could have a materially adverse effect on its financial condition or
results of operations. However, Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation’s wholly-owned subsidiary as of May 11, 2001, Smith & Wesson Corp. (“S&W”), is
involved in numerous lawsuits that could materially adversely affect S&W and, therefore, materially adversely affect Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation’s
results of operations on a consolidated basis.

      In addition to certain other pending litigation to which S&W is a party, S&W is currently a defendant in approximately 19 lawsuits involving its products and
is aware of certain other such claims. These lawsuits and claims primarily fall into two categories:

       (i) those that claim damages from S&W related to allegedly defective product design which stem from a specific incident. These lawsuits and claims are
based principally on the theory of “strict liability” but also may be based on negligence, breach of warranty, and other legal theories, and

 
       (ii) those brought by cities, municipalities, counties and individuals (including certain putative class actions) against numerous firearms manufacturers,

distributors and dealers seeking to recover damages allegedly arising out of the misuse of firearms by third parties in the commission of homicides, suicides
and other shootings involving juveniles and adults. The complaints by municipalities seek damages, among other things, for the costs of medical care, police
and emergency services, public health services, and the maintenance of courts, prisons, and other services. In certain instances, the plaintiffs seek to recover
for decreases in property values and loss of business within the city due to criminal violence. In addition, nuisance abatement and/or injunctive relief is
sought to change the design, manufacture, marketing and distribution practices of various defendants. These suits allege, among other claims, strict liability
or negligence in the design of products, public nuisance, negligent entrustment, negligent distribution, deceptive or fraudulent advertising, violation of
consumer protection statutes and conspiracy or concert of action theories.

      Punitive damages, as well as compensatory damages, are demanded in many of the lawsuits and claims. Aggregate claims amounts presently exceed product
liability accruals and, if applicable, insurance coverage. Management believes that, in every case, the allegations are unfounded, and that the shootings and any
results therefrom were due to negligence or misuse of the firearms by third parties or the claimant, and that there should be no recovery against S&W. Defenses
further exist to the suits brought by cities, municipalities and counties based, among other reasons, on established state law precluding recovery by municipalities
for essential government services, the remoteness of the claims, the types of damages sought to be recovered, and limitations on the extraterritorial authority
which may be exerted by a city, municipality, county or state under state and federal law, including state and federal Constitutions.

      The Company’s management monitors the status of known claims and the product liability accrual, which includes amounts for asserted and unasserted
claims. While it is difficult to forecast the outcome of these claims, in the opinion of management, after consultation with its litigation counsel, it is uncertain
whether the outcome of these claims will have a material adverse effect on the results of operations or financial condition of the Company, as management
believes that it has provided adequate reserves and insurance in place.
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      The only case against S&W alleging liability for criminal shootings by third parties to ever be permitted to go before a jury, Hamilton, et. al. v. Accu-tek,
et. al., resulted in a defense verdict in favor of S&W on February 11, 1999. In that case, numerous firearms manufacturers and distributors had been sued, alleging
damages as a result of alleged negligent sales practices and “industry-wide” liability. S&W and its marketing and distribution practices were exonerated from any
claims of negligence in each of the seven cases decided by the jury. The Court upheld the verdict of the jury and dismissed each case as to S&W in its later
opinion. The three defendants found liable filed a notice of appeal from the Court’s decision. On August 16, 2000, the U.S. 2nd Circuit Court of Appeals certified
certain questions involving the appeal to the New York Court of Appeals for resolution. Oral argument on those certified questions was heard in the New York
appellate division on February 8, 2001. On April 26, 2001, the New York Court of Appeals responded to the U.S. 2nd Circuit Court of Appeals’ certified
questions. The questions involved whether firearms manufacturers have a legal duty to prevent criminal misuses of their lawfully-sold products and whether any
liability of the firearms manufacturers should be apportioned by a market share theory. The New York Court of Appeals answered both questions in the negative.
On August 30, 2001, the United States Court of Appeals for the 2nd Circuit vacated and remanded the case with instructions for the trial court to enter a final
judgment of dismissal. The trial court finally dismissed the case on its merits on September 17, 2001.

      No new cases were instituted against the Company during the three months ended April 30, 2002. The following describes material updates to or resolution
of cases previously reported by the Company:

Cases Dismissed Or Resolved

      The following previously reported cases have been finally adjudicated in favor of S&W:

 • Mayor Joseph P. Ganim v. Smith & Wesson Corp., et al. (trial court’s decision granting defendants’ motion to dismiss affirmed by the Connecticut Supreme
Court);

 
 • Alex Penelas, Mayor of Miami-Dade County v. Arms Technology, Inc., et al. (dismissal affirmed by the Florida Court of Appeals, review denied by the

Florida Supreme Court);
 
 • Camden County Board of Freeholders v. Beretta U.S.A. Corp., et al. (dismissal affirmed by the Third Circuit Court of Appeals, petition for rehearing and

request for certification to the New Jersey Supreme Court denied);
 
 • City of Philadelphia, et al. v. Beretta U.S.A. Corp., et al. (dismissal affirmed by the Third Circuit Court of Appeals);
 
 • City of Atlanta v. Smith & Wesson, et al. (dismissed by the Georgia Court of Appeals on the issue of preemption based on previously passed legislation);
 
 • Mayor Marc H. Morial and the City of New Orleans v. Smith & Wesson Corp., et al. (the Louisiana Supreme Court found legislation passed to prohibit

such suits constitutional and dismissed the case; the United States Supreme Court denied plaintiffs’ petition for a writ of certiorari);
 
 • City of Boston, the Boston Public Health Commission v. Smith & Wesson Corp., et al. (the parties rescinded their settlement agreement; the Superior Court

in Massachusetts entered an order vacating a consent decree previously entered into between plaintiffs and S&W, and dismissed plaintiffs’ claims against
S&W with prejudice);

 
 • Iris Prosper, Guardian Ad Litem of Erica Prosper, Yessenia Prosper and April Prosper, infants, and Iris Prosper, Individually v. Accu-tek et al. (plaintiffs

voluntarily dismissed S&W as a defendant in their case before the United States District Court, Eastern District of New York);
 
 • Patrick M. Mahoney, et al. v. Beretta USA Corp., et al., (case dismissed without prejudice by the Superior Court for the District of Columbia);
 
 • Kim Ricchueto, Administratrix of the Estate of Raymond M. Ricchueto, Deceased v. Beretta U.S.A. Corp. et al. (the Supreme Court for the State of New

York, County of Monroe approved the stipulation dismissing the case);
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 • Gladys Gerena, Administratrix of the Estate of Shawn Johnson, Deceased, and Individually; Kenneth McLaughlin, III v. Accu-tek et al. (the United States
District Court for the Eastern District of New York approved the stipulation by the McLaughlin plaintiffs dismissing S&W without prejudice; the Court
dismissed the remainder of the case and rejected plaintiffs’ motion to join the individual damages claims of Gerena and McLaughlin with the NAACP case
described herein);

 
 • Monalisa Harris, Administratrix and Individually v. American Arms., et al. (dismissed by the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New

York);
 
 • George Jureidini v. Smith & Wesson Corp., et al. (the Civil Court of First Instance Commercial Dispute Division, Beirut, Lebanon found in favor of S&W;

plaintiff’s period for appeal expired with no appeal having been filed with the Lebanese High Court).

      The following previously reported cases have been settled:

 • Jeffrey Maxwell v. Smith & Wesson Corp., et al., in the Court of Common Pleas of Franklin County, Ohio;
 
 • Christopher M. Myers v. Smith & Wesson Corp., et al., in the District Court of Worth County, Iowa;
 
 • Anya Sobodinska and Simon G. Kublanov v. Smith & Wesson Corp., et al., in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York;
 
 • Lisa Gjelaj v. Smith & Wesson Academy, et al., before the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Commission Against Discrimination;
 
 • Diamond Products Marketing, Inc. v. Walther USA, a joint venture with Smith & Wesson Corp., in the United States District Court for the Middle District

of Florida, Orlando Division.

      All settlement amounts were within S&W’s limits of self-insurance coverage.

Cases On Appeal

      The rulings in the following cases are still subject to certain pending appeals:

      In the City of Chicago and County of Cook v. Beretta U.S.A. Corp., et al., in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois, the Court dismissed the case on
September 15, 2000. The plaintiffs filed an appeal of the dismissal, which was argued on December 12, 2001, and is pending before the Illinois Court of Appeals.

      In the City of Gary, Indiana, by its Mayor, Scott L. King v. Smith & Wesson Corp., et al., in Lake Superior Court, Indiana, the Court dismissed all claims
against S&W on January 11, 2001. Although the plaintiffs subsequently filed an amended complaint, the Court also dismissed the amended complaint on
March 13, 2001. The plaintiffs have filed an appeal, which was argued on May 22, 2002, and is pending before the Indiana Court of Appeals.

      In the Denni W. Archer, Mayor of the City of Detroit, et al. v. Arms Technology, Inc., et al., in the Circuit Court for the County of Wayne in Michigan, the
Court granted defendants’ motion to dismiss on the issue of negligence but denied their motion on the issue of public nuisance. Following the Court’s decision,
the Michigan legislature passed Act 265 precluding such suits. On July 31, 2000, defendants filed a motion for summary disposition based on Act 265, which was
later denied by the Court. On June 6, 2001, the Michigan Court of Appeals granted defendants’ applications to appeal on both the public nuisance and the firearm
statute issues. The motion is pending before the Michigan Court of Appeals. This case has been consolidated with the McNamara case described herein for
purposes of discovery and appeal only.

      Edward H. McNamara, Wayne County Executive, et al. v. Arms Technology, Inc., et al., in the Circuit Court for the County of Wayne in Michigan. The
complaint, which was filed on April 26, 1999, alleges that firearms manufacturers, distributors, and dealers are negligent and have created a public nuisance
allegedly by making firearms easily available to juveniles, criminals, and other unauthorized firearms users. Compensatory damages in excess of $200 million
and exemplary damages in excess of $200 million allocated against each defendant are demanded as well as equitable relief. The Court granted defendants’
motion to dismiss on the
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issue of negligence, but denied their motion on the issue of public nuisance. This case has been consolidated with the City of Detroit case described herein for
purposes of discovery and appeal only. (See Detroit case above.)

      In the Mayor James Sharpe, and the City of Newark, New Jersey v. Arcadia Machine & Tool, et al., in the Superior Court of New Jersey in Essex County,
New Jersey, the Court issued an opinion granting defendants’ motion to dismiss as to plaintiffs’ product liability and unjust enrichment claims and denying the
motion as to plaintiffs’ negligent marketing and distribution, negligence, public nuisance and damages claims. On February 4, 2002, defendants filed an
application for interlocutory appeal of the court’s decision on their motion to dismiss. On February 28, 2002, the Court of Appeals granted defendants’ motion for
interlocutory appeal. The case is stayed pending appeal.

      Anthony Ceriale, Special Administrator of the Estate of Michael Ceriale, Deceased v. Smith & Wesson Corp., et al., in the Circuit Court of Cook County,
Illinois. The complaint alleges that Chicago Police Officer Michael Ceriale was shot with a handgun by a gang member while conducting narcotics surveillance.
The complaint, brought as a putative class action against a number of manufacturers and distributors, alleges that firearms manufacturers have created a public
nuisance resulting in illegal possession and use by unauthorized persons. Damages plus other costs and fees are demanded. On December 31, 2001, the Illinois
Court of Appeals issued an opinion dismissing all claims except for public nuisance as to those defendants who manufactured or sold the firearms used in the
Ceriale shooting (S&W and Chuck’s Gun Shop). On March 18, 2002, S&W’s petition for rehearing was denied. On April 19, 2002, defendants S&W and Bryco
filed petitions for leave to appeal to the Illinois Supreme Court. This case has been consolidated with the Smith and Young cases described herein for purposes of
appeal only.

      Obrellia Smith, Administratrix of the Estate of Salada Smith, Deceased, individually and on behalf of a class of similarly situated persons v. Navegar, Inc.
et al., in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois. The complaint alleges that the plaintiff’s decedent was murdered with a handgun by a gang member. The
complaint also alleges that firearms manufacturers have created a “public nuisance” by intentionally supplying handguns to the underground market for use by
gang members and juveniles. Damages plus fees and costs to be determined by the Court are demanded. On December 31, 2001, the Illinois Court of Appeals
issued an opinion dismissing all claims except for public nuisance as to the defendant who manufactured or sold the firearms used in the Smith shooting
(Navegar). This case has been consolidated with the Ceriale and Young cases described herein for purposes of appeal only. (See Ceriale above.)

      Stephen Young, Special Administrator of the Estate of Andrew Young, individually and on behalf of a class of similarly situated persons v. Bryco Arms,
et al., in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois. The complaint alleges that a juvenile gang member with a handgun killed the plaintiff’s decedent. The
complaint also alleges that firearms manufacturers have created a “public nuisance” by “oversupplying” the handgun market resulting in illegal possession and
use by gang members and juveniles. Damages plus fees and costs to be determined by the Court are demanded. On December 31, 2001, the Illinois Court of
Appeals issued an opinion dismissing all claims except for public nuisance as to those defendants who manufactured or sold the firearms used in the Young
shooting (Bryco, and Breit & Johnson). This case has been consolidated with the Ceriale and Smith cases described herein for purposes of appeal only. (See
Ceriale above.)

      Peter Edward Fudali v. Smith & Wesson Corp., et. al., in the Frederick County Court in Maryland. The complaint was filed on March 4, 1999 and stems from
an incident that occurred on March 8, 1996. The complaint alleges that a Smith & Wesson revolver discharged unexpectedly while plaintiff was preparing to
shoot the revolver in his neighbor’s backyard, causing fragments of metal and burning gun powder to strike him in the forehead and eye. The complaint asserts
claims for negligence and strict liability and seeks damages plus other costs and fees. The court has entered an order granting summary judgment in favor of
S&W; however, S&W is waiting for the Court’s ruling on certification of the dismissal as a final order.

      Jamaal Anwar K. Wright v. Smith & Wesson Corp., et al., in the Madison County Circuit Court in Indiana. The complaint was filed on May 28, 1999. It
alleges that while Wright was at a graduation party on October 30, 1997 he was shot by Shantrelle Leon Patterson using a Smith & Wesson semi-automatic pistol.
The plaintiff has alleged that S&W knew or should have known that the pistol would be used by Patterson to
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injure the plaintiff and that S&W negligently produced and manufactured a product that was capable of being used to kill and injure people. The complaint seeks
damages for injuries allegedly suffered by Wright. The Court has entered an order dismissing all claims against S&W with prejudice. This order is not yet final
and counsel representing S&W expects a certification petition to be presented.

Pending Cases

      The following describes the status or material updates to pending cases previously reported by the Company:

      The People of the State of California, by and through attorneys for the cities of Los Angeles, Compton, Inglewood, and West Hollywood, et al. v. Arcadia
Machine & Tool, et al.; People of the State of California ex. rel. the County of Los Angeles, et al. v. Arcadia Machine Tool, et al.; and the City of San Francisco,
et al. v. Arcadia Machine & Tool, Inc. et al., have all been consolidated as JCCP 4095 in the Superior Court of San Diego County. Defendants’ demurrers were
denied in their entirety. Defendants’ motion to strike was granted in part regarding plaintiffs’ request for restitution and disgorgement, and was denied as to
plaintiffs’ claims of public nuisance and violation of the California Business and Professions Code. Preliminary damages to be determined by the Court are
demanded, as well as injunctive and declaratory relief. This case is in the discovery stage. Trial is scheduled to begin in this case on April 25, 2003.

      City of Cincinnati v. Beretta U.S.A. Corp., et al., in the Court of Common Pleas in Hamilton County, Ohio. On October 7, 1999, defendants’ motion to
dismiss was granted on all counts. On August 11, 2000, the Ohio Court of Appeals for the First Appellate District of Ohio affirmed the trial court’s decision
granting defendants’ motion to dismiss. On June 12, 2002, the Ohio Supreme Court reversed the trial court’s dismissal of the plaintiffs’ public nuisance,
negligence, and failure to warn counts and remanded the case back to the trial court. The Court affirmed the trial court’s dismissal of the statutory products
liability claims. Plaintiffs seek compensatory, exemplary and punitive damages, plus other costs against each defendant, as well as injunctive relief. This case is in
the discovery phase. Trial is scheduled to begin in this case on September 22, 2003.

      Mayor Michael R. White, and the City of Cleveland v. Hi-Point Firearms, et al. in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio. The
complaint alleges that handgun manufacturers, distributors, and trade associations have failed to provide adequate warnings with the firearms, and have failed to
incorporate safety devices that would prevent unauthorized users from firing the guns. The complaint also alleges unjust enrichment, nuisance abatement, and
public nuisance claims. Actual and punitive damages, plus other costs against each defendant are demanded, as is injunctive relief. The Court has denied the
defendants’ motion to dismiss. On September 20, 2001, the court granted the parties’ joint motion to stay the case pending a ruling by the Ohio Supreme Court in
the Cincinnati case.

      City of New York, et al. v. Arms Technology, Inc., et al., in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York. The complaint alleges that
the defendants have created, contributed to, and maintained a public nuisance to the City of New York because of their allegedly negligent marketing and
distribution practices. The complaint also alleges that the defendants have failed to design firearms with safety devices, and have allegedly failed to provide
adequate warnings. Plaintiffs seek injunctive relief, compensatory, general and punitive damages, plus other costs to be determined by the Court. On May 2, 2002,
the Court reaffirmed an earlier order staying the case pending a decision from the New York Appellate Court in the People of the State of New York, by Eliot
Spitzer Attorney General of the State of New York v. Sturm, Ruger and Company, Inc., et al., in which S&W is not a party.

      City of Camden v. Beretta U.S.A. Corp., et al., in the Superior Court in Camden County, New Jersey. The complaint alleges that the defendants have created
a public nuisance because of negligent marketing and distribution practices that allegedly allow guns to be purchased and used by criminals, juveniles, and other
prohibited persons in the commission of crimes. The complaint also alleges a design defect because unauthorized users, including children and adolescents can
obtain and misuse guns. Compensatory, punitive, and special damages to be determined by the Court, as well as injunctive relief, are demanded. Defendants’
motion to dismiss is pending before the Court and is scheduled to be heard on July 26, 2002.
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      District of Columbia, and Bryant Lawson v. Beretta U.S.A. Corp., et al., in the Superior Court for the District of Columbia. The complaint alleges that
defendants have manufactured, imported, and sold “assault weapons” that have been criminally brought into the District of Columbia, and have failed to exercise
reasonable marketing and distribution of firearms, thereby creating a public nuisance to the District of Columbia. The complaint also alleges that Lawson was
shot near his home as he was fleeing three armed men using an unspecified firearm. Compensatory, exemplary, punitive damages, and injunctive relief are
demanded. Defendants’ motion for judgment on the pleadings was heard on April 13, 2001 and is pending before the Court.

      City of St. Louis, Missouri v. Henry J. Cernicek, et al., in the Circuit Court of the City of St. Louis, Missouri. The complaint alleges that firearms
manufacturers, distributors, dealers, sellers, agents and trade associations have failed to utilize safety devices which would prevent unauthorized users from firing
guns and causing a “public nuisance.” The complaint also alleges negligence in design and warnings, civil conspiracy and unjust enrichment. Allocated
compensatory and punitive damages, plus other fees against each defendant are demanded as well as an order to “abate” the nuisance. On March 1, 2002, the
court transferred the case to St. Louis County. Defendants’ motion to dismiss will be filed soon.

      Mayor James H. Sills, Jr., et al. v. Smith & Wesson Corp., et al., in the Superior Court of the State of Delaware in and for New Castle County. Plaintiffs seek
compensatory and punitive damages, plus other fees and costs to be determined by the Court are demanded. The Court granted defendants’ motion to dismiss as
to plaintiffs’ claims of negligent marketing and distribution, unjust enrichment, and public nuisance, but denied the motion as to plaintiffs’ claims of
fraud/fraudulent concealment, negligence, unreasonably dangerous design, inadequate warning, civil conspiracy, and failure to include safety devices. On
March 8, 2002, defendants filed a motion for summary judgment based on the insufficiency of plaintiffs’ offer of damages. Defendants’ motion is pending before
the Court.

      The National Association for the Advancement of Colored People, et al. v. AccuSport Corporation, et al., in the District Court for the Eastern District of New
York. The complaint alleges that defendants have allegedly failed to regulate, supervise, and control marketing, distribution, and sales practices of handguns,
which has allegedly resulted in a disproportionate number of injuries and deaths of members of the NAACP. The complaint also alleges that defendants allegedly
fail to incorporate safety devices to prevent or reduce improper use. Only injunctive relief is sought; no monetary damages are claimed, however, plaintiffs seek
no less than twenty million dollars for nuisance abatement. This case is in the discovery stage. Trial is scheduled to begin on November 18, 2002.

      James Foster-el, et al. v. Beretta, U.S.A. Corp., et al., in the Superior Court for the District of Columbia. The case was removed to the Federal District Court
for the District of Columbia. The complaint alleges that an assailant utilizing a handgun of unknown manufacture fatally injured the plaintiff’s wife during a
neighborhood dispute. Plaintiffs seek general, special, compensatory, and punitive damages, injunctive relief, and other costs to be determined by the Court. On
September 28, 2001, the Court granted plaintiffs’ motion to stay the case pending a decision in the District of Columbia case described herein.

      Laura Wallace, Individually and as Representative of the Estate of Andre Wallace, et al. v. Beretta U.S.A. Corp., et al., in the Superior Court for the District
of Columbia. The complaint asserts personal injury claims as to three of the plaintiffs and wrongful death claims on behalf of the other two plaintiffs. The
complaint alleges that the defendants negligently marketed and distributed firearms, causing personal injuries and death. On November 5, 2001, the Court stayed
the case pending a decision on the issue of joinder in the District of Columbia case described herein.

      Darrell Bowling v. Smith & Wesson, et. al., in the Circuit Court in Perry County, Kentucky. The complaint was filed on June 9, 2000 and seeks damages for
personal injuries allegedly sustained by Bowling on June 12, 1999. The plaintiff claims that Kelly Frank Miller, a convicted felon, who was in possession of a
S&W revolver, shot him. The complaint originally asserted strict liability and negligence claims. However, the plaintiff amended the complaint on July 6, 2000 to
withdraw the traditional tort claims and the plaintiff has elected to proceed on a theory of public nuisance by arguing that the manufacture, distribution, and sale
of the firearms has created an unreasonable danger to the public. S&W filed a motion to dismiss on July 24, 2000,
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and subsequently argued that motion before the Court. Since the filing of the motion, Mr. Miller was convicted of attempted murder stemming from the shooting
of Mr. Bowling. On April 25, 2002, S&W filed a supplemental motion to dismiss. The Court has not yet ruled on the motion.

      Oren Gorden v. Smith & Wesson Corp., et. al., in the Territorial Court of the Virgin Islands, District of St. Croix. The complaint was filed on January 19,
2001, and seeks compensatory damages for personal injuries allegedly sustained by Mr. Gorden. The complaint alleges that Mr. Gorden’s S&W handgun
malfunctioned and exploded when he tried to fire it. S&W filed an answer denying all allegations of liability and the parties are proceeding with discovery.

      Royce D. Ryan, a minor, by his parent and natural guardian, Lori Ryan v. Smith & Wesson Corp., et. al., in the Court of Common Pleas of Philadelphia
County, Pennsylvania. The complaint, filed on April 14, 2000, alleges that Ryan was shot in the head with a S&W pistol and seriously injured at the home of
Jared McMunn, a fourteen year old neighbor, when McMunn retrieved the pistol from his parents’ dresser drawer and, believing the pistol to be unloaded, pointed
it at Ryan and pulled the trigger. The complaint asserts claims for negligence and strict liability and alleges that the pistol was defective because it lacked design
features to prevent it from being fired by an unauthorized user. The complaint also seeks compensatory and punitive damages on behalf of Royce Ryan. This case
is now in the discovery stage.

      Claudia Levin v. Smith & Wesson Corp., et. al., in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois. The complaint was filed on September 18, 2001, and seeks
unspecified damages. The complaint alleges that plaintiff was injured when the S&W revolver she was attempting to fire exploded in her hands. The plaintiff
alleges that over-pressurized ammunition and unspecified metallurgical defects led to the explosion. S&W has filed an answer denying all allegations of liability
and the parties are proceeding with discovery.

      Tenedora Tuma, S.A. v. Smith & Wesson Corp., in the Civil and Commercial Court of the First District of the Court of First Instance of the National District,
Santo Domingo, Dominican Republic. The plaintiff commenced this suit by submitting a request for a preliminary reconciliation hearing. After two preliminary
reconciliation hearings, the Reconciliation Committee issued a Certificate of Lack of Agreement. Thereafter, a Summons and Notice of Claim was issued to S&W
on January 17, 2000. The plaintiff alleges S&W terminated its distributor agreement without just cause and seeks damages of twenty million Dominican Republic
Pesos plus interest for allegedly violating Dominican Republic Law 173 for the Protection of Importers of Merchandise and Products. This case is in the
discovery stage.

      Smith & Wesson Corp. v. Springfield Conservation Commission, filed January 11, 2001, in Hampden County Superior Court, Massachusetts. A portion of
S&W’s property located at 2100 Roosevelt Avenue known as the Fire Pond is contaminated with petroleum and metals. On November 8, 2000, the Springfield
Conservation Commission issued an Order of Conditions that denied approval for S&W’s plans to bring the Fire Pond into compliance with environmental laws
by capping portions of the sediments in the Fire Pond, as recommended by its environmental consultants. The Commission proposed instead that S&W remediate
by means of dredging. S&W filed this suit seeking a judgment that the Commission’s action was unlawful and should be set aside and that the Commission
should issue an order approving S&W’s plan to bring the Fire Pond into compliance with environmental laws by capping. If S&W’s appeal of the Commission’s
order is unsuccessful, the cost of remediating the Fire Pond could increase substantially from S&W’s current estimates.

New Cases

      The following cases were instituted against S&W since April 30, 2002:

      International Licensing Corporation v. Smith & Wesson Corp., in the Circuit Court of the 15th Judicial Circuit in and for Palm Beach County, Florida. The
complaint was filed on May 8, 2002, alleging that S&W breached its License Agreement with plaintiff. The complaint seeks compensatory damages, prejudgment
interest, costs of suit, declaratory and injunctive relief, and other such and further relief as determined by the Court. S&W removed the case to the United States
District Court for the Southern District of Florida, West Palm Beach Division. On June 17, 2002, S&W filed an answer denying all allegations of liability and a
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counterclaim for breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and indemnification. On July 2, 2002, plaintiff stipulated to the
dismissal of his claims for injunctive and declaratory relief. The case will be scheduled for non-binding mediation in August of 2002.

      Tara LaCelle, an Individual, et al. v. Shatana Pole, et al., in the District Court of the First Judicial District of the State of Idaho, in and for the County of
Kootenai. The complaint, filed on June 5, 2002, alleges that Shatana Pole became intoxicated and, while engaging in gunplay, pulled back the hammer of a Smith
& Wesson .357 magnum revolver and squeezed the trigger, discharging a bullet through the shared wall between their apartments and striking LaCelle, resulting
in permanent paralysis from the chest down. The complaint asserts claims against Mr. Pole and his companions, Ms. LaCelle’s landlord, the leasing agent
allegedly charged with screening tenants of the building, S&W, and “Smith & Wesson, Inc.” Ms. LaCelle asserts claims against S&W for public nuisance,
violation of the Idaho Consumer Protection Act, negligent infliction of emotional distress and emotional distress from fear of developing a future disease.
Ms. LaCelle’s mother and fiancé have asserted claims for loss of consortium against all defendants. Plaintiffs seek damages in an amount to be proven at the time
of trial, as well as pre-judgment interest, attorneys fees and other such relief as the Court deems just and proper.

Item 4.     Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

      Incorporated by reference from the information contained in Part II, Item 4 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for the fiscal quarter ended
January 31, 2002.

PART II

Item 5.     Market for Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

      The Company’s common stock is currently traded on the OTC Bulletin Board operated by the NASD under the symbol SMWS. The following table sets
forth the high and low market prices for the Company’s common stock based upon it fiscal year beginning May 1st, as reported by the National Daily Quotation
Service and the Over-The-Counter Bulletin Board. Quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission and may not
represent actual transactions.

         
High Low

FY2001         
First Quarter  $1.69  $0.81 
Second Quarter  $1.06  $0.38 
Third Quarter  $0.66  $0.09 
Fourth Quarter  $1.00  $0.38 
 
FY2002         
First Quarter  $1.51  $0.69 
Second Quarter  $1.27  $0.67 
Third Quarter  $0.91  $0.68 
Fourth Quarter  $2.96  $0.80 

Number of Shareholders

      The number of beneficial shareholders of record of the Common Stock of the Company as of the close of business on July 24, 2002 was approximately 311.
Many of the shares of the Company’s Common Stock are held in a “street name” and consequently reflect numerous additional beneficial owners.
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Dividend Policy

      To date, the Company has no cash dividends on its Common Stock, and does not expect to pay cash dividends in the next term. The Company intends to
retain future earnings, if any, to provide funds for operation and growth of its business.

Disclosure With Respect To The Company’s Equity Compensation Plans

      The Company maintains the 2001 Stock Option Plan (the “Option Plan”) and the 2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”), pursuant to which it
may grant equity awards to eligible persons. Additionally, it has entered into a number of individual arrangements outside of the equity plans with its Chief
Executive Officer and its President, as well as with certain consultants and advisors providing for the award of warrants to purchase Common Stock of the
Company. The terms of these individual equity awards are described more fully below.

      The following table provides information about equity awards under the Company’s Option Plan, ESPP and the individual equity awards:

             
Number of securities to be Number of securities

issued upon exercise of Weighted-average exercise remaining available for future
outstanding options, price of outstanding options, issuance under equity

Plan Category warrants and rights(#) warrants and rights($) compensation plans

Equity compensation plans
approved by shareholders   1,550,000  $0.81   18,450,000 
Equity compensation plans not
approved by shareholders   11,009,450  $0.89   -0- 

Total   12,559,450  $0.88   18,450,000 

Summary Description Of Non-Shareholder Approved Equity Arrangements

      In consideration for past services to the Company, including services rendered in connection with the acquisition of Smith & Wesson Corp., the Company
issued a warrant dated May 11, 2001, to Mr. Saltz, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The warrant entitles Mr. Saltz to purchase
up to 5,000,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.89 per share. The warrant is exercisable immediately and expires May 11,
2006.

      Also in consideration for past services to the Company, including services rendered in connection with the acquisition of Smith & Wesson Corp., the
Company issued a warrant, dated May 11, 2001, to Mr. Scott, President and a director of the Company. The warrant entitles Mr. Scott to purchase up to
5,000,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.89 per share. The warrant is exercisable immediately and expires May 11, 2006.

      In connection with arranging a loan to the Company, the Company issued warrants, each dated May 11, 2001, to two unrelated parties. These warrants entitle
each holder to purchase up to 354,725 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.00 per share. The warrants are exercisable immediately
and expire May 11, 2003.

      Also in connection with arranging a loan to the Company, the Company issued warrants, each dated March 19, 2001, to two unrelated parties. These warrants
entitle each holder to purchase up to 150,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.50 per share. The warrants are immediately
exercisable and expire March 19, 2003.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

      In March 2001, the Company issued 574,837 shares of common stock to private investors in lieu of interest in the amount of $287,419 due on convertible
debentures. The Company relied on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 with respect to the issuance of these shares.
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      In consideration for services rendered, the Company issued 22,000 shares of common stock in April 2001 and 25,000 shares of common stock in May 2001
to one consultant of the Company, 3,000 shares of common stock to another consultant in April 2001, and 100,000 shares of common stock to another consultant
in August 2001. In consideration for services rendered to its wholly-owned subsidiary, the Company issued 6,667 shares of common stock in August 2001 to an
employee of that subsidiary. The Company relied on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 with respect to the issuance of the foregoing shares.

      In May 2001, the Company issued an aggregate of 375,000 shares of common stock to an unrelated third party in lieu of a cash finders fee for arranging a
$5 million loan necessary for the Company’s acquisition of Smith & Wesson Corp. (the “Loan”). The Company relied on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of
1933 with respect to the issuance of these shares.

      In May 2001, the Company issued an aggregate of 750,000 shares of common stock to two affiliates of Colton Melby, a director of the Company, upon the
exercise of warrants. The warrants had an exercise price of $.80 per share. The Company relied on Rule 506 of Regulation D of the Securities Act of 1933 with
respect to the issuance of these shares.

      In March 2001, October 2001, and April 2002, the Company issued 43,500, 87,000, and 87,000 shares of common stock, respectively, to Market Pathways
Financial Relations Incorporated, its investor relations consultant, in exchange for various services provided from October 2000 through September 2002. The
Company relied on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 with respect to the issuance of these shares.

      In March 2002, Colton Melby, a director of the Company, purchased 7,094,500 shares of common stock for an aggregate of $2,837,800 by exercising the
warrant issued to him in connection with the Loan. In connection with the exercise, the Company sold an additional 1,375,424 shares to Mr. Melby and three
unrelated parties at a purchase price of $1.65 per share. The Company relied on Section 4(2) or Rule 506 of Regulation D of the Securities Act of 1933 with
respect to the issuance of these shares.

      In April 2002, the Company issued 1,250,000 shares of common stock to two unrelated parties upon the exercise of two warrants, which had an exercise
price of $.40 per share. The Company relied on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 with respect to the issuance of these shares.

 
Item 6. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

      On May 11, 2001, Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation, formerly Saf-T-Hammer Corporation, (the “Company”) purchased (the “Acquisition”) all of the
outstanding stock of Smith & Wesson Corp. (“S&W”) from Tomkins Corporation (“Tomkins”) for $15,000,000 (the “Purchase Price”). As a result of the
Acquisition, S&W became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The Purchase Price was the result of arm’s length negotiations between the Company and
Tomkins, and was paid as follows:

 • $5 million, which was paid at closing in cash; and
 
 • $10 million to be paid on or before May 11, 2002 pursuant to the terms of a promissory note issued by the Company to Tomkins.

      The $5.0 million paid at closing was financed through a loan from Colton Melby, now a director, officer and major shareholder of the Company (the “Melby
Note”).

      On June 29, 2001, the Company changed its fiscal year end from December 31 to April 30. Accordingly, pursuant to Regulation §240.13a-10 (Rule 13a-10)
of the 1934 Act, the required unaudited consolidated financial statements for the transition period from January 1, 2001 to April 30, 2001 have previously been
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-QSB. The accompanying audited consolidated financial statements have been prepared to present
the results of operations and its cash flows for the twelve month periods ended April 30, 2002 (“FY2002”) and 2001 (“FY2001”).

Results of Operations

      These results of operations compare the Company’s FY2002 performance, which includes S&W information, with the Company’s FY2001 performance which
does not include S&W information. The
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magnitude of the S&W acquisition on the Company’s overall performance therefore limits the comparability of certain information.

      Net sales increased $76,509,768 or 2,082.7% from $36,735 in FY2001 to $76,546,503 in FY2002. Net loss increased $1,287,258 or 30.8% from $4,175,572
in FY2001 to $5,462,830 in FY2002. Basic and diluted net loss per share improved $0.04 or 12.9% from $0.31 in FY2001 to $0.27 in FY2002. The substantial
increase in sales is primarily due to the Company’s acquisition of S&W.

      During FY2002, the Company derived almost all of its net sales from S&W products. Although the Company continues to include or offer its Saf-T-
Trigger™ device on certain S&W products and offers its devices on a stand-alone basis, the size of the S&W acquisition has not only significantly increased the
Company’s annual net sales but also changed the focus of its core business and the products it currently offers and intends to offer.

     Net Sales

         
FY2002 % of Total

(000,000s)
Firearms  $58.4   76.3%
Specialty Services   6.4   8.4 
Handcuffs   4.3   5.6 
Other Products and Services   7.4   9.7 
       
Total Net Sales  $76.5   100.0%
       

      The Company realized $58.4 million or 76.3% of net sales from firearms (revolvers, pistols, performance center firearms which includes all special
performance and limited edition firearms, and Walther firearms), $6.4 million or 8.4% of net sales from specialty services, $4.3 million or 5.6% of net sales from
handcuffs, $7.4 million or 9.7% of net sales from all other products and services including but not limited to retail sales, firearm parts, the S&W Academy and
bicycles. Currently, S&W’s specialty services manufactures products for Remington Arms Co., Weatherby, and Harley-Davidson, as well as, automotive,
aerospace and other smaller manufacturers. Many of its customers use S&W’s specialty services because of its ability to provide a full line of services including
forge, heat treat, CNC machining, and finishing and meet tight delivery requirements.

      For FY2002, approximately 65.0% of net sales of firearms were derived from domestic consumers, 15.0% from law enforcement, and 20.0% from total
international sales.

      In FY2003, the Company expects to achieve its growth objectives by improving the earnings and efficiencies of its existing manufacturing operations,
introducing advanced technology products to be utilized by law enforcement and by expanding the breadth and distribution of consumer-oriented non-firearm
products.

      S&W’s on-going strategy is designed to allow it to increase marketing and sales of core firearm products, further improve product quality, continue to reduce
costs, and increase flexibility to meet changes in the marketplace. The Company also intends to expand licensing to build greater awareness of the “Smith &
Wesson” name among those who are not gun enthusiasts and to capitalize on the goodwill developed with gun enthusiasts. To achieve net sales and earnings
growth in FY2003, S&W will benefit, in part, from its first full year of marketing Walther products, and plans to increase production of its most popular line of
pistols such as the SW99, as well as, continue to recapture domestic market share.

      The Company’s ability to reach S&W’s sales growth projections as well as expansion into new product areas will depend upon, among other factors, its
ability to (i) successfully introduce new products and services to its target markets, (ii) successfully implement production efficiencies and capacity increases,
(iii) continue to develop and restore its distributor and dealer networks, (iv) retain strong demand in spite of adverse political conditions and detrimental
regulatory changes within the environment in which the Company
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operates, if any (v) successfully prevail in lawsuits and avoid large settlement pay-outs relating to certain on-going litigation affecting the Company and the entire
handgun industry, and (vi) implement a licensing and branding strategy which results in increased sales of S&W products.

     Gross Profit

      Gross profit in FY2002 of $19,680,803 was $19,658,720 or 890.2% higher than the gross profit of $22,083 in FY2001. The gross profit margin was 25.7%
on net sales of $76,546,503 in FY2002 as compared to 60.1% on net sales of $36,735 in FY2001. The significant changes in gross profit and gross profit margin
are attributable to the financial impact of the S&W acquisition.

     Research and Development

      The Company incurred $629,189, net of expense reimbursement from the National Institute of Justice (“NIJ”) of approximately $1.3 million, of research and
development costs in FY2002 as compared to $367,658 in FY2001, representing an increase of 71.1% in FY2002. In addition to on-going efforts to improve
current technology, S&W continued its efforts to develop technology to introduce “authorized user only handguns” or “smart guns”. By comparison, R&D
incurred in FY2001, which preceded the S&W acquisition, related primarily to the development and completion of the Saf-T-TriggerTM device and
VersaVaultTM.

      The Company expects S&W to continue its development of smart gun technology in FY2003. Approved expenses incurred by this project are reimbursed
through a continuing grant from the NIJ.

     Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

      Total selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) for FY2002 were $17,099,538 or 22.3% of net sales compared to $3,165,276 or 8,616.5% of
net sales in FY2001. The significant dollar increase is primarily due to the acquisition of S&W and the inclusion of its operating results.

SG&A Expenses

         
FY2002 Expense % Total

S&W SG&A  $15,440,578   90.3%
Corporate SG&A   1,658,960   9.7 
       
Total SG&A  $17,099,538   100.0%

      During FY2002, SG&A incurred by S&W was $15,440,578 or 90.3% of total SG&A and the Company’s corporate SG&A was $1,658,960 or 9.7% of total
SG&A. S&W SG&A includes approximate depreciation and amortization expense of $928,000, selling and marketing employee remuneration of $3.1 million,
commissions of $1.3 million, advertising expense of $2.1 million, general and administrative employee remuneration of $3.7 million, employee profit sharing
contribution of $0.8 million and professional fees of $1.2 million. Corporate SG&A, for FY2002, decreased $1,506,316 or 47.6% from FY2001 which was
primarily due to a reduction of non-cash compensation expense of $569,567. Additionally, the Company incurred no loss on impairment in FY2002 as compared
with a loss on impairment of $328,120 in FY2001.

      In May 2001, after the acquisition of S&W, the workforce at S&W was reduced by 42 total employees. This reduction included 35 salaried employees and 7
hourly employees and resulted in an approximate savings of $3.4 million for the Company in FY2002.

      The Company’s commitment to continue to improve S&W’s market share, diversification into advanced technology products aimed at law enforcement,
other future growth objectives, increases in insurance costs in the aftermath of September 11, 2001, as well as other general expense increases may require the
Company to continue to increase SG&A expenses as a percentage of net sales in FY2003. The Company has already been affected by a significant increase in
annual insurance costs, which have risen from approximately $1.9 million for FY2002 to approximately $3.2 million for FY2003.
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     Interest Expense

      Interest expense for FY2002 was $9,404,759 as compared to $674,803 for FY2001. The increase in net interest expense for FY2002 is attributable to the
acquisition of S&W. The Company incurred $15.0 million in acquisition related short-term debts, of which, $5.0 million of acquisition debt had an interest rate of
12.0% per annum and the remaining $10.0 million had an interest rate of 9.0% per annum. During FY2002, interest expense related to the $15 million acquisition
related debt amounted to approximately $1.4 million. Debt issue costs of approximately $5.1 million (non-cash amortization of debt issue costs) has been
recognized as interest expense pursuant to EITF-00-27 using the effective interest method during the FY2002, resulting from the amortization of the value of
warrants issued to obtain $5.0 million of the acquisition debt. S&W also has a $30.0 million note payable to Tomkins, which bears interest at 9.0% per annum,
and incurred interest expense amounting to approximately $2.6 million. The remaining interest expense arose from other loans, bank charges for letters of credit
and related party loan.

     Loss before Income Taxes

      Loss before income taxes increased $1,216,660 or 29.1% from $4,175,572 in FY2001 to $5,392,232 in FY2002. Loss before income taxes included
$5,114,000 of non-cash interest expense arising from the value of warrants issued as described above in the Interest Expense section compared to $567,250 in
FY2001. In addition, the Company also recognized a non-cash compensation expense for the issuance of shares in exchange for services received of $290,348 in
FY2002 compared to $859,915 in FY2001. The Company recognized a loss from impairment of goodwill of $328,120 in FY2001 compared to none in FY2002.

     Income Taxes

      The Company incurred state tax expenses of $70,598 in FY2002. There was no tax expense in FY2001.

      S&W previously accounted for its inventory, valued at the lower of cost or market, using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method until its acquisition by Smith &
Wesson Holding Corporation (formerly Saf-T-Hammer Corporation) on May 11, 2001, when it adopted the accounting policy (FIFO method) of Smith & Wesson
Holding Corporation. For financial accounting and reporting purposes, the Company accounted for the inventory acquired on May 11, 2001 using the fair value
method, which did not have any allowances or reserves. For tax purposes, the LIFO reserve as of May 11, 2001 approximated $14.8 million, for which, a deferred
tax liability of approximately $5.9 million was recorded and offset by deferred tax assets. Under the Internal Revenue Code, the change in accounting method for
its inventory, for tax purposes, from LIFO to FIFO requires the Company to reverse its LIFO reserve into taxable income over an equal four-year period (25% per
year). The Company plans to utilize its deferred tax assets, consisting primarily of net operating loss carryforwards and accrued liabilities to offset the LIFO to
FIFO adjustment taxable income.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

      The Company had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $42.2 million at April 30, 2002. Of this amount, approximately $21.0 million was
held as collateral for the line of credit and long-term note with Banknorth, N.A. as described below. A majority of the cash and cash equivalents of the Company
are held by S&W. The Company’s use of cash held by S&W is subject to certain covenants and restrictions imposed by the terms of the S&W acquisition and its
lenders. These restrictions include limitations on the use of cash, dividends paid to the Company by S&W and S&W’s ability to incur or guaranty indebtedness.

      The Company generated $3.3 million of net cash from operating activities during FY2002 compared to cash used for operating activities of $1.9 million
during FY2001. This improvement in cash flow of $5.2 million is primarily the result of the acquisition of S&W.

      S&W manufactures all major metal components for its revolvers and pistols. However, raw materials and certain parts are purchased from several suppliers.
Because raw materials in the marketplace are limited at any given time, S&W purchases appropriate quantities of parts and materials to ensure it has sufficient
time to obtain future materials at reasonable cost without interrupting its manufacturing processes. Should market
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conditions cause any significant prolonged inflation of material prices, the Company’s financial results may be materially affected.

      Net cash provided by investing activities was $4.9 million during FY2002 compared to cash used for investing activities of $27,733 during FY2001.
Substantially all of the cash provided by investing activities in the current period related to the acquisition of S&W including the net cash and cash equivalents
acquired of $28.6 million, collection of loans receivable of $2.2 million, collection of collateral cash deposit of $5.2 million, payments to acquire marketable
securities and cash deposits of $28.6 million and payments to acquire patents, property and equipment of $2.5 million. The Company maintains its cash in money
market and bank deposit accounts which, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts.

      Capital expenditures amounted to $2.4 million and $27,733 during FY2002 and FY2001, respectively. The increase in capital expenditures is primarily due
to the acquisition of S&W. During FY2003, the Company expects to spend approximately $2.6 million on capital expenditures to maintain its current
manufacturing facilities. The Company intends to finance any capital expenditures in FY2003 with existing cash or funds provided from operations.

      Net cash provided by financing activities was $5.5 million during FY2002 compared to cash provided by investing activities of $1.7 million during FY2001.
Substantially all of the cash provided by financing activities in the current period related to either the sale of the Company’s common stock and exercise of
warrants raising $2.3 million and $3.9 million, respectively, or the payments to retire a short term loan and a related party loan payable of $500,000 and $240,000,
respectively. In addition, the Company paid the Acquisition Note of $10.0 million during March 2002. The Company maintains its cash in money market and
bank deposit accounts which, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts. The Company does
not anticipate a need for external financing in FY2003.

      As of April 30, 2002, the Company had total long-term debt of $45.0 million; $15.0 million due from the Company to Banknorth, N.A., and $30.0 million
due from S&W to Tomkins Corporation. S&W also has an available line of credit up to $8.0 million with Banknorth used for stand-by and commercial letters of
credit and working capital. Terms of the line of credit include interest at the lender’s prime rate (currently 4.75%); and require S&W to repay the outstanding
balance at any time upon demand and provide cash collateral to the extent that this credit line is used.

      The Company obtained a $15.0 million long-term loan from Banknorth in April 2002 used to repay short-term debt related to the S&W acquisition. This note
accrues interest at a fixed rate of 5.85% per annum and has a 12 year term commencing on March 28, 2002. The note is amortized over a 10 year period, requires
monthly interest-only payments until March 28, 2004, and monthly principal and interest payments thereafter for the life of the loan. The loan is fully
collateralized by S&W marketable securities, and/or cash.

      A portion of the proceeds from the Banknorth note, $5.0 million, were used to repay in full the Melby Note. Mr. Melby used the proceeds to exercise a
warrant to acquire 7,094,500 shares of common stock and to purchase an additional 1,310,424 shares of common stock.

      The remaining $30.0 million debt relates to an existing obligation by S&W to Tomkins and was guaranteed by the Company as a part of the acquisition
agreement. The note accrues interest at a fixed rate of 9.0% per annum and has a term of 10 years commencing on May 11, 2001. It is unsecured, may be prepaid
in part or in whole at any time, and is amortized over a 10 year period. The note requires monthly interest-only payments until May 11, 2004, and monthly
principal and interest payments thereafter for the life of the loan. Although the loan is unsecured, it does contain covenants restricting the Company’s use of S&W
cash and other assets, limits the amount of dividends that may be paid to the Company to $0.6 million in FY2002 and $1.8 million per year thereafter, and
requires immediate repayment if there is a change in ownership of S&W or a change in control of the Company.

      Various legal actions, proceedings and claims have been instituted against the Company’s subsidiary, S&W. For further discussion of litigation and legal
proceedings pending against the Company and its subsidiary, see Part I — Item 1 — Description of Business: Governmental Regulations; Part I — Item 3 —

28



 

Legal Proceedings; and note 18 to the consolidated financial statements. Management believes that, in every case, the allegations are unfounded, and that the
shootings and any results therefrom were due to negligence or misuse of the firearms by third parties or the claimant, and that there should be no recovery against
S&W. Defenses further exist to the suits brought by cities, municipalities and counties based, among other reasons, on established state law precluding recovery
by municipalities for essential government services, the remoteness of the claims, the types of damages sought to be recovered, and limitations on the
extraterritorial authority which may be exerted by a city, municipality, county or state under state and federal law, including state and federal Constitutions.

      Legislation has been passed in approximately 28 states precluding suits of the type brought by the municipalities mentioned above. On March 28, 2002, the
city of Boston’s lawsuit was voluntarily and completely dismissed. This was the first time that a municipality voluntarily dropped its claim against S&W and
others in the firearm industry.

      The Company’s management reviews every lawsuit and claim at the outset and is in contact with its special litigation counsel on an ongoing basis. The
provision for product liability claims is based upon many factors, which vary for each case. These factors include the type of claim, nature and extent of injuries,
historical settlement ranges, jurisdiction where filed, and advice of counsel. An accrual is established for each lawsuit and claim, when appropriate, based on the
nature of each such lawsuit or claim.

      Amounts are charged to product liability expense in the period in which the Company becomes aware that a claim or, in some instances a threat of claim, has
been made when potential losses or costs of defense can be reasonably estimated. Such amounts are determined based on the Company’s experience in defending
similar claims. Occasionally, charges are made for claims made in prior periods because the cumulative actual costs incurred for that claim, or reasonably
expected to be incurred in the future, exceed amounts already provided. Likewise credits may be taken if cumulative actual costs incurred for that claim, or
reasonably expected to be incurred in the future, are less than amounts previously provided.

      While it is not possible to forecast the outcome of litigation or the timing of costs, in the opinion of management, after consultation with its litigation counsel,
it is uncertain whether that litigation, including punitive damage claims, will have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Company or a material
impact on the Company’s financial results for a particular period.

      The Company is subject to numerous federal, state and local laws which regulate or otherwise relate to the protection of the environment. The Company may
be required to remove hazardous waste or remediate the alleged effects of hazardous substances on the environment associated with past operations or disposal
practices. As of April 30, 2002, the Company has reserves of $4.1 million for environmental matters. The amount of the Company’s liabilities for remedial
activities are very difficult to estimate due to such factors as currently available facts, remediation technology, presently enacted laws or regulations and the
unknown extent of the remedial actions that may be required.

      The Company has identified environmental issues on the property at the Springfield, Massachusetts facility. The Company has a voluntary remediation
project currently underway as part of the Massachusetts Contingency Plan. The Company has established reserves to cover the cost of this remediation project
and believes these reserves to be adequate. The Company also has a potential environmental issue at its ranges at the training facility in Springfield,
Massachusetts. The problem would only arise if the Company were to decide to cease using this facility as a shooting range. Appropriate reserves have been
established and the Company believes these reserves to be adequate.

      The Company does not anticipate that inflation will have any material adverse effect on sales and any cost increases caused by such can be passed on in the
price of its products.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

      In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 “Business Combinations.” SFAS No. 141 supersedes Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) No. 16 and
requires that any business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 be accounted for as a purchase; therefore, eliminating the pooling-of-interest method defined
in
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APB 16. The statement is effective for any business combination initiated after June 30, 2001 and shall apply to all business combinations accounted for by the
purchase method for which the date of acquisition is July 1, 2001 or later. The Company does not expect the adoption to have a material impact to the Company’s
financial position or results of operations since the Company has not participated in such activities covered under this pronouncement after the effective date.

      In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangibles.” SFAS No. 142 addresses the initial recognition, measurement and
amortization of intangible assets acquired individually or with a group of other assets (but not those acquired in a business combination) and addresses the
amortization provisions for excess cost over fair value of net assets acquired or intangibles acquired in a business combination. The statement is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, and is effective July 1, 2001 for any intangibles acquired in a business combination initiated after June 30, 2001.
The Company does not expect the adoption to have a material impact to the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

      In October 2001, the FASB recently issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” which requires companies to record the fair value
of a liability for asset retirement obligations in the period in which they are incurred. The statement applies to a company’s legal obligations associated with the
retirement of a tangible long-lived asset that results from the acquisition, construction, and development or through the normal operation of a long-lived asset.
When a liability is initially recorded, the company would capitalize the cost, thereby increasing the carrying amount of the related asset. The capitalized asset
retirement cost is depreciated over the life of the respective asset while the liability is accreted to its present value. Upon settlement of the liability, the obligation
is settled at its recorded amount or the company incurs a gain or loss. The statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 30, 2002. The Company does
not expect the adoption to have a material impact to the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

      In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”. Statement 144 addresses the
accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. The statement provides a single accounting model for long-lived assets to be
disposed of. New criteria must be met to classify the asset as an asset held-for-sale. This statement also focuses on reporting the effects of a disposal of a segment
of a business. This statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. The Company does not expect the adoption to have a material
impact to the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

      In April 2002, the FASB issued Statement No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and
Technical Corrections.” This Statement rescinds FASB Statement No. 4, “Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt”, and an amendment of that
Statement, FASB Statement No. 64, “Extinguishments of Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking-Fund Requirements” and FASB Statement No. 44, “Accounting for
Intangible Assets of Motor Carriers”. This Statement amends FASB Statement No. 13, “Accounting for Leases”, to eliminate an inconsistency between the
required accounting for sale-leaseback transactions and the required accounting for certain lease modifications that have economic effects that are similar to sale-
leaseback transactions. The Company does not expect the adoption to have a material impact to the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

Risk Factors

      You should consider the following discussion of risks as well as other information in this report. The risks and uncertainties described below are not
the only ones. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial also may impair our business
operations. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business could be harmed.

     We Are Subject To Sales Cycles

      We are subject to sales cycles beyond our control which are driven many times by national events. The entire industry has experienced a surge in demand in
the United States since and as a direct result of the
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terrorist acts which occurred on September 11, 2001. Americans are now focused on their personal security. Prior to September 11, 2001, we manufactured
approximately 10,600 handguns per month. After September 11 and continuing through May 31, 2002, we have manufactured approximately 13,400 handguns
per month. The renewed patriotism of the American consumer coupled with the return of our company to American ownership, the change in administrations in
Washington, D.C. to one favorably disposed to protecting the rights of the Second Amendment, and the lessening of various dealer and consumer backlashes
against purchasing our products are also contributing factors to the growing demand for our handguns. We cannot predict how long the demand for our products
will continue to remain strong. For example, according to an Associated Press article, combined production for domestic and overseas handgun sales fell 52%
between 1993 and 1999, a period in which national events and legislation was unfavorable to the firearms industry in general. A significant portion of the overall
decline was the cessation of production by manufacturers of low cost, small caliber handguns during this time. We believe we have entered into a new sales cycle
of strong demand but do not know or have much control over how long it will last.

     S&W Is Currently Involved in Numerous Lawsuits

      S&W is currently defending many lawsuits brought by various cities and counties against it and numerous other manufacturers and distributors arising out of
their design, manufacture, marketing, and distribution of handguns. In these lawsuits, the various governments seek to recover substantial damages, as well as
various types of injunctive relief that, if granted, could affect the future design, manufacture, marketing and distribution of handguns by all manufacturers and
distributors that are defendants (See, “Legal Proceedings”). During the past year, several of these lawsuits have been dismissed by trial courts or appellate courts.
S&W intends to vigorously defend these lawsuits, believes that they are without merit, and believes that its insurance is adequate in light of judgments entered
against the industry in general to date. However, S&W cannot provide any assurance that a judgment may not be entered in excess of its insurance coverage
limits.

     Government Settlements May Affect Our Business

      Even though the settlement agreement with the Boston governmental authorities has been vacated, S&W remains technically bound by a Settlement
Agreement dated March 17, 2000 with the Department of the Treasury and the Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD Settlement”). This HUD
Settlement places substantial restrictions and obligations on S&W’s operation of its business. It imposes numerous restrictions on the design, manufacturing,
marking and distribution of S&W’s firearms products. It was subsequently signed by two states and eleven cities and counties. Among other terms, the HUD
Settlement provided that any city or county that was a party to the HUD Settlement and had a lawsuit pending against S&W would dismiss S&W with prejudice
from its lawsuit subject to a consent order.

      As of July 19, 2002, none of the nine cities and counties that signed the HUD Settlement have dismissed S&W with prejudice from their lawsuits subject to a
consent order under the HUD Settlement. S&W believes that the HUD Settlement is not legally binding for numerous reasons, including that no consideration for
entry into the HUD Settlement was given to S&W. No assurance can be given, however, that S&W’s position that the HUD Settlement is not legally binding
would ultimately prevail in any subsequent litigation. We have received informal confirmation that the HUD Settlement will not be enforced but no indication
that the HUD Settlement would be revoked and rescinded in writing. If enforced, these restrictions could substantially impair S&W’s ability to compete as its
competitors are not subject to such restrictions.

 
     We Incurred Substantial Debt to Acquire Smith & Wesson Corp.

      The Company incurred substantial indebtedness to finance the acquisition of S&W. As a result, the Company is highly leveraged and subject to substantial
repayment obligations.

      The Company’s ability to make scheduled payments of principal or interest on or to refinance its debt, will depend on its future operating performance and
cash flow which are subject to prevailing economic conditions, prevailing interest rate levels, and financial competitive business and other factors beyond its
control. The degree to which the Company is leveraged could have important consequences to the holders of
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our common stock, including the Company’s ability to obtain additional financing for working capital or other purposes in the future, may be limited. Smith &
Wesson Holding Corp. is limited in transferring funds from S&W to finance its purchase of S&W. Smith & Wesson Holding Corp. has not developed a viable
sales model to generate sufficient cash flow as yet but hopes licensing and sales from non-gun products and sales of its vault, safety lock and other future products
will provide the cash flow needed to make the payments required. A substantial portion of the Company’s cash flow from operations will be dedicated to the
payment of principal and interest on its debt, thereby reducing funds available for operations and the Company may be more vulnerable to economic downturns
and be limited in its ability to withstand competitive pressures.
 
     The Terms of Our Debt Financing Include Restrictive Covenants

      Our two significant notes contain certain restrictive covenants that limit the discretion of the Company’s management with respect to various business
matters. These covenants place significant restrictions on, among other things, the ability of the holding company and S&W to incur additional indebtedness, to
create liens, to make certain payments, dividends, investments, loans and guarantees and to sell or otherwise dispose of assets. A failure to comply with these
covenants will result in an event of default under the notes and permit acceleration of the relevant debt. In addition, any change in control of either Smith &
Wesson Holding Corporation or S&W will cause an acceleration of the note with Tomkins Corporation.

 
     Costs of Insurance May Become Prohibitively Expensive

      Costs of insurance for all companies in the firearms industry continue to dramatically escalate. S&W’s costs of insurance increased approximately
$1.3 million, or approximately 68%, to $3.2 million for the fiscal year ending April 30, 2003. All firearms’ manufacturers in general and S&W in particular are
limited to very few carriers even willing to insure the business. If S&W is unable to insure its business or if ongoing litigation is not favorably resolved resulting
in ever increasing premiums, it may be forced to significantly raise its prices to cover self-insurance or higher premiums. At some point higher product prices
may result in a loss of customers.

     Competition

      The gun industry, in general, is dominated by a small number of companies that are well known to the public. Some of our competitors in the firearms market
are subsidiaries of large companies with substantially greater financial resources than ours. The markets in which S&W operates are highly competitive.
Competition is based primarily on quality of products, product innovation, price, and customer service and support. Product image, quality and innovation are the
dominant competitive factors in the firearms industry. Competitors using castings instead of forgings to manufacture the steel and aluminum portion of a handgun
are at a distinct cost advantage over us. However, management believes that forging provides substantial overall performance benefits and superior strength.

      S&W was the sole gun manufacturer to enter into settlement agreements with the City of Boston, the Boston Public Health Commission and the Department
of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) relating to the manner of selling handguns. Adverse publicity regarding the settlement agreements resulted in a
backlash by its dealers and customers and a number of dealers stopped carrying its products altogether. Many long time customers began purchasing products
from its competitors. On April 8, 2002, its settlement agreement with the Boston authorities was vacated. The HUD Settlement is presently not being enforced.
However, we are still seeking to fully recover from the consumer backlash and encourage customers who switched to our competitors to purchase products from
us.

      Our Specialty Services division does not manufacture patented or proprietary products nor does it rely on the brand name of “Smith & Wesson” to compete
for customers. It has hundreds of competitors primarily in the Northeast region, many of whom can offer “contract manufacturing” services at prices at or below
ours. Management believes that the modern and extensive metal working expertise and long-standing reputation for quality and service are the primary
competitive advantages available to us in this lower margin business. Any
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failure by us to continue to meet current performance standards could have a material adverse effect on this business.

      Our licensed products and non-gun products displayed in our catalogs and sold by us or sold by our licensees compete solely on the goodwill associated with
our name. A decline in the perceived quality of our handguns or other event adversely affecting our goodwill could significantly damage our ability to license or
sell those products at the margins available to us today.

     Seasonality

      Historically, our fiscal quarter ending July 31 has been our weakest period. Management believes that our significant downturn in sales occurs primarily as a
result of customers pursuing other sporting activities outdoors with the arrival of more temperate weather and the lack of disposable income of our customers
after using their tax refunds for purchases in March and April, historically our strongest months. Generally, we do not experience any significant increase in
demand until immediately prior to the opening of hunting season in the Fall. This decline in net sale may result in decreases in our stock price during the summer
months.

     Regulation

      Our business, as well as the business of all producers and marketers of firearms and firearms parts, is subject to thousands of federal, state and local laws and
governmental regulations and protocols. The basic federal laws are the National Firearms Act, the Federal Firearms Act, and the Gun Control Act of 1968. These
laws generally prohibit the private ownership of fully automatic weapons and place certain restrictions on the interstate sale of firearms unless certain licenses are
obtained. The Company does not manufacture fully automatic weapons, other than for the law enforcement market, and holds all necessary licenses under these
federal laws. From time to time, congressional committees review proposed bills and various states enact laws relating to the regulation of firearms. These
proposed bills and enacted state laws generally seek either to restrict or ban the sale and, in some cases, the ownership of various types of firearms. We are
strongly opposed to laws which would restrict the rights of law-abiding citizens to lawfully acquire firearms. We believe that the lawful private ownership of
firearms is guaranteed by the Second Amendment to the United States Constitution and that the widespread private ownership of firearms in the United States
will continue. We believe we are in compliance with such laws and hold all necessary licenses and that such laws do not have a material adverse impact on our
operations. Such laws, rules, regulations and protocols are subject to change. Therefore, our approach to compliance may require modifications to adjust for
future regulatory change. There can be no assurance that the regulation of firearms will not become more restrictive in the future and that any such restriction
would not have a material adverse effect on the business of the Company.

     Environmental Matters

      S&W is subject to numerous federal, state and local laws which regulate or otherwise relate to the protection of the environment. These laws have required,
and are expected to continue to require, S&W to make expenditures of both a capital and expense nature. Several of the more significant federal laws applicable
to S&W’s operations include the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act
(“CERCLA”) and the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”). CERCLA and RCRA, and related state
laws, subject S&W to the potential obligation to remove or mitigate the environmental effects of the disposal or release of certain pollutants at S&W’s
manufacturing facilities and at third-party or formerly owned sites at which contaminants generated by S&W may be located.

      In its efforts to satisfy its environmental responsibilities and to comply with environmental laws and regulations, S&W has established, and periodically
updates, policies relating to the environmental standards of performance for its operations. S&W has programs in place that monitor compliance with various
environmental regulations. However, in the normal course of its manufacturing operations, S&W may be subject to occasional governmental proceedings and
orders pertaining to waste disposal, air emissions, and water
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discharges into the environment. S&W believes that it is generally in compliance with applicable environmental regulations.

      S&W may become involved in various proceedings relating to environmental matters and is currently engaged in environmental investigation or remediation
at certain sites. The Company has provided reserves for remedial investigation and cleanup activities that the Company has determined to be both probable and
reasonably estimable. The 135 acre Springfield property, on which S&W’s manufacturing facilities are located, has known environmental liabilities related to past
operating practices. S&W has listed the property with the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) under the voluntary remediation
program referred to as the Massachusetts Contingency Plan (MCP), 310 CMR 40.000 (Site Number 1-0202). Environmental investigations on the property began
in 1983, culminating with the completion of a Phase I — Limited Site Investigation (August 1995), Phase II Comprehensive Site Assessment (January 1999),
Phase III Remedial Action Plan (January 1999) and Phase IV Remedy Investigation (February 2000). The MCP Site is divided into five separate release areas
which are known as follows: Wildcat, Tank No. 1, the Fire Pond, the South Field, and the West Field. Wetland areas exist in the South Field, West Field, and Fire
Pond areas of the Site. As of April 30, 2002, the Company had reserves of $4.1 million for environmental matters. The Company may be entitled to
indemnification with respect to certain expenditures incurred in connection with such environmental matters and does not expect that the liability with respect to
such investigation and remediation activities will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s liquidity and financial condition.

      S&W cannot be sure that it has identified all existing contamination on its properties or that its operations will not cause contamination in the future. As a
result, S&W could incur additional material costs to clean up contamination. S&W will periodically review the probable and reasonably estimable environmental
costs in order to update the environmental reserves.

      Furthermore, it is not possible to predict with certainty the impact on S&W of future environmental compliance requirements or of the cost of resolution of
future environmental proceedings and claims, in part because the scope of the remedies that may be required is not certain, liability under federal environmental
laws is joint and several in nature, and environmental laws and regulations are subject to modification and changes in interpretation. Environmental regulation
may become burdensome in the future and any such development would have a material adverse effect on S&W.

     Reliance On Outside Suppliers and Vendors

      We purchase our die molds, raw materials and supplies from independent sources and depend upon such outside sources for all of our unprocessed natural
products. We do not know if these sources will be able to provide adequately for our current and future needs. In the event that any of our suppliers should suffer
quality control problems, lack of raw materials or financial difficulties, we would be required to find alternative sources for our product lines. The time lost in
seeking and acquiring new sources could hurt our net sales and profitability.

 
Item 7.     Financial Statements

      The information required by this Item is submitted as a separate section of this Form 10-KSB. See Item 13.

 
Item 8.     Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

      None.
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PART III

Item 9.     Directors and Executive Officers; Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act

      Our directors serve one year terms until their successors are elected. Our executive officers are elected annually by the Board of Directors. The names of our
directors and executive officers, their ages, and certain other information about them are set forth below:

       
Name Age Position

Mitchell A. Saltz   49  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Robert L. Scott   56  President and Director
Colton R. Melby   44  Executive Vice President and Director
Sherry L. Noreen   50  Secretary and Director
James J. Minder   72  Director
Damian A. Larson   38  Chief Financial Officer
John A. Kelly   43  Vice President Finance and CFO of Smith & Wesson Corp. (subsidiary)
Daniel A. Larson   37  General Counsel

      Mitchell A. Saltz (age 49) began developing the products which led to the founding of the Company in 1997. He has served as Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company since February, 1998. Mr. Saltz was the founder and former president of Business Information Systems, Inc., a data
processing firm specializing in computerized accounting and income tax services for more than fifteen years. Clients of that firm included national CPA firms and
Fortune 500 companies. Mr. Saltz received his BA degree in accounting from Cleveland State University.

      Robert L. Scott (age 56) has served as a member of the Board of Directors and as President of the Company since December 1999. In addition, Mr. Scott
has served as President of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Smith & Wesson Corp., since May 2001. From December 1989 to December 1999, Mr. Scott
served as Vice President of Sales and Marketing and later as Vice President of Business Development of Smith & Wesson Corp. prior to its acquisition by the
Company. Mr. Scott received the 2002 Shooting Industry Award. In addition, Mr. Scott has served as Vice Chairman of the Hunting and Shooting Sports Heritage
Foundation; as Treasurer and on the Board of Governors of the National Shooting Sports Foundation; on the Executive Committee of the Sporting Arms and
Ammunition Institute; and on the Rand Criminal Justice Advisory Board. Mr. Scott received a BA degree in political science from Ohio University.

      Colton R. Melby (age 44), a director of the Company since May 2001, has served as Executive Vice President since May 2002. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. Melby was a strategic investor and independent business consultant. Mr. Melby also served in a number of positions within the aerospace industry,
most recently with Metal Form, Inc., a Kent, Washington-based aerospace manufacturing company, where he served as President and Chief Executive Officer
from 1987 to September 1999.

      Sherry L. Noreen (age 50) has served as a member of the Board of Directors and Secretary of the Company since February 1998. Ms. Noreen is an
independent sales and marketing consultant. Ms. Noreen has managed sales teams selling communications networks for AT&T, Michigan Bell/ Ameritech and US
West. Ms. Noreen has a BS degree in management from Michigan State University.

      James J. Minder (age 72), a director of the Company since May 2001, has been President of Amherst Consulting Co., LLC, a Scottsdale, Arizona-based
management consulting firm, since July 1997. From 1976 to 1997, Mr. Minder served as president and Chief Executive Officer of Spectrum Human Services,
Inc., a Michigan-based provider of counseling and mental health treatment services for neglected, abused and developmentally disabled children and families,
which Mr. Minder founded in 1976. Mr. Minder received a BS degree in engineering, a BA degree in sociology and history and an MA degree in social work
from the University of Michigan.
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      Damian Larson (age 38) has served as the Company’s full-time Chief Financial Officer since April 2002. From November 2001 to April 2002, Mr. Larson
served in a part-time capacity. From February 2000 to October 2001, Mr. Larson served as a Vice President with Hunter-Wise Financial Group, an investment
bank providing acquisition/divestiture and investment financing services to small and mid-cap companies. From March 1994 to January 2000, Mr. Larson served
as President of PH Development and Land Company, an Arizona real estate investment firm. Mr. Larson received an MBA degree from the University of Arizona
and a BA degree in economics from Colorado State University.

      John A. Kelly (age 43) has served as Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Smith & Wesson
Corp., since August 1994. In addition, from October 1984 to July 1994, Mr. Kelly served in a variety of finance and accounting positions at Smith & Wesson
Corp., including Accounting Manager and Director of Accounting. Mr. Kelly received a BS degree in business administration with a major in accounting and an
MS degree in accounting, both from Western New England College.

      Daniel A. Larson (age 37) has served as the Company’s General Counsel since June 2002. From April 1997 to June 2002, Mr. Larson was an attorney with
Gammage & Burnham PLC, specializing in corporate and securities law. Mr. Larson received a BS degree in business administration and a JD degree from the
University of Arizona.

      Pursuant to the terms of a Promissory Note & Loan Agreement dated May 6, 2001 between the Company and Colton Melby, Mr. Melby has certain observer
rights for so long as he owns at least 5% of the Company’s shares; these observer rights do not apply during periods when Mr. Melby or his representative serves
on the Board of Directors. There are no family relationships between any of the directors and executive officers except that Sherry Noreen is Mitchell Saltz’ wife
and Damian Larson and Daniel Larson are brothers.

      The information required by this Item with respect to compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act is incorporated by reference from the information
provided under the heading “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” contained in the Company’s Proxy Statement to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the solicitation of proxies for the Company’s Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on
September 18, 2002 (the “Proxy Statement”).

Item 10.     Executive Compensation

      The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from the information provided under the heading “Executive Compensation” of the Proxy
Statement.

 
Item 11.     Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

      The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from the information provided under the heading “Information Regarding
Beneficial Ownership Of Principal Stockholders And Management” of the Proxy Statement.

 
Item 12.     Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

      The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference form the information provided under the heading “Certain Transactions” of the
Proxy Statement.

36



 

 
Item 13.     Exhibits, Financial Statements and Reports on Form 8-K

      (a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

       
Page

Number

1.  Financial Statements:     
  Report of Independent Auditors   F-1 
  Consolidated Balance Sheet at April 30, 2002   F-2 
  Consolidated Statements of Operations for each of the two years     
  in the period ended April 30, 2002   F-3 
  Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the two years     
  in the period ended April 30, 2002   F-5 - F-6 
  Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements   F-7 - F-27 
  Exhibits included or incorporated herein: See Exhibit Index.     

      (b) Reports on Form 8-K:

      On April 12, 2002, the Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K announcing the exercise of a warrant and the conversion of a promissory note into
shares of Common Stock by Colton Melby, a director of the Company.
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SIGNATURES

      In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the registrant caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

 SMITH & WESSON HOLDING CORPORATION,
 a Nevada corporation

 By: /s/ MITCHELL A. SALTZ
 
 Mitchell A. Saltz
 Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

      KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Mitchell A. Saltz and Daniel A.
Larson, his/her attorneys-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, for him/her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Report on Form 10-K,
and to file the same, with Exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or substitute or substitutes may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

      Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

       
Signature Title Date

 
/s/ MITCHELL A. SALTZ

Mitchell A. Saltz
 

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer and Principal Accounting

Officer)
 

July 29, 2002

 
/s/ ROBERT L. SCOTT

Robert L. Scott
 

President and Director
 

July 29, 2002

 
/s/ COLTON MELBY

Colton Melby
 

Executive Vice President and Director
 

July 29, 2002

 
/s/ DAMIAN A. LARSON

Damian A. Larson
 

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)
 

July 29, 2002

 
/s/ SHERRY NOREEN

Sherry Noreen
 

Secretary and Director
 

July 29, 2002

 
/s/ JAMES MINDER

James Minder
 

Director
 

July 29, 2002
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors

Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation
Scottsdale, AZ

      We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation as of April 30, 2002, and the consolidated
statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years ended April 30, 2002 and 2001. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

      We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

      In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Smith & Wesson
Holding Corporation as of April 30, 2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years ended April 30, 2002 and 2001, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

 /s/ STONEFIELD JOSEPHSON, INC.
 
 Certified Public Accountants

Santa Monica, California

July 3, 2002
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SMITH & WESSON HOLDING CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET — APRIL 30, 2002

       
ASSETS

Current assets:     
 Cash and cash equivalents  $ 13,703,401 
 Marketable securities   7,539,274 
 Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $271,450   11,928,765 
 Inventories   19,365,075 
 Other current assets   2,599,254 
 Income tax receivable   211,803 
    
  Total current assets   55,347,572 
    
Property, plant and equipment, net   7,510,865 
Intangibles, net   3,375,004 
Collateralized cash deposits   21,000,000 
    
  $ 87,233,441 
    

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities     
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 23,995,025 
 Deferred income   1,597,674 
 Note payable, related party   357,425 
 Due to Walther USA, LLC, net of investment deficit   529,353 
    
  Total current liabilities   26,479,477 
    
Notes payable   45,000,000 
    
Other non-current liabilities   10,835,221 
    
Commitments and contingencies (Note 18)   — 
Stockholders’ equity:     

 
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 100 million shares authorized 29,683,613

shares issued and outstanding   27,552 
 Additional paid-in capital   16,514,646 
 Accumulated deficit   (11,623,455)
    
  Total stockholders’ equity   4,918,743 
    
  $ 87,233,441 
    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SMITH & WESSON HOLDING CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

           
Year Ended Year Ended

April 30, 2002 April 30, 2001

Net sales  $76,546,503  $ 36,735 
Cost of goods sold   56,865,700   14,652 
       
Gross Profit   19,680,803   22,083 
       
Operating expenses:         
 Research and development   629,189   367,658 
 Selling and marketing   8,075,218   426,962 
 General and administrative   9,024,320   2,410,194 
 Impairment of goodwill   —   328,120 
       
  Total operating expenses   17,728,727   3,532,934 
       
Income/(loss) from operations   1,952,076   (3,510,851)
       
Other income/(expense):         
 License income, net   1,180,528   — 
 Interest income   879,923   10,082 
 Interest expense   (9,404,759)   (674,803)
       
   (7,344,308)   (664,721)
       
Loss before income taxes   (5,392,232)   (4,175,572)
Income taxes   70,598   — 
       
Net loss  $ (5,462,830)  $ (4,175,572)
       
Weighted average number of common equivalent shares outstanding, basic and

diluted   20,566,883   13,672,682 
       
Net loss per share, basic and diluted  $ (0.27)  $ (0.31)
       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SMITH & WESSON HOLDING CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

For the Years Ended April 30, 2002 and 2001
                     

Common Stock Additional Total
Paid-in Accumulated Stockholder’s

Shares Amount Capital Deficit Equity

Balance at May 1, 2000   10,112,147  $ 7,981  $ 2,238,423  $ (1,985,053)  $ 261,351 
Issuance of common stock during private

placement, net   1,600,000   1,600   198,400       200,000 

Convertibility feature of debentures issued           118,281       118,281 
Conversion of debt to equity   4,450,687   4,450   995,550       1,000,000 
Issuance of warrants for services related to

debt financing           380,000       380,000 
Issuance of warrants for services           165,000       165,000 
Issuance of common stock for services to

unrelated parties   1,468,521   1,469   639,446       640,915 
Issuance of common stock for services to

officer   300,000   300   53,700       54,000 

Net loss for the year ended April 30, 2001               (4,175,572)   (4,175,572)
                
Balance at April 30, 2001   17,931,355   15,800   4,788,800   (6,160,625)   (1,356,025)
Issuance of warrants for services related to

debt financing           4,562,500       4,562,500 
Issuance of common stock for services

related to debt financing   875,000   875   436,625       437,500 

Issuance of common stock for services
related to acquisition   200,000   200   239,800       240,000 

Issuance of common stock during private
placement   1,375,424   1,375   2,268,075       2,269,450 

Exercise of warrants   9,094,500   9,095   3,928,705       3,937,800 
Issuance of common stock for services   207,334   207   290,141       290,348 
Net loss for the year ended April 30, 2002               (5,462,830)   (5,462,830)
                
Balance at April 30, 2002   29,683,613  $27,552  $16,514,646  $(11,623,455)  $ 4,918,743 
                

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SMITH & WESSON HOLDING CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

            
Year Ended Year Ended

April 30, 2002 April 30, 2001

Cash flows provided by (used for) operating activities:         
 Net loss  $ (5,462,830)  $(4,175,572)

 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash provided by (used for)

operating activities:         
  Amortization and depreciation   927,502   124,669 
  Income tax benefit   —   — 
  Stock compensation for services rendered   290,348   859,915 

  
Interest expense, including debt issue costs and beneficial conversion

feature   5,114,000   567,250 
  Loss from impairment of goodwill   —   328,120 
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         
 (Increase) decrease in assets:         
  Accounts receivable   (4,191,344)   (3,904)
  Inventories   4,536,759   (21,780)
  Other current assets   4,889,991   (189,460)
 Increase (decrease) in liabilities:         
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses   (2,791,803)   631,995 
  Deferred income   (15,032)   — 
       
   Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities   3,297,591   (1,878,767)
       
Cash flows provided by (used for) investing activities:         
 Net cash and cash equivalents acquired from business combination   28,598,168   — 
 Payments to acquire marketable securities   (28,539,274)   — 
 Proceeds from loans receivable and certificate of deposit   7,385,000   — 
 Payments for patent costs   (133,220)   — 
 Payments to acquire property and equipment   (2,441,224)   (27,733)
       
   Net cash used for investing activities   4,869,450   (27,733)
       
Cash flows provided by (used for) financing activities:         
 Payments on loans and notes payable, unrelated parties   (10,500,000)   — 
 Payments on loans and notes payable, related party   (5,240,000)     
 Payments for financing costs related to convertible debentures   —   (133,000)
 Proceeds from sale of convertible debentures   —   950,000 
 Proceeds from loans and notes payable, related parties   —   145,000 
 Proceeds from loans and notes payable, unrelated parties   15,000,000   500,000 
 Proceeds from sale of securities   2,269,450   200,000 
 Proceeds from exercise of warrants to acquire common stock   3,937,800   — 
       
   Net cash provided by financing activities   5,467,250   1,662,000 
       
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   13,634,291   (244,500)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   69,110   313,610 
       
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $ 13,703,401  $ 69,110 
       
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:         
Cash paid for —         
 Interest, including related party  $ 4,065,759  $ 107,553 
       
 Income taxes  $ 283,450  $ 800 
       
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing and investing activities:         
 Issuance of stock for services, including acquisition related  $ 530,348  $ 859,915 
       
 Shares and warrants issued to raise debt to acquire Smith & Wesson Corp.  $ 5,000,000  $ — 
       
 Payments on behalf of the Company to acquire Smith & Wesson Corp.  $ 5,000,000  $ — 
       
 Note issued to Tomkins as consideration to acquire Smith & Wesson Corp.  $ 10,000,000  $ — 
       
 Conversion of debt  $ —  $ 1,000,000 



       
 Convertibility feature related to debentures sold and issue costs  $ —  $ 681,250 
       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SMITH & WESSON HOLDING CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — (Continued)

      A summary of net cash and cash equivalents arising from the acquisition of Smith & Wesson Corp. is as follows:

       
Acquisition cost:     
 Cash paid on May 11, 2001  $ 5,000,000 
 Taxes receivable, Tomkins, collected by April 30, 2002   (464,500)
 Acquisition costs (accounted as adjustments to purchase price)   888,000 
 Note payable, Tomkins, repaid by April 30, 2002   10,000,000 
    
 Total consideration given up   15,423,500 
    
As of May 11, 2001:     
Fair values of assets acquired:     
 Accounts receivable   (7,733,517)
 Inventory   (23,880,054)
 Collateralized cash deposits   (5,150,000)
 Other current assets   (1,287,519)
 Due from Tomkins Corporation   (7,235,000)
 Receivable from Walther USA, LLC   (689,343)

 
Property, plant and equipment, at fair value and net of negative goodwill

allocation of $22,813,565   (5,851,435)
 Intangibles, at fair value and net of negative goodwill allocation of $13,144,260   (3,355,740)
    
   (55,182,608)
    
 Fair values of liabilities assumed:     
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses   23,677,083 
 Deferred income   1,612,707 
 Other non-current liabilities   13,067,486 
 Note payable, Tomkins   30,000,000 
    
   68,357,276 
    
  Net cash and cash equivalents acquired  $ 28,598,168 
    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SMITH & WESSON HOLDING CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Years Ended April 30, 2002 and 2001
 
(1) Organization and Business Activity:

     Organization:

      Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation, (the “Company”) was incorporated on June 17, 1991 in the State of Nevada as De Oro Mines, Inc. The Company’s
original Articles of Incorporation provided for 1,000,000 shares of common stock with a par value of $0.01 per share. From its inception, De Oro Mines, Inc. was
a development stage company primarily engaged in the business of developing mining properties. During 1992, De Oro lost its remaining assets and settled its
liabilities, and remained dormant until 1996.

      On August 15, 1996, the shareholders of the Company authorized the recapitalization of the Company and the amendment of its Articles of Incorporation to
allow the corporation to issue up to 100,000,000 shares of a single class of common stock with a par value of $0.001 per share. The amended Articles were duly
adopted as stated and were filed on October 16, 1996 with the State of Nevada.

      Effective October 20, 1998, the Company acquired the assets of Saf-T-Hammer, Inc. and changed its name from De Oro Mines, Inc. to Saf-T-Hammer
Corporation. The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method. Prior to this agreement becoming effective, the Company had a total of 532,788
shares of common stock issued and outstanding. Pursuant to the Asset Acquisition Agreement, the Company issued 1,331,250 shares of common stock to Saf-T-
Hammer, Inc., which then resulted in a total of 1,864,038 shares of common stock being issued and outstanding.

      On May 11, 2001, the Company purchased all of the outstanding stock of Smith & Wesson Corp. for $15,000,000 from Tomkins Corporation. (See Note 2 —
“Acquisition of Smith & Wesson Corp.”). Smith & Wesson Corp. was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on January 13, 1987. Smith & Wesson
Corp. has been in business since 1852, during which period ownership has changed on a few occassions. Prior to incorporation on January 13, 1987, Smith &
Wesson Corp. operated as a division of Lear Siegler. On June 9, 1987, Tomkins Corporation (“Tomkins”), a company organized under the laws of the State of
Delaware, acquired all the outstanding stock of the Company.

     Business Activity:

      The Company (i) manufactures and sells its patented firearm safety devices throughout the world, and (ii) through its subsidiary Smith & Wesson Corp.,
manufactures firearms and related products and accessories for sale through its distribution network and to public safety and military agencies in the United States
and throughout the world.

      The Company has two manufacturing facilities (in Springfield, Massachusetts and Houlton, Maine), both of which are used primarily to manufacture its
products. However, the Company also uses its manufacturing capabilities at the Springfield facility to manufacture and process component parts for a number of
other companies in a variety of industries.

     Name Change:

      At a special meeting held February 14, 2002, and at the recommendation of the Board of Directors, the Company’s shareholders approved a change of the
Company’s name to “Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation.”

     Change of Fiscal Year End:

      On June 29, 2001, the Company changed its fiscal year end from December 31 to April 30. Accordingly, pursuant to Regulation § 240.13a-10 (Rule 13a-10)
“Transition reports” of the 1934 Act, the required consolidated financial statements for the transition period from January 1, 2001 to April 30, 2001 have
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SMITH & WESSON HOLDING CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

previously been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-QSB. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared
to present the results of operations and its cash flows for the years ended April 30, 2002 and 2001.

(2) Acquisition of Smith & Wesson Corp.:

     The Acquisition:

      Pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Acquisition Agreement”) dated as of May 11, 2001 between Tomkins and Smith & Wesson Holding
Corporation (“SMWS”), SMWS acquired (the “Acquisition”) all of the issued and outstanding shares of the Smith & Wesson Corp. (“Smith & Wesson”). As a
result of the Acquisition, Smith & Wesson became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The Company paid $14,535,500 (the “Purchase Price”) in
exchange for all of the issued and outstanding shares of Smith & Wesson as follows:

 • $5 million (See the “Melby Loan”) of which was paid at closing in cash;
 
 • $10 million must be paid on or before May 11, 2002 pursuant to the terms of an unsecured promissory note issued by the Company to Tomkins (the

“Acquisition Note”). The Acquisition Note accrues interest at a rate of 9% per year.
 
 • A receivable of $464,500 due from Tomkins to SMWS.

      The Purchase Price was the result of arm’s length negotiations between the Company and Tomkins. This acquisition has been accounted for under the
purchase method pursuant to APB 16, “Business Combinations.”

     Acquisition Note:

      Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, the Company issued a promissory note in the amount of $10 million as partial consideration for the acquisition of
Smith & Wesson. This note was due on May 11, 2002, was unsecured and bore interest at 9% per annum. During March 2002, the Company obtained a bank loan
(See Note 16) and paid off the entire Acquisition Note balance.

     Tomkins Note:

      The Acquisition Agreement requires the Company to guaranty Smith & Wesson’s existing obligations to Tomkins under a promissory note issued on
April 30, 1997 by Smith & Wesson to Tomkins (the “Tomkins Note”). The original Tomkins Note was in the amount of $73,830,000, due April 30, 2004 and bore
interest at the rate of 9% per annum. Prior to the Acquisition, Tomkins contributed to the capital of Smith & Wesson, $23,830,000 of the Tomkins Note, thereafter
leaving a balance of $50,000,000. Immediately subsequent to the Acquisition, Smith & Wesson paid $20,000,000 of the Tomkins Note. The outstanding principal
balance on the Tomkins Note is $30,000,000 and bears interest at 9% per annum. In satisfaction of this condition, the Company executed a guaranty in favor of
Tomkins dated May 11, 2001. The terms of the Tomkins Note were amended as follows:

       (a) Commencing on May 11, 2001, the due date was extended by ten years to May 11, 2011;
 
       (b) The unpaid principal balance shall be paid in 84 equal monthly payments commencing on May 11, 2004;
 
       (c) Until paid in full, dividends declared and paid to the Company shall not exceed $600,000 for the twelve month period ended May 11, 2002, and may

not exceed $1,800,000 for annual periods thereafter;
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SMITH & WESSON HOLDING CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

       (d) Until the payment of $10 million under the Acquisition Note owed by the Company to Tomkins, Smith & Wesson shall not, either directly or
indirectly, incur, assume, guaranty, or otherwise become liable to any indebtedness, except in the ordinary course of business (this balance was paid in March
2002);

 
       (e) Smith & Wesson shall not liquidate, wind-up or dissolve any business assets, including tangible and intangible assets; and
 
       (f) In the event of default by the Company on the Acquisition Note, or default by Smith & Wesson on the Tomkins Note, the Tomkins Note shall be

accelerated and become due and payable in full immediately. In addition, any change in control of the Company or Smith & Wesson, will accelerate the
Tomkins Note and will become due and payable in full immediately.

     The Melby Loan:

      The initial payment of $5 million was obtained as a loan from an individual, pursuant to a Promissory Note & Loan Agreement dated May 6, 2001 between
the Company and this individual (the “Melby Note”). Interest accrued on the Melby Note at a rate of 12% per annum and matured on May 15, 2002. Pursuant to
the terms of the Melby Note, the Company prepaid the annual interest of $600,000 at a rate of 12% on May 14, 2001 and matured on May 15, 2002. Related to
this loan, the Company also granted warrants, to purchase in aggregate, approximately 8.7 million shares at exercise prices ranging from $0.40 per share to $2.00
per share.

      Using the Black Scholes Option pricing model, debt issue costs of $5 million (including a fair value of $4,562,500 for 8.7 million warrants for the underlying
common shares and 875,000 common shares valued at $437,500) were netted against the proceeds of the loan. The entire debt issue cost was amortized over the
life (1 year) of the Melby Note using the effective interest method (effective rate of 140%) into interest expense pursuant to EITF-00-27. During March 2002, the
Company obtained a bank loan (See Note 16) and paid off the entire Melby Note. During the year ended April 30, 2002, the Company amortized the debt issue
cost of $5,000,000 and related prepaid interest of $600,000 as interest expense.

      As mentioned above, in consideration for making this loan to the Company, the Company issued to Colton Melby, a current director of the Company, a
Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated May 6, 2001 (the “Melby Warrant”). The Melby Warrant allowed Mr. Melby to purchase up to 7,094,500 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $.40 per share, subject to adjustment as set forth therein. The Melby warrant was exercisable immediately and would have
expired six years from the date of issuance (See Note 19). Also in consideration for the Note, the Company issued Common Stock Purchase Warrants, each dated
May 11, 2001, to three affiliates of Mr. Melby (the “Affiliate Warrants”). The Affiliate Warrants allowed each holder to purchase up to 300,000 shares of common
stock at an exercise price of (a) $.80 per share if exercised on or before May 21, 2001, (b) $2.00 per share if exercised from May 22, 2001 through June 30, 2001,
and (c) $5.00 per share if exercised after June 30, 2001. The Affiliate Warrants were exercisable immediately and would have expired one year from the date of
issuance. As a portion of a finder’s fee for arranging the Melby Note, the Company issued Common Stock Purchase Warrants, each dated May 11, 2001, to two
unrelated parties (the “Finders Warrants”). The Finders Warrants expire two years from the date of issuance and allow each holder to purchase up to 354,725
shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.00 per share. The Company relied upon Section 4(2) of the Securities Act with respect to the issuance of these
Warrants.

      A summary of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of May 11, 2001, is presented on the accompanying consolidated statements of cash
flows. The unaudited pro forma balance sheet, results of operations and net loss per share information, arising from the acquisition of Smith & Wesson Corp., for
each period presented, assuming that the acquisition had occurred as of the beginning of the earliest period
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SMITH & WESSON HOLDING CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

presented and after giving effect to proforma adjustments have previously been presented on Form 8-K/ A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
July 30, 2001.

(3) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

     Principles of Consolidation:

      The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiaries —
Smith & Wesson Corp., Smith & Wesson Firearms Training Centre GMBH (Germany), Smith & Wesson Distributing, Inc. (United States) and Smith & Wesson,
Inc. (United States). All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

     Use of Estimates in Preparation of Financial Statements:

      The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting periods. Operating results in the future could vary from the amounts
derived from management’s estimates and assumptions. In addition, future facts and circumstances could alter management’s estimates with respect to the
adequacy of insurance reserves.

     Fair Value of Financial Instruments:

      Unless otherwise indicated, the fair values of all reported assets (except for certain marketable securities) and liabilities, which represent financial
instruments, none of which are held for trading purposes, approximate the carrying values of such amounts.

     Revenue Recognition:

      Revenues from the sale of products are recognized when title to the products are transferred to the customer (product shipment) and only when no further
contingencies or material performance obligations are warranted, and thereby have earned the right to receive and retain payments for products shipped and
billed. The Company recognizes tooling, forging and engineering support revenues after acceptance by the customer and only when no further contingencies or
material performance obligations are warranted, and thereby have earned the right to receive and retain payments for services performed and billed.

     Segment Information:

      The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.” SFAS 131 requires public
companies to report financial and descriptive information about their reportable operating segments. The Company identifies its operating segments based on how
management internally evaluates separate financial information (if available), business activities and management responsibility. The management believes it
operates in a single business segment and adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. Through April 30, 2002
and 2001, there have been no material foreign operations.

     Cash:

      Equivalents — For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents include all highly liquid debt instruments with original maturities of three
months or less which are not securing any corporate obligations.

      Concentration — The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts, which, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not
experienced any losses in such accounts.
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     Marketable Securities:

      The Company accounts for investment under the provisions of SFAS No. 115 “Accounting for Certain Investment in Debt and Equity Securities”. Investment
securities are classified into one of three categories: held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, or trading. Securities are considered held-to-maturity when the Company
has the positive intent and ability to hold the securities to maturity. These securities are recorded as either short-term investments or long-term marketable
securities on the balance sheet depending upon their original contractual maturity dates. Held-to-maturity securities are stated at amortized cost, including
adjustments for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts. Securities are considered trading when bought principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term. Trading securities are recorded as short-term investments and are carried at market value. Unrealized holding gains and losses on trading securities are
included in operating income. Securities not classified as held-to-maturity or as trading are considered available-for-sale. Available for sale securities are recorded
as either short-term investments or long-term marketable securities and are carried at market value with unrealized gains and losses included in other
comprehensive loss in stockholders’ equity.

     Inventories:

      Inventories, consisting primarily of finished firearms components, finished firearms and related products and accessories, are valued at the lower of cost or
market using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. An allowance for potential non-saleable inventory due to excess stock or obsolescence is provided based upon
a detailed review of inventory components, past history and expected future usage.

      Smith & Wesson accounted for its inventory, valued at the lower of cost or market, using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method until its acquisition by Saf-T-
Hammer Corporation on May 11, 2001, when it adopted the accounting policy (FIFO method) of Saf-T-Hammer Corporation. For financial accounting and
reporting purposes, the Company accounted for the inventory acquired on May 11, 2001 using the fair value method, which did not have any allowances or
reserves. For tax purposes, the LIFO reserve as of May 11, 2001 approximated $14.8 million, for which a deferred tax liability of approximately $5.9 million was
recorded. Under the Internal Revenue Code, the change in accounting method for its inventory for tax purposes from LIFO to FIFO requires the Company to
reverse its LIFO reserve into income over an equal four-year period (25% per year). The Company plans to utilize its deferred tax assets, consisting primarily of
net operating loss carryforwards and accrued liabilities to offset the LIFO to FIFO adjustment taxable income.

     Deferred Revenues:

      Deferred revenues represent deposits and prepayments from customers for products and services for which the revenue is not yet recognizable as the title has
not transferred for products shipped or services have not yet been fully performed. Management expects to have fully earned the deferred revenues within a 12-
month period and they will be recognized into revenues at that time.

     Other Comprehensive Income:

      The Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Board No. 130 requires companies to report all components of comprehensive income in their financial
statements, including all non-owner transactions and events which impact a company’s equity, even if those items do not directly affect net income/(loss).
Comprehensive income/(loss) is comprised of net income/(loss), and accordingly, no statement of Comprehensive Income/(Loss) is presented.
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     Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of:

      The provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Board No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived
Assets to be Disposed Of” requires that long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of
the carrying amount of an asset to future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be
recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amounts of the assets exceed the fair values of the assets. In assessing the impairment of these
identifiable intangible assets, identifiable goodwill will be allocated on a pro rata basis using fair values of the assets at the original acquisition date. In estimating
expected future cash flows for determining whether an asset is impaired and if expected future cash flows are used in measuring assets that are impaired, assets
will be grouped at the lowest level (entity level) for which there are identifiable cash flows that are largely independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets.
Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. In recording an impairment loss, related goodwill would
be reduced to zero before reducing the carrying amount of any identified impaired asset. During the year ended April 30, 2002, there was no impairment to have a
material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or liquidity. During the year ended April 30, 2001, the Company recognized a goodwill
impairment loss of $328,120.

     Property, Plant and Equipment:

      Property, plant and equipment consisting of land, building, improvements, machinery, equipment, computers, furniture and fixtures are recorded at cost (fair
value at the date of acquisition), and are depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are
charged to earnings as incurred; additions, renewals and betterments are capitalized. When property and equipment are retired or otherwise disposed of, the
related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective accounts, and any gain or loss is included in operations. A summary of the estimated
useful lives is as follows:

     
Description Useful Life

Building and improvements   10 to 40 years 
Machinery and equipment   2 to 10 years 
Furniture and fixtures   2 to 10 years 
Computers and software   3 to 5 years 

     Goodwill:

      On March 31, 2000, the Company entered into a Stock Exchange Agreement (“Agreement”) with MRC Legal Services LLC to acquire 800,000 shares
(approximately 80%) of Lost Coast Ventures, Inc., a Delaware Corporation, in exchange for 200,000 shares of its restricted common stock. Pursuant to this Stock
Exchange Agreement, immediately following the closing of this Agreement, the shareholders caused Lost Coast Ventures, Inc. to complete a reverse stock split
and acquire the remaining 20% of outstanding shares of Lost Coast Ventures, Inc. for nominal cash. In relation to the Stock Exchange Agreement with MRC
Legal Services LLC, the Company also entered into a consulting agreement to negotiate and close the Agreement with certain individuals. Pursuant to this
Agreement, the Company paid $100,000 cash and issued 250,000 shares of its common stock immediately upon the execution of the stock exchange with the Lost
Coast shareholders. This business combination was accounted using the purchase method of accounting and accordingly, the purchase price ($437,500) in excess
of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed was recorded as goodwill of $437,500. During the year ended April 30, 2001, management
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determined that the carrying amount of the net goodwill balance far exceeded the future net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated, and accordingly,
recognized an impairment loss of $328,120.

     Net Loss Per Share:

      Basic net earnings (loss) per share are determined by dividing the net earnings or (loss) by the weighted average shares of common stock outstanding during
the period. Diluted net earnings or (loss) per share are determined by dividing the net earnings or (loss) by the weighted average shares of common stock
outstanding plus the dilutive effects of stock options and warrants. Common equivalent shares are not included in the computation of loss per share for the years
ended April 30, 2002 and 2001 because the effect would be anti-dilutive.

     Stock-Based Compensation:

      The Company accounts for stock-based employee compensation arrangements in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and complies with the disclosure provisions of SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”.
Under APB 25, compensation cost is recognized over the vesting period based on the excess, if any, on the date of grant of the fair value of the Company’s shares
over the employee’s exercise price. When the exercise price of the employee share options is less than the fair value price of the underlying shares on the grant
date, deferred stock compensation is recognized and amortized to expense in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 28 over the vesting period of the
individual options. Accordingly, if the exercise price of the Company’s employee options equals or exceeds the market price of the underlying shares on the date
of grant, no compensation expense is recognized. Options or shares awards issued to non-employees or non-employee directors are valued using the fair value
method and expensed over the period services are provided.

     Product Liability:

      The Company provides for product liability claims, the provision for which management believes is adequate. Provisions for product liability are evaluated
on an ongoing basis and any adjustments are charged to cost of sales.

     Warranty:

      The Company generally provides a life-time warranty to the “original” purchaser of its firearms products. The Company maintains a warranty reserve for
warranty expense based on historical experience and expected future trends. Warranty expense for the year ended April 30, 2002 amounted to approximately
$1,091,000. Warranty expense is accrued upon the recognition of revenues and determined based upon historical warranty activity.

     Insurance Reserves:

      The Company is “self-insured” (defined as excessive loss re-insurance) through retentions or deductibles for the majority of its workers’ compensation,
automobile, general liability, product liability and group health insurance programs. Self-insurance amounts vary up to $2,000,000 per occurrence. The
Company’s liability for estimated premiums and incurred losses are actuarially determined and recorded in the accompanying consolidated financial statements
on an undiscounted basis.

     Recent Accounting Pronouncements:

      In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 “Business Combinations.” SFAS No. 141 supersedes Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) No. 16 and
requires that any business combinations initiated after
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June 30, 2001 be accounted for as a purchase; therefore, eliminating the pooling-of-interest method defined in APB 16. The statement is effective for any business
combination initiated after June 30, 2001 and shall apply to all business combinations accounted for by the purchase method for which the date of acquisition is
July 1, 2001 or later. The adoption did not have a material impact to the Company’s financial position or results of operations since the Company has not
participated in such activities covered under this pronouncement after the effective date.

      In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangibles.” SFAS No. 142 addresses the initial recognition, measurement and
amortization of intangible assets acquired individually or with a group of other assets (but not those acquired in a business combination) and addresses the
amortization provisions for excess cost over fair value of net assets acquired or intangibles acquired in a business combination. The statement is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, and is effective July 1, 2001 for any intangibles acquired in a business combination initiated after June 30, 2001.
The Company does not expect the adoption to have a material impact to the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

      In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” which requires companies to record the fair value of a
liability for asset retirement obligations in the period in which they are incurred. The statement applies to a company’s legal obligations associated with the
retirement of a tangible long-lived asset that results from the acquisition, construction, and development or through the normal operation of a long-lived asset.
When a liability is initially recorded, the company would capitalize the cost, thereby increasing the carrying amount of the related asset. The capitalized asset
retirement cost is depreciated over the life of the respective asset while the liability is accreted to its present value. Upon settlement of the liability, the obligation
is settled at its recorded amount or the company incurs a gain or loss. The statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 30, 2002. The Company does
not expect the adoption to have a material impact to the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

      In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”. Statement 144 addresses the
accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. The statement provides a single accounting model for long-lived assets to be
disposed of. New criteria must be met to classify the asset as an asset held-for-sale. This statement also focuses on reporting the effects of a disposal of a segment
of a business. This statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. The Company does not expect the adoption to have a material
impact to the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

      In April 2002, the FASB issued Statement No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and
Technical Corrections.” This Statement rescinds FASB Statement No. 4, “Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt”, and an amendment of that
Statement, FASB Statement No. 64, “Extinguishments of Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking-Fund Requirements” and FASB Statement No. 44, “Accounting for
Intangible Assets of Motor Carriers”. This Statement amends FASB Statement No. 13, “Accounting for Leases”, to eliminate an inconsistency between the
required accounting for sale-leaseback transactions and the required accounting for certain lease modifications that have economic effects that are similar to sale-
leaseback transactions. The Company does not expect the adoption to have a material impact to the Company’s financial position or results of operations.
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(4) Marketable Securities:

      A summary of marketable securities as of April 30, 2002 is as follows:

     
Trading securities (cost of $1,000,291)  $ 1,003,159 
Certificates of deposit and money funds   27,536,115 
    
   28,539,274 
Less non-current portion   21,000,000 
    
  $ 7,539,274 
    

      Pursuant to the Bank Loan agreement (See Note 16), the Company is obligated to maintain a net balance equal to the face amount of the bank loan plus any
open letters of credit ($21,000,000 at April 30, 2002). Accordingly, management has presented $21,000,000 as a non-current asset on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet.

(5) Accounts Receivable and Major Customer:

      One customer accounted for approximately 12% of the Company’s net sales for the year ended April 30, 2002. This customer owed the Company
approximately $1,593,000 or 13% as of April 30, 2002.

(6) International Sales:

      The Company sells its products worldwide. A breakdown of international and export sales, which accounted for 16% of net sales for the year ended April 30,
2002, are as follows:

      
Net Sales by Region

Europe  $ 3,858,000 
Asia   4,055,000 
Latin America   4,203,000 
All others   564,000 
    
 Total  $12,680,000 
    

(7) Advertising Costs:

      Advertising costs, consisting primarily of magazine advertisements and printed materials, are expensed as incurred. For the years ended April 30, 2002 and
2001, advertising expenses amounted to approximately $2,140,000 and $181,000, respectively.

 
(8) Inventories:

      A summary is as follows:

     
Finished goods  $ 9,145,571 
Finished parts   7,484,680 
Work in process   1,654,719 
Raw materials   1,080,105 
    
  $19,365,075 
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(9) Property, Plant and Equipment:

      A summary is as follows:

     
Machinery and equipment  $6,364,894 
Building and improvements   1,399,022 
Land and improvements   494,572 
    
   8,258,488 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   747,623 
    
  $7,510,865 
    

      Depreciation and amortization expense amounted to $760,125 and $15,289 for the years ended April 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

 
(10) Intangibles:

      Intangible assets are recorded at cost (fair value at date of acquisition) and arose from the Company’s acquisition of Smith & Wesson and purchase of
trademarks, trade names, customer lists, and patents. These intangibles are being amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives
ranging from ten to twenty years.

      A summary is as follows:

     
Trademark, tradename and customer list  $3,343,276 
Patents   199,105 
    
   3,542,381 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   167,377 
    
  $3,375,004 
    

      Amortization expense amounted to $167,377 and $109,380 for the years ended April 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

 
(11) Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities:

      Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities as of April 30, 2002 is approximately $1,651,000 of checkbook overdraft.

 
(12) Related Party Transactions:
 
     Payable to Walther USA, LLC, net of Investment Deficit

      On April 1, 2000, the Company’s subsidiary, Smith & Wesson, acquired 50% interest in Walther USA, LLC, a joint venture with Carl Walther USA, LLC.
Each member contributed $50,000. Walther USA purchases and sells the “Walther” brand handguns worldwide. Neither the Company, Smith & Wesson Corp.,
nor its management have management control of Walther USA. The Company provides limited procurement and employee support services. Accordingly, this
joint venture has been accounted for under the equity method of accounting, whereby, the Company’s share of its net income and losses are adjusted for in the
Investment in Walther USA account. The members of Walther USA, LLC had chosen December 31 as its fiscal year end. Effective January 1, 2002, the members
agreed to dissolve Walther USA,
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LLC and Smith & Wesson Corp. acquired all the firearms inventory at cost. A summary of the transactions with Walther USA, LLC is as follows:

       
Year Ended

April 30, 2002

Due from/(to) Walther USA, LLC:     
 Beginning balance  $ 887,047 
 Plus procurement and fees earned   11,000 
 Less purchases   (2,200,080)
 Plus payments/ collections   981,569 
    
  Ending balance   (320,464)
    
Investment in Walther USA:     
 Beginning balance  $ (260,704)
 Capital contribution   — 
 50% equity in net income of Walther USA   51,815 
    
  Net investment deficit in Walther USA   (208,889)
    
  Net balance due, as presented on the consolidated balance sheet  $ (529,353)
    

 
     Carl Walther GMBH

      Carl Walther GMBH sells products to the Company. Neither the Company nor its management have any control over the management of Carl Walther
GMBH. A summary of transactions with Carl Walther GMBH is as follows:

     
Year Ended

April 30, 2002

Due to Carl Walther GMBH (included in accounts payable on the
consolidated balance sheet):     

Beginning balance — advances  $ (589,955)
Plus purchases   1,070,749 
Less payments   (200,348)
    
Ending balance — payable  $ 280,446 
    

 
(13) Benefit Plans:
 
     Contributory Defined Investment Plan

      The Company’s subsidiary, Smith & Wesson offers a contributory defined investment plan covering substantially all employees who have completed at least
6 months of service, as defined. Employees may contribute from 1% to 18% of their annual pay, with Smith & Wesson matching 50% of the first 6% of combined
pre and post-tax compensation. The Company contributed approximately $569,000 for the year ended April 30, 2002. Contributions for 2001 are not presented as
Smith & Wesson was not acquired until May 11, 2001.

 
     Non-contributory Profit Sharing Plan

      The Company’s subsidiary, Smith & Wesson, also has a non-contributory profit sharing plan. Employees are eligible on May 1 following their completion of
a full fiscal year of continuous service. Smith & Wesson,
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contributes 15% of its net operating profit before interest and taxes, as defined, to the plan each year. Smith & Wesson contributed approximately $820,000 for
the year ended April 30, 2002. Contributions are funded after year-end. Contributions for 2001 are not presented as Smith & Wesson was not acquired until
May 11, 2001.

 
     Retirement Incentive Program

      Prior to 1991, Smith & Wesson, offered a program that provided health care to retirees until age 65. The program was terminated in 1991, but employees who
had a combined age and years of service equal to 70 as of December 31, 1996 were grandfathered in the program. The grandfather provision provides varying
degrees of coverage based upon years of service as of December 31, 1990. There are currently 15 retirees covered by the program and 21 active employees who
are grandfathered under the plan. The post retirement medical liability is based upon actuarial reports as provided by an independent consultant. The post
retirement medical liability as of April 30, 2002 amounted to approximately $423,000, all of which is included in accrued liabilities on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet. Annual expense for the year ended April 30, 2002 amounted to $35,000. Contributions for 2001 are not presented as Smith & Wesson
was not acquired until May 11, 2001.

      The following table sets forth the Postretirement Medical and Life Plan’s status and amounts recognized in the Company’s Retirement Incentive Program.
The financial position at April 30, 2002 is as follows:

     
Actuarial present value of benefit obligations:     
Accumulated benefit obligation, including vested benefits of $214,441  $214,441 
    
Projected benefit obligation for service rendered to date   208,924 
Plan assets   — 
    
Unpaid pension cost   208,924 
    
  $423,365 
    
Beginning balance, April 30, 2001  $505,817 
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost/ (income)   (47,452)
Payments during the year ended April 30, 2002   (35,000)
    
Balance at April 30, 2002  $423,365 
    

      Net periodic postretirement benefit cost/(income) for the year ended April 30, 2002, included the following components:

     
Service costs — benefits earned during the period  $ 3,273 
Net amortization   (64,900)
Interest costs on projected benefit obligation   14,175 
    
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost/ (income)  $(47,452)
    

      The weighted-average discount rate and rate of increase in future per capita cost of covered health care benefits for retirees used in determining the actuarial
present value of the projected benefit obligation was 7.0%.

(14) Self Insurance Reserves:

      As of April 30, 2002, Smith & Wesson had reserves for workers compensation and product liability totaling approximately $11,768,000, of which,
$7,350,000 has been classified as non-current and the remaining amounts are included in accounts payable and accrued expenses on the accompanying
consolidated balance
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sheet. While management believes these reserves to be adequate, there exists a possibility that the ultimate liabilities will exceed such estimates.

      Following is a summary of the activity in the workers’ compensation and product liability reserves for the year ended April 30, 2002:

     
Year Ended

April 30, 2002

Beginning balance, at acquisition of Smith & Wesson  $14,703,000 
Provision, net of reserve adjustments   669,000 
Payments   (3,604,000)
    
Ending balance  $11,768,000 
    

(15) Note Payable, Related Party:

      Note payable, related party, bears interest at 10% per annum on the average balance outstanding, is unsecured and was due on September 30, 2002. Pursuant
to the terms of this loan agreement, the Company may borrow, through September 30, 2000, up to a limit of $500,000 for use in the Company’s normal course of
business. Pursuant to the terms of this agreement dated September 30, 1999, interest payments were due on January 15th and July 15th. In the event that the
Company fails to make timely interest payments within 90 days from its due date, the loans would become payable on demand. As of April 30, 2002, the
Company owed $357,425 under this loan agreement. Subsequent to April 30, 2002, the Company repaid this note in full.

(16) Notes Payable:

     Bank Letters of Credit Facility

      During August 2001, the Company’s subsidiary, Smith & Wesson (“Borrower”) entered into an agreement for a general business purpose line of credit
facility. Pursuant to the terms of this agreement, Smith & Wesson may borrow up to $8 million for letters of credit. The outstanding balance accrues interest at the
prime rate (4.75% on July 3, 2002), and is due on demand. If the Company borrows or issues any letters of credit against this line, the Borrower will
automatically pledge, assign, transfer and grant to the lender, a continuing lien and security interest in all of the Borrower’s liquid assets maintained with the
lender. As of April 30, 2002, the Company had open letters of credit aggregating $5.8 million.

     Bank Loan

      During March 2002, the Company entered into a specific purpose loan agreement with its bank. Pursuant to the terms of this agreement, the Company
borrowed $15 million to pay the Acquisition Note and the Melby Note related to the acquisition of Smith & Wesson Corp. (see Note 2). The outstanding balance
accrues interest at a rate of 5.85% per annum, and is collaterized by liquid assets of the Company, up to the face aggregate amount of the obligation. Interest is
payable monthly and the principal is payable in monthly payments of $166,060 starting April 28, 2002, and is due in full by March 28, 2012.

     Tomkins Note

      The Acquisition Agreement requires the Company to guaranty Smith & Wesson’s existing obligations to Tomkins under a promissory note issued on
April 30, 1997 by Smith & Wesson to Tomkins (the “Tomkins Note”). The original Tomkins Note was in the amount of $73,830,000, due April 30, 2004 and bore
interest at the rate of 9% per annum. Prior to the Acquisition, Tomkins contributed to the capital of Smith & Wesson, $23,830,000 of the Tomkins Note, thereafter
leaving a balance of $50,000,000. Immediately subsequent to the
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Acquisition, Smith & Wesson paid $20,000,000 of the Tomkins Note. As of April 30, 2002, the outstanding principal balance on the Tomkins Note is
$30,000,000. In satisfaction of this condition, the Company executed a guaranty in favor of Tomkins dated May 11, 2001. The terms of the Tomkins Note were
amended as follows:

       (a) Commencing on May 11, 2001, the due date was extended by ten years to May 11, 2011;
 
       (b) The unpaid principal balance shall be paid in 84 equal monthly payments commencing on May 11, 2004;
 
       (c) Until paid in full, dividends declared and paid to the Company shall not exceed $600,000 for the twelve month period ended May 11, 2002, and may

not exceed $1,800,000 for annual periods thereafter;
 
       (d) Until the payment of $10 million under the Acquisition Note owed by the Company to Tomkins, Smith & Wesson shall not, either directly or

indirectly, incur, assume, guaranty, or otherwise become liable to any indebtedness, except in the ordinary course of business (this balance was repaid in
March 2002);

 
       (e) Smith & Wesson shall not liquidate, wind-up or dissolve any business assets, including tangible and intangible assets; and
 
       (g) In the event of default by the Company on the Acquisition Note, or default by Smith & Wesson on the Tomkins Note, the Tomkins Note shall be

accelerated and become due and payable in full immediately. In addition, any change in control of the Company or Smith & Wesson, will accelerate the
Tomkins Note and will become due and payable in full immediately.

(17) Income Taxes:

      The Company uses an asset and liability approach for financial accounting and reporting of income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined
based on temporary differences between financial reporting and tax basis assets and liabilities and are measured by applying enacted tax rates and laws to taxable
years in which differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance was recorded to reduce deferred tax assets to an amount that represents
the Company’s best estimate of the amount of such deferred tax assets that are likely to be realized. Further, the effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a
change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

      The Company files consolidated Federal and separate or consolidated state income tax returns in states in which it conducts business. Smith & Wesson is
obligated to pay the Company its allocable share of the consolidated corporation tax liability, determined as if Smith & Wesson were filing a separate income tax
return. A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes at statutory rates to the provision reported in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

          
Year Ended Year Ended

April 30, 2002 April 30, 2001

Federal income taxes (benefit) expected at 34% statutory rate  $(1,927,000)  $(1,420,000)
State income taxes (benefit), less federal income tax benefit   47,000   (75,000)
Interest expense (warrant issue cost)   1,739,000   160,000 
Other, for which no tax benefit is available   23,598   145,000 
Change in valuation allowance   188,000   1,190,000 
       
 Total provision  $ 70,598  $ — 
       

      The change in valuation allowance does not reflect $8.8 million of deferred tax asset valuation allowance arising from the acquisition of Smith & Wesson and
accounted for under the purchase method at acquisition date.
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      The income tax provision (benefit) is comprised of the following:

           
Year Ended Year Ended

April 30, 2002 April 30, 2001

Current:         
 Federal  $ —  $ — 
 State   70,598   — 
       
Total current   70,598   — 
Deferred   —   — 
       
  Total provision  $70,598  $ — 
       

      Future tax benefits (deferred tax liabilities) relate to temporary differences on the following:

           
Year Ended Year Ended

April 30, 2002 April 30, 2001

Current tax assets (liabilities):         
 Environmental reserves  $ 185,000  $ — 
 Inventory reserves   1,016,000   — 
 Product liability   1,615,000   — 
 Accrued expenses, including compensation   2,830,000   — 
 Other   1,010,000   — 
 Section 481 LIFO to FIFO adjustment   (1,306,000)   — 
 Property taxes   (192,000)   — 
 Less valuation allowance   (5,158,000)   — 
       
  Net deferred tax asset (liability) — current   —   — 
       
Non-current tax assets (liabilities):         
 Net operating loss carryforwards   3,150,000   1,790,000 
 Environmental reserves   1,330,000   — 
 Product liability   2,188,000   — 
 Property, plant and equipment   2,588,000   — 
 Section 481 LIFO to FIFO adjustment   (2,702,000)   — 
 Intangibles   (1,145,000)   — 
 Less valuation allowance   (5,409,000)   (1,790,000)
       
  Net deferred tax asset (liability) — non-current   —   — 
       
  Net tax asset (liability) — total  $ —  $ — 
       

      Federal net operating loss carryforwards amounted to $8.8 million and $4.8 million as of April 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively, which start to expire in 2017.
State net operating loss carryforwards amounted to $5.5 million and $4.8 million as of April 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively, most of which expire from 2003 to
2006. In the opinion of management, a valuation allowance has been established for the net deferred tax asset, as its utilization is not reasonably assured.
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(18) Commitments and Contingencies:

     Litigation

      The Company, together with other firearms manufacturers and certain related organizations, is a co-defendant in various legal proceedings involving product
liability claims and is aware of other product liability claims including allegations of defective product design, manufacturing, negligent marketing and/or
distribution of firearms leading to personal injury(s) including wrongful death. The lawsuits and claims are based principally on the theory of “strict liability” but
also may be based on negligence, breach of warranty and other legal theories. In many of the lawsuits, punitive damages, as well as compensatory damages, are
demanded. Aggregate claimed amounts presently exceed product liability accruals and, if applicable, insurance coverage. Management believes that, in every
case, the allegations of defective product design are unfounded, and that the accident and any results therefrom were due to negligence or misuse of the firearm by
the claimant or a third party and that there should be no recovery against the Company.

      In addition, the Company is also co-defendant in various legal proceedings brought by certain cities, municipalities and counties, against numerous firearms
manufacturers, distributors and dealers seeking to recover damages allegedly arising out of the misuse of firearms by third parties in shootings. The complaints by
municipalities seek damages, among other things, for the costs of medical care, police and emergency services, public health services, and the maintenance of
courts, prisons, and other services. In certain instances, the plaintiffs seek to recover for decreases in property values and loss of business within the city due to
increased criminal violence. In addition, nuisance abatement and/or injunctive relief is sought to change the design, manufacture, marketing and distribution
practices of the various defendants. These suits allege, among other claims, strict liability or negligence in the design of products, public nuisance, negligent
entrustment, negligent distribution, deceptive or fraudulent advertising, violation of consumer protection statutes and conspiracy or concert of action theories.

      The Company’s management monitors the status of known claims and the product liability accrual, which includes amounts for asserted and unasserted
claims. While it is difficult to forecast the outcome of these claims, in the opinion of management, after consultation with litigation counsel, it is uncertain
whether the outcome of these claims will have a material adverse effect on the results of operations or financial condition of the Company, as management
believes that it has provided adequate reserves.

  Environmental Remediation

      The Company is subject to numerous federal, state and local laws which regulate the discharge of materials into, or otherwise relate to the protection of, the
environment. These laws have required, and are expected to continue to require, the Company to make significant expenditures of both a capital and expense
nature. Several of the more significant federal laws applicable to the Company’s operations include the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (“CERCLA”) and the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation and
Recovery Act (“RCRA”).

      The Company has in place programs and personnel that monitor compliance with various federal, state and local environmental regulations. In the normal
course of its manufacturing operations, the Company is subject to occasional governmental proceedings and orders pertaining to waste disposal, air emissions and
water discharges into the environment. The Company will fund its environmental costs through cash flows from operating revenue and expects to do so in the
future. Smith & Wesson believes that it is in compliance with applicable environmental regulations in all material respects.

      The Company is required to remediate hazardous waste at Company owned facilities. Currently, a site in Springfield, Massachusetts is subject to four
remediation projects as part of the Massachusetts Contingency
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Plan (MCP). The MCP provides a structured environment for the voluntary remediation of regulated releases. The Company may be required to remove
hazardous waste or remediate the alleged effects of hazardous substances on the environment associated with past disposal practices at sites not owned by the
Company. The Company has received notice that it is a potentially responsible party from the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and/or individual states
under CERCLA or a state equivalent at one site.

      The Company has reserves of $4.1 million ($3.5 million as non-current), at net present value, for remediation of the sites referred to above and other
environmental costs in accordance with its policy to record liabilities for environmental expenditures when it is probable that obligations have been incurred and
costs can be reasonably estimated. The Corporation’s estimates of these costs are based upon currently available facts, existing technology, and presently enacted
laws and regulations. Where the available information is sufficient to estimate the amount of liability, that estimate has been used; where the information is only
sufficient to establish a range of probable liability and no point within the range is more likely than any other, the lower end of the range has been used.

      Based on information known to the Company, management does not expect current environmental regulations or environmental proceedings and claims to
have a material adverse effect on the results of operations or financial conditions of the Company. However, it is not possible to predict with certainty the impact
on the Company of future environmental compliance requirements or of the cost of resolution of future environmental proceedings and claims, in part because the
scope of the remedies that may be required is not certain, liability under federal environmental laws is joint and several in nature, and environmental laws and
regulations are subject to modification and changes in interpretation. There can be no assurance that environmental regulation will not become more burdensome
in the future and that any such development would not have a material adverse effect on the Company.

  Contracts

      Employment Agreements — The Company has entered into arms length employment agreements with certain officers and managers to retain their expertise
in the ordinary course of business.

      Other Agreements — The Company has various arms length distribution agreements with various third parties in the ordinary course of business.

      Rental Lease — The Company leases its office facility and retail space under operating leases that expire at various times through May 2005 with annual
rental commitment of approximately $300,000.

(19) Stockholders’ Equity:

  Common Stock

      The Company had 10,112,147 shares issued and outstanding as of May 1, 2000.

      In March 2000, the Company commenced an offering to issue convertible debentures with a face value of $1,000,000 under Rule 504 of Regulation D. The
debentures were convertible into common stock at the discretion of the holder at a 25% discount off of the trading price. Net proceeds received amounted to
$950,000. Upon issuance, the Company recorded interest expense of $118,280, based upon a calculated amount of the five preceding days stock prices, in
accordance with guidance under Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) 98-5: Accounting for Convertible Securities with Beneficial Conversion Features or
Contingently Adjustable Conversion Ratios. Pursuant to this EITF, the beneficial conversion feature of $118,280 is calculated at its intrinsic value at the
commitment date and charged to expense at the date of issuance inasmuch as the debentures are immediately convertible into equity. The Company also paid debt
issue costs of $133,000, all of which has been charged to interest expense using the interest method (effective interest rate of 31%) as of April 30, 2001. As of
December 31, 2000, $841,000 of the debentures had been
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converted into 2,651,658 shares of common stock at an average price of $0.317 per share. During January 2001, the remaining $159,000 of the debentures were
converted into 1,799,029 shares of common stock at an average price of $0.09 per share.

      In July 2000, the Company issued 7,500 shares of its restricted common stock to its legal counsel, an accredited investor, in exchange for legal services
rendered.

      In addition, in September 2000, the Company issued 380,500 shares of its restricted common stock to key consultants in exchange for services rendered.
Compensation expense of $203,700 has been recorded, which was calculated at a 20% discount of the trading price of the underlying stock.

      In November 2000, the Company conducted a Private Placement of 1,600,000 of its restricted common stock. The Company sold a total of 1,600,000 shares
resulting in net proceeds of $200,000.

      In December 2000, the Company authorized the issuance of 300,000 shares of its restricted common stock to an officer as a bonus and payment for services
rendered. Compensation expense of $54,000 has been recorded, which was calculated at a 20% discount of the trading price of the underlying stock.

      During January 2001 to March 2001, the Company issued 1,080,521 shares of its restricted common stock to its to key consultants and individuals in
exchange for services rendered. Compensation expense of $437,215 has been recorded, which was calculated at an average price of $0.41 per share over the
service period of the trading price of the underlying stock.

      During May 2001, the Company issued 200,000 shares, valued at the trading price of $1.20 per share or $240,000, to three unrelated individuals for services
rendered in connection with the acquisition of Smith & Wesson Corp. Accordingly, the entire cost of $240,000 has been accounted for as acquisition cost of
Smith & Wesson.

      In relation to the capital needed to acquire Smith & Wesson Corp. on May 11, 2001, the Company granted warrants to purchase, in aggregate, approximately
8.7 million shares at exercise prices ranging from $0.40 per share to $2.00 per share. Using the Black Scholes Option pricing model, debt issue costs of $5 million
(including a fair value of $4,562,500 for 8.7 million warrants for the underlying common shares and 875,000 common shares valued at fair value of $437,500)
were netted against the proceeds of the loan. The entire debt issue cost was amortized over the life (1 year) of the note using the effective interest method
(effective rate of 140%) into interest expense pursuant to EITF-00-27.

      During the year ended April 30, 2001, no warrants were exercised. However, during the year ended April 30, 2002, warrants were exercised as follows:

       (a) During May 2001, 750,000 warrants were exercised by affiliated of a related party at $0.80 per share for net proceeds of $600,000. These warrants
were granted in relation to the financing of the Note (see Note 2).

 
       (b) During March 2002, 7,094,500 warrants were exercised by a related party at $0.40 per share for net proceeds of $2,837,800. These warrants were

granted in relation to the financing of the Note (see Note 2).
 
       (c) During April 2002, 1,250,000 warrants were exercised by unrelated parties at $0.40 per share for net proceeds of $500,000. These warrants were

granted in relation to the short term loan of $500,000.

      During March 2002, the Company sold 1,375,424 shares of the Company’s common stock to a significant shareholder and director for net proceeds of
$2,269,450, at a price of $1.65 per share, which equaled the trading price.

      During the year ended April 30, 2002, the Company issued 207,334 shares of the Company’s common shares to various consultants for services rendered and
hence, recorded compensation expense of $290,348.
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  Stock Warrants

      The Company issued warrants related to the financing of debt used for the acquisition of Smith & Wesson Corp., as incentive bonuses to employees and
directors, and as compensation to outside consultants during 2002 and 2001.

      During February 2001, the Company issued 1,250,000 warrants to purchase 1,250,000 shares underlying the Company’s common stock at an exercise price
of $0.40 per share. These warrants were issued in consideration for a short term loan ($500,000) obtained from these individuals and accordingly, the fair value
using Black Scholes pricing model of $380,000 or $0.31 per share for these warrants were accounted for as debt issue costs. Pursuant to EITF 00-27, debt issue
costs should be amortized over the life (six months) of the note using the effective interest method (approximately 160%). During the year ended April 30, 2002
and 2001, the Company amortized $114,000 and $266,000 into interest expense, respectively. The unpaid interest plus the principal balance was paid back in July
2001.

      During March 2001, the Company issued 300,000 warrants to purchase 300,000 shares underlying the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of
$0.50 per share to two consultants. These warrants were issued in consideration for services rendered in relation to potential acquisition targets and accordingly,
the fair value using Black Scholes pricing model of $165,000 or $0.55 per share for these warrants were accounted for as compensation costs, and charged
directly to expense during the year ended April 30, 2001.

      In consideration for past services to the Company, including services rendered in connection with the acquisition of Smith and Wesson, the Company issued a
Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated May 11, 2001 (formerly approved by the Board of Directors on April 24, 2001), to Mitchell Saltz, Chief Executive
Officer and a director of the Company and a director of Smith & Wesson (the “Saltz Warrant”). The Saltz Warrant entitles Mr. Saltz to purchase up to 5,000,000
shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.89 per share, subject to adjustment as set forth therein. The Saltz Warrant is exercisable immediately and
expires five years from the date of issuance. The Company relied upon Section 4(2) of the Securities Act with respect to the issuance of the Saltz Warrant.

      In consideration for past services to the Company, including services rendered in connection with the acquisition of Smith and Wesson, the Company issued a
Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated May 11, 2001 (formerly approved by the Board of Directors on April 24, 2001), to Robert L. Scott, President and a
director of both the Company and Smith & Wesson (the “Scott Warrant”). The Scott Warrant entitles Mr. Scott to purchase up to 5,000,000 shares of common
stock at an exercise price of $.89 per share, subject to adjustment as set forth therein. The Scott Warrant is exercisable immediately and expires five years from
the date of issuance. The Company relied upon Section 4(2) of the Securities Act with respect to the issuance of the Scott Warrant.

      The following outlines the activity related to the warrants for the period indicated:

                 
2002 2001

Average Average
Exercise Exercise

Number Price Number Price

Outstanding at the beginning of the year   11,550,000  $0.83   —  $ — 
Outstanding at the end of the year   11,159,450  $0.89   11,550,000  $0.83 
Granted during the year   8,703,950  $0.49   11,550,000  $0.83 
Exercised during the year   9,094,500  $0.43   —  $ — 
Exercisable at the end of the year   11,159,450  $0.89   11,550,000  $0.83 
Canceled/forfeited during the year   —  $ —   —  $ — 
Weighted average remaining life (years)   3.6       4.4     
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  Employee Stock Option Plan

      The Company adopted the Employee Stock Option Plan (“the SOP”). The SOP authorizes the issuance of up to 10,000,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock pursuant to the exercise of the options granted thereunder. The Board of Directors administers the SOP, selects recipients to whom options are granted and
determines the number of shares to be awarded. Options granted under the SOP are exercisable at a price determined by the Board of Directors at the time of
grant, but in no event less than fair market value. Grants of options may be made to employees and directors without regard to any performance measures. All
options issued pursuant to the SOP are nontransferable and subject to forfeiture. The term of the SOP, unless previously terminated by the board, is ten years or
May 14, 2011. Any options granted under the SOP shall become exercisable over a period of no longer than ten (10) years. Unless otherwise specified by the
Board or the Committee in the resolution authorizing such option, the date of grant of an option shall be deemed to be the date upon which the Board or the
Committee authorizes the granting of such option. During the years ended April 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company granted 1,550,000 and 0 options under the SOP,
respectively. Under this grant, none of the options granted will vest before October 2002.

      The number and weighted average exercise prices of options granted under the SOP, for the years ended April 30, 2002 and 2001 are as follows:

                 
2002 2001

Average Average
Exercise Exercise

Number Price Number Price

Outstanding at the beginning of the year   —  $ —   —  $ — 
Outstanding at the end of the year   1,550,000  $0.81   —  $ — 
Granted during the year   1,550,000  $0.81   —  $ — 
Exercised during the year   —  $ —   —  $ — 
Exercisable at the end of the year   —   —   —  $ — 
Canceled/forfeited during the year   —  $ —   —  $ — 
Weighted average remaining life (years)   9.0       —     

      Pro forma information regarding the effect on operations is required by SFAS 123, and has been determined as if the Company had accounted for its
employee stock options and warrants under the fair value method of that statement. Pro forma information using the Black-Scholes method at the date of grant
based on the following assumptions:

     
Expected life (years)   5-10 years 
Risk-free interest rate   6.0%
Dividend yield   — 
Volatility   150%

      Proforma information regarding net loss and loss per share, pursuant to the requirements of FASB 123 for the years ended April 30, 2002 and 2001 are as
follows:

                 
2002 2001

Historical Proforma Historical Proforma

Net loss  $5,462,830  $5,551,196  $4,175,572  $11,911,053 
             
Net loss per share — basic and diluted  $ 0.27  $ 0.27  $ 0.31  $ 0.87 
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     Employee Stock Purchase Plan

      The Company adopted an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“the ESPP”), which authorizes the sale of up to 10,000,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock to employees and directors. The ESPP became effective on April 1, 2002 and shall continue in effect for a term of ten (10) years unless sooner terminated.
The ESPP shall be implemented by a series of offering periods of twenty-four (24) months duration, with new offering periods commencing on or about April 1
and October 1 of each year (or at such other time or times as may be determined by the Board of Directors). The purchase price shall be equal to 85% of the fair
market value of a share of common stock on the offering date or on the purchase date, whichever is lower. A participant shall elect to have payroll deductions
made on each payday during the offering period in an amount not less than one percent (1%) and not more than twenty percent 20% (or such greater percentage
as the Board may establish from time to time before an offering date) of such participant’s compensation on each payday during the offering period. The first
offering period began on June 22, 2002 and will continue until March 31, 2004. Each offering period shall consist of four (4) consecutive purchase periods of six
(6) months’ duration. The last day of each purchase period shall be the purchase date for such purchase period. A purchase period commencing on April 1 shall
end on the next September 30. A purchase period commencing on October 1 shall end on the next March 31. The first purchase period shall commence on
June 22, 2002 and shall end on September 30, 2002. The Board of Directors of the Company shall have the power to change the duration and/or the frequency of
offering and purchase periods with respect to future offerings and purchases without stockholder approval if such change is announced at least five (5) days prior
to the scheduled beginning of the first offering period to be affected. The maximum number of shares an employee may purchase during each purchase period
shall be 12,500 shares. All options and rights to participate in the ESPP are nontransferable and subject to forfeiture in accordance with the ESPP guidelines. In
the event of a Corporate Transaction, each option outstanding under the ESPP shall be assumed or an equivalent option shall be substituted by the successor
corporation or a parent or Subsidiary of such successor corporation. During the year ended April 30, 2002, no transactions were consummated under the ESPP.
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Exhibit

No. Description

 2.1(2)  Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of May 11, 2001 between Tomkins Corporation, a Delaware corporation and Saf-T-Hammer
Corporation, a Nevada corporation, pursuant to which Saf-T-Hammer Corporation acquired Smith & Wesson Corporation.

 2.2(2)  Note issued by Saf-T-Hammer Corporation to Tomkins Corporation dated May 11, 2001.
 2.3(2)  Guaranty by and between Saf-T-Hammer Corporation and Tomkins Corporation dated May 11, 2001.
 2.4(2)  Promissory Note dated April 30, 1997 issued by Smith & Wesson Corp. to Tomkins Corporation.
 2.5(2)  First Amendment to Promissory Note dated May 11, 2001 between Tomkins Corporation and Smith & Wesson Corp.
 3.1(1)  Articles of Incorporation.
 3.2(1)  Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation filed on October 16, 1996.
 3.3(1)  Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation filed on May 12, 1998.
 3.4(1)  Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation filed on October 22, 1998.
 3.5(1)  Bylaws.
 3.6(5)  Amendment to the Bylaws dated November 2, 2001.
 3.7(7)  Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation filed on February 15, 2002.
 3.8(8)  Amendment to the Bylaws dated July 24, 2002.
 4.1(2)  Registration Rights Agreement between Saf-T-Hammer Corporation and Colton Melby dated May 6, 2001.
 4.2(2)  Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued to Bryan Saxwold and Corey Lambrecht.

 4.7(3)  Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated March 19, 2001 and issued to finders in connection with $500,000 short-term
loan.

 4.8(6)  2001 Stock Option Plan dated May 31, 2001.
 4.9(6)  Form of Option to 2001 Stock Option.
 4.10(6)  Employee Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of April 1, 2002.
 4.11(6)  Form of Subscription Agreement to Employee Stock Purchase Agreement.
 10.2(3)  Trademark Agency Agreement with UMAREX dated March 11, 2000.
 10.3(3)  Agreement with Walther/ UMAREX dated August 1, 1999.
 10.5(3)  Trademark License Agreement with UMAREX/ Gutman Cutlery dated July 1, 2000.
 10.6(3)  Executive Employment Agreement with Robert L. Scott dated May 11, 2001.
 10.12(3)  Agreement with Western Mass Electric dated July 6, 1998.
 10.13(3)  Agreement with Western Mass Electric dated December 18, 2000.
 10.14(3)  Settlement Agreement with Dept. of Treasury and HUD dated March 17, 2000.
 10.15(3)  Letter Agreement with Dept. of Treasury and HUD dated May 2, 2000.
 10.18(3)  Trademark License Agreement with Canadian Security Agency dated May 31, 1996.
 10.19(3)  Promissory Note & Loan Agreement with Smith & Wesson Corp. dated May 15, 2001.
 10.20(4)  Security Agreement with Smith & Wesson Corp. dated May 15, 2001.
 10.22(4)  Master Supply Agreement with Remington Arms dated August 1, 2001.
 10.23(5)  First Amendment to Promissory Note and Loan Agreement with Smith & Wesson Corp. dated November 2, 2001.
 10.24(8)  Commercial Promissory Note with Banknorth, N.A. dated March 28, 2002.
 10.25(8)  Loan Agreement with Banknorth, N.A. dated March 28, 2002.
 10.26(8)  Guaranty to Banknorth, N.A. dated March 28, 2002.
 10.27(8)  Guaranty from Smith & Wesson Corp. to Banknorth, N.A. dated March 28, 2002.
 10.28(8)  Solvency Certificate to Banknorth, N.A. dated March 28, 2002.



 

     
Exhibit

No. Description

 10.29(8)  First Modification to Loan and Security Agreement and Revolving Line of Credit Note with Banknorth, N.A. dated March 28,
2002.

 10.30(8)  Form of Wholesale Sporting Goods Distributor Agreement.
 10.31(8)  Form of Wholesale Law Enforcement Distributor Agreement.
 10.32(8)  Form of Law Enforcement Dealer Agreement.
 21.1(8)  Subsidiaries of the Company.
 23.1(8)  Consent of Stonefield Josephson, Inc.
 24.1  Power of Attorney (see signature page of this Annual Report on Form 10-KSB).

(1) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on April 4, 2000.
 
(2) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on May 29, 2001.
 
(3) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Form 10-QSB filed with the SEC on August 13, 2001.
 
(4) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Form 10-QSB filed with the SEC on September 14, 2001.
 
(5) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Form 10-QSB filed with the SEC on December 12, 2001.
 
(6) Incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the SEC on December 28, 2001.
 
(7) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Form 10-QSB filed with the SEC on March 18, 2002.
 
(8) Filed herewith.
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                           SECOND AMENDMENT TO BYLAWS 

                                       OF 

                       SMITH & WESSON HOLDING CORPORATION, 

                              A NEVADA CORPORATION 

 

 

      The Article III, Section 3 of the Bylaws is hereby amended and restated in 

its entirety as follows: 

 

            "To the extent allowed by the Articles of Incorporation, the number 

            of Directors of the Corporation shall be fixed from time to time by 

            resolution of the Board. Directors need not be shareholders of the 

            Corporation. The Directors of the Corporation shall be elected at 

            the annual meeting of the shareholders and shall serve until the 

            next annual or special meeting is properly called and they, or any 

            of them, are re-elected or until their successors have been elected 

            and qualified." 
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                            CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY 

                                       OF 

                       SMITH & WESSON HOLDING CORPORATION, 

                              A NEVADA CORPORATION 

 

 

      The undersigned, Sherry Noreen, does hereby certify that she is the 

Secretary of Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation, a Nevada corporation (the 

"Company"), and that the above and foregoing is a true, complete and correct 

copy of the Second Amendment to Bylaws of the Company, duly and regularly 

adopted by the Board of Directors effective as of July 24, 2001. 

 

      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has signed his name to this 

certificate this 24th day of July, 2001. 

 

 

 

                                  ------------------------------- 

                                  Sherry Noreen 

 

                                  Secretary 
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                           COMMERCIAL PROMISSORY NOTE 

 

$15,000,000.00                                                   March ___, 2002 

 

 

      FOR VALUE RECEIVED, Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation, a Nevada 

corporation having a chief executive office and principal place of business at 

14500 Northsight, Suite 221, Scottsdale, Arizona (the "Borrower") promises to 

pay to the order of Banknorth, N.A. (the "Lender"), at Lender's office located 

at 1441 Main Street, Springfield, Massachusetts, or at such other place as 

Lender may designate in writing, the principal sum of Fifteen Million and 00/100 

Dollars ($15,000,000.00), plus interest from the date hereof, all as hereinafter 

set forth. 

 

                                    INTEREST 

 

      Interest from the date hereof on the unpaid principal balance from time to 

time outstanding shall accrue at a fixed rate of five and eighty-five one 

hundredths percent (5.85%) per annum. Interest shall be calculated on the basis 

of actual days elapsed and a 360-day year. 

 

                                    REPAYMENT 

 

      Principal and interest due Lender hereunder shall be repaid as follows: 

 

      A. Commencing one (1) month from the date hereof and thereafter on the 

      same day of each succeeding month for a period of twenty-four (24) months, 

      monthly payments of interest only, in arrears, calculated at the above 

      rate of interest upon the unpaid principal due hereunder. 

 

      B. Commencing twenty-five (25) months from the date hereof and thereafter 

      on the same day of each succeeding month for a period of one hundred 

      twenty (120) months (and based upon an amortization period of ten (10) 

      years), equal monthly payments of principal and interest in the amount of 

      One Hundred Sixty Six Thousand Fifty Nine and 87/100 Dollars 

      ($166,059.87). 

 

      C. Any remaining unpaid principal, and all accrued interest thereon, shall 

      be due and payable IN FULL twelve (12) years from the date hereof. 

 

      Any payments received by Lender with respect to this Note prior to demand 

for payment, acceleration or maturity shall be applied first to any costs, 

expenses or charges due Lender from Borrower, second to any unpaid accrued 

interest hereunder, and third to the unpaid principal hereunder. Any payments 

received after demand for payment, acceleration or maturity shall be applied in 

such a manner as Lender shall determine. 
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      If any payment required hereunder is more than ten (10) days past due (in 

addition to interest accruing hereunder), a late charge of six (6.00%) percent 

of the overdue payment shall be charged to Borrower and be immediately due and 

payable to Lender. Any payment having a due date falling on a Saturday, Sunday, 

or legal holiday shall be due and payable on the next business day and interest 

shall continue to accrue during the extended period. 

 

      If any payment received by Lender with respect to this Note shall be 

deemed by a court of competent jurisdiction to have been a voidable preference 

or fraudulent conveyance under federal or state law, or otherwise due any party 

other than Lender, then the obligation for which the payment was made shall not 

be discharged by the payment and shall survive as an obligation due hereunder, 

notwithstanding Lender's return to Borrower or any other party of the original 

of this Note or any other instrument evidencing the obligation for which payment 

was made. 

 

      This Commercial Promissory Note is the Term Note referred to in, and is 

entitled to the benefits of, a Loan Agreement of even date herewith between 

Borrower and Lender (the "Loan Agreement"). The terms used herein which are 

defined in the Loan Agreement shall have their defined meanings when used 

herein. The Loan Agreement, among other things, contains provisions for 

acceleration of the maturity of this Note upon the happening of certain stated 

events. Borrower may prepay this Note from time to time in whole or part, 

provided it pays a prepayment premium as more fully described in the Loan 

Agreement. All prepayments (with prepayment defined herein as any payment of 

principal in advance of its due date) shall be applied against the principal 

payments due hereunder in the inverse order of their maturity. 

 

      Any and all deposits or other sums at any time credited by, or due to 

Borrower or any endorser or Guarantor hereof from, Lender under any loan 

arrangement between Lender and Borrower, and any cash, instruments, securities 

or other property of Borrower, and of any endorser or Guarantor hereof, now or 

hereafter in the possession of Lender or any loan participant under any loan 

arrangement between Lender and Borrower, whether for safekeeping or otherwise, 

shall at all times constitute security (and hereby remain subject to a pledge 

and grant of a security interest by Borrower and/or any Guarantor or endorser 

hereof) for the payment of this Note and all other Obligations, whether now 

existing or hereafter arising, of Borrower to Lender and may, following the 

occurrence of an Event of Default and while it is continuing, be applied or set 

off against such Note or other obligations at any time, whether or not then due. 

 

      This Note shall be in default, and all unpaid principal, interest, and 

other amounts due hereunder, shall, at Lender's option, be immediately due and 

payable, without prior notice, protest, or demand, upon the occurrence of an 

Event of Default, which is not cured or waived as allowed, only in accordance 

with the Loan Agreement. Default upon this Note shall also operate as a default 

upon all other Obligations of Borrower to Lender. 

 

      Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default hereunder, interest on the 

unpaid principal balance hereof, and to the extent permitted by law, on any 

accrued but unpaid interest hereon, shall, at Lender's option, accrue at a rate 

(the "Default Rate") equal to the lesser of (a) the highest 
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interest rate permitted by applicable law or (b) five percent (5%) per annum 

above the interest rate then in effect hereunder at the time of the Event of 

Default. 

 

      Borrower, and each endorser and Guarantor hereof, hereby waives 

presentment, demand, notice and protest and also waives any delay on the part of 

the holder hereof. Each also assents to (i) any extension, or other indulgence 

(including, without limitation, any release or substitution of collateral or of 

any direct or indirect obligor) permitted by Lender with respect to this Note 

and/or any collateral given to secure this Note and (ii) any extension or other 

indulgence, as described above, with respect to any other obligation or any 

collateral given to secure such other obligation of Borrower or any endorser or 

Guarantor to Lender. A discharge or release of any party directly or indirectly 

liable hereon shall not discharge or otherwise affect the liability of any other 

party directly or indirectly liable hereon. 

 

      No indulgence, delay, or omission by Lender in exercising or enforcing any 

of its rights or remedies hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof on that 

occasion nor on any other occasion. No waiver of any default hereunder shall 

operate as a waiver of any other default hereunder, nor as a continuing waiver 

of the same default hereunder. No waiver of a default or of any other right or 

remedy hereunder, nor any modification of any provision of this Note, shall be 

enforceable unless it is in writing and signed by the party against whom the 

waiver or modification is to be enforced. All of Lender's rights and remedies 

hereunder and under any other related loan documents shall be cumulative and may 

be exercised singularly or concurrently, at Lender's sole and exclusive 

discretion. 

 

      It is not intended under this Note to charge interest at a rate exceeding 

the maximum rate of interest permitted to be charged under applicable law, but 

if interest exceeding said maximum rate should be paid hereunder, the excess 

shall, at Lender's option, be (a) deemed a voluntary prepayment of principal not 

subject to the prepayment premium (if any) set forth in the Loan Agreement or 

(b) refunded to Borrower. 

 

      Borrower, and each endorser and Guarantor hereof, jointly and severally 

agree to pay on demand all costs and expenses, including, but not limited to, 

reasonable attorneys' fees, incurred by Lender in connection with the protection 

and/or enforcement of any of Lender's rights or remedies against Borrower or any 

such endorser or Guarantor (whether or not any suit has been instituted by or 

against Lender). 

 

      This Note shall be binding upon Borrower and each endorser and Guarantor 

hereof and upon their respective heirs, successors, and representatives, and 

shall inure to the benefit of Lender and its successors, endorsees and assigns. 

 

      The liabilities of the Borrower (and each co-maker, if any), and any 

endorser or Guarantor hereof, are joint and several. Each reference in this Note 

to the Borrower, any endorser and any Guarantor, is to such maker, co-maker (if 

any), endorser and Guarantor, individually, as well as collectively. No party 

obligated on account of this Note may seek contribution from any other party 

also obligated unless and until all obligations to Lender of the 
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party from whom contribution is sought have been satisfied in full. Each 

reference to Lender herein is to the named payee hereto or any subsequent holder 

hereof, and their respective successors, endorsees and assigns. 

 

      Borrower represents to Lender that the proceeds of this Note will not be 

used for personal, family or household purposes and that this loan is strictly a 

commercial transaction. 

 

      BORROWER, AND EACH ENDORSER AND GUARANTOR HEREOF, HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVE 

ALL RIGHTS TO A TRIAL BY JURY WITH RESPECT TO ANY ACTION OR CLAIM ARISING OUT OF 

ANY DISPUTE RELATING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, TO THIS NOTE AND/OR THE OTHER LOAN 

DOCUMENTS (IF ANY) EXECUTED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH AND EACH ALSO SUBMITS TO THE 

JURISDICTION OF THE COURTS OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS (AND THE FEDERAL 

COURTS SITUATED THEREIN) WITH RESPECT TO ALL CLAIMS CONCERNING THIS NOTE AND/OR 

ANY COLLATERAL SECURING THEIR RESPECTIVE LIABILITIES TO LENDER. 

 

      This Note shall be governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of 

Massachusetts, without regard to its principles of conflicts of laws, and shall 

take effect as a sealed instrument. 

 

      Signed under seal as of the day and year first above written. 

 

                                                SMITH & WESSON HOLDING 

                                                CORPORATION 

 

                                                BY: 

                                                     --------------------------- 

- ---------------------------------               Its duly authorized 

Witness 
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Exhibit 10.25 

 

 

                                 LOAN AGREEMENT 

 

         AGREEMENT made as of this ____ day of March 2002, by and between Smith 

& Wesson Holding Corporation, a Nevada corporation having a chief executive 

principal place of business at 14500 Northsight, Suite 221, Scottsdale, Arizona 

(hereinafter referred to as the "Borrower"), and Banknorth, N.A., a national 

banking association organized under the laws of the United States of America, 

having a usual place of business at 1441 Main Street, Springfield, Massachusetts 

(hereinafter referred to as the "Lender"). 

 

         1.00  DEFINITIONS AND ACCOUNTING TERMS 

 

         As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the following 

meanings (terms defined in the singular to have the same meaning when used in 

the plural and vice versa): 

 

         "Advance" means an Advance by Lender to Borrower in accordance with the 

terms and conditions of the Note, this Agreement, or any other Loan Documents. 

 

         "Affiliate" means any person controlling, controlled by, or under 

common control with Borrower. For purposes of this definition "Control" means 

the possession, directly or indirectly of the power to direct or cause direction 

of the management and policies of the Borrower, whether through ownership of 

common or preferred stock or other equity interests, by contract or otherwise. 

Without limiting the generality of the forgoing, each of the following shall be 

an Affiliate: Any officer, director, employee or other agent of Borrower, any 

shareholder or subsidiary of Borrower and any other Person with whom Borrower 

has common shareholders, officers and directors. 

 

         "Agreement" means this Loan Agreement as amended, supplemented, or 

modified from time to time. 

 

         "Available Amount" means a Fifteen Million and 00/100 Dollar 

($15,000,000.00) Term Loan. 

 

         "Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or other 

day on which commercial banks in Massachusetts are authorized or required to 

close under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. 

 

         "Cash Balance" means the sum of all cash, cash equivalents (as 

determined by GAAP), the Securities and the Annuities. 

 

         "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from 

time-to-time and the regulations and published interpretations thereof. 

 

         "Debt" means, as applied to any Person, as of any date of determination 

(without duplication): 

 

                  (a)      all obligations of such Person for borrowed money 

                           (whether or not represented by bonds, debentures, 

                           notes, drafts or other similar instruments) or 

                           evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes, drafts or 

                           similar instruments; 

 

                  (b)      all obligations of such Person for all, or any part 

                           of, the deferred purchase price of property or 

                           services, or for the cost of property constructed or 

                           of improvements thereon, including trade accounts 

                           payable incurred, in respect of property purchased, 

                           in the ordinary course of business, which are not 

                           overdue or which are being contested in good faith by 

                           appropriate proceedings and are not required to be 

                           classified on such Person's balance sheet, in 

                           accordance with GAAP, as debt; 

 

                  (c)      all obligations secured by any Lien on or payable out 

                           of the proceeds of production from property owned or 

                           held by such Person even though such Person has not 

                           assumed or become liable for the payment of such 

                           obligation; 
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                  (d)      all capital lease obligations of such Person; 

 

                  (e)      all obligations of such Person, contingent or 

                           otherwise, in respect of any letter of credit 

                           facilities, bankers' acceptance facilities or other 

                           similar credit facilities other than any such 

                           obligation which relate to an underlying obligation 

                           which otherwise constitutes Debt of such Person 

                           hereunder or a current account payable of such Person 

                           incurred in the ordinary course of business; 

 

                  (f)      all obligations of such Person upon which interest 

                           payments are customarily made; and 

 

                  (g)      all guaranties by such Person of or with respect to 

                           obligations of the character referred to in the 

                           foregoing clauses (a) through (f) of another Person; 

 

provided, however, that in determining the Debt of any Person, (i) all 

liabilities for which such Person is jointly and severally liable with one or 

more other Persons (including, without limitation, all liabilities of any 

partnership or joint venture of which such Person is a general partner or 

co-venturer) shall be included at the full amount thereof without regard to any 

right such Person may have against any such other Persons for contribution or 

indemnity, and (ii) no effect shall be given to deposits, trust arrangements or 

similar arrangements which, in accordance with GAAP, extinguish Debt for which 

such Person remains legally liable. 

 

         "Default" means any of the events specified in Section 9.00, whether or 

not any requirement for the giving of notice, the lapse of time, or both, or any 

other condition, has been satisfied. 

 

         "Environmental Law" means any past, present or future Federal, state, 

local or foreign statutory or common law, or any regulation, ordinance, code, 

plan, Order, permit, grant, franchise, concession, restriction or agreement 

issued, entered, promulgated or approved thereunder, relating to (a) the 

environment, human health or safety, including, without limitation, emissions, 

discharges, releases or threatened releases of oil and/or Hazardous Substances 

into the environment (including, without limitation, air, surface water, 

groundwater or land), or (b) the manufacture, generation, refining, processing, 

distribution, use, sale, treatment, receipt, storage, disposal, transport, 

arranging for transport, or handling of Hazardous Substances. 

 

         "Environmental Permits" means collectively, any and all permits, 

consents, licenses, approvals and registrations of any nature at any time 

required pursuant to or in order to comply with any Environmental Law. 

 

         "ERISA" means the Employment Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as 

amended from time-to-time, and the regulations and published interpretations 

thereof. 

 

         "Event of Default" means any of the events specified in Section 9.00, 

provided that any requirement (if any) for the giving of notice, the lapse of 

time, or both, or any other condition, has been satisfied. 

 

         "GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles consistently 

applied, in accordance with financial reporting standards from time-to-time in 

effect among nationally recognized certified public accounting firms in the 

United States. 

 

         "Governmental Body" means any Federal, state, municipal, local or other 

governmental department, commission, board, bureau, agency, instrumentality, 

political subdivision or taxing authority of any country. 

 

         "Guarantor" means Smith & Wesson Corp., a Delaware corporation with a 

usual place of business at 2100 Roosevelt Avenue, Springfield, Massachusetts. 

 

         "Hazardous Substances" means collectively, contaminants; pollutants; 

toxic or hazardous chemicals, substances, materials, wastes and constituents; 

petroleum products; polychlorinated biphenyls; medical wastes; infectious 

wastes; oil; asbestos; paint containing lead; and urea formaldehyde. 
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         "Insolvency" of the Borrower or any other person means that there shall 

have occurred with respect to that person one or more of the following events: 

dissolution, termination of existence, insolvency, business failure, appointment 

of a custodian, interim trustee, or trustee, of any part of the property of the 

Borrower, assignment or trust mortgage for the benefit of creditors by, or the 

voluntary or involuntary filing of a petition in bankruptcy or the commencement 

of any proceedings under any bankruptcy or insolvency laws, or any laws relating 

to the relief of debts, readjustment of indebtedness, reorganization, 

composition or extension, by or against Borrower. 

 

         "Lender" as used in this Agreement shall include the stated Lender 

herein and, except as the context may indicate a contrary intent, any successor 

in interest of the Lender. 

 

         "Lending Office" means the Lender's office at 1441 Main Street, 

Springfield, Massachusetts. 

 

         "Liabilities" of any Person shall mean and include all obligations of 

such Person which in accordance with GAAP shall be classified on a balance sheet 

of such Person as liabilities of such Person, and in any event shall include all 

(i) obligations of such Person for borrowed money or which has been incurred in 

connection with the acquisition of property or assets, (ii) obligations secured 

by any Lien or other charge upon property or assets owned by such Person, even 

though such Person has not assumed or become liable for the payment of such 

obligations, (iii) obligations created or arising under any conditional sale or 

other title retention agreement with respect to property acquired by such 

Person, notwithstanding the fact that the rights and remedies of the seller, 

lender, or lessor under such agreement in the event of default are limited to 

repossession or sale of property, (iv) obligations under Guaranties, and (v) 

obligations under any Capitalized Lease. 

 

         "Lien" means any mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, security interest, 

hypothecation, assignment, deposit arrangement, encumbrance, lien (statutory or 

other), or preference, priority, or other security agreement or preferential 

arrangement, charge, or encumbrance of any kind or nature whatsoever (including, 

without limitation, any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any 

financing lease having substantially the same economic effect as any of the 

foregoing, and the filing of any financing statement under the Uniform 

Commercial Code or comparable law of any jurisdiction to evidence any of the 

foregoing). 

 

         "Loan" means the Term Loan. 

 

         "Loan Documents" means this Agreement, any Note or other documents 

related to the transactions discussed in this Agreement. 

 

         "Long Term Lease" means any lease of property (real, personal or 

mixed), other than a Capital Lease, having a term (including terms of renewal or 

extension at the option of the lessee, whether or not such option has been 

exercised) expiring more than one year after the commencement of the initial 

term. 

 

         "Maturity Date" means twelve (12) years from the date hereof. 

 

         "Maximum Amount" means Fifteen Million and 00/100 Dollars 

($15,000,000.00). 

 

         "Multiemployer Plan" means a Plan described in Section 4001(a)(3) of 

ERISA. 

 

         "Note" means the Fifteen Million and 00/100 Dollar ($15,000,000.00) 

Term Note. 

 

         "Obligation" and "Obligations" shall mean any and all liabilities and 

obligations of the Borrower to the Lender of every kind and description, direct 

or indirect, absolute or contingent, primary or secondary, due or to become due, 

now existing or hereafter arising, regardless of how they arise or by what 

agreement or instrument they may be evidenced or whether evidenced by any 

agreement or instrument, and includes (i) the Term Note, (ii) any Letter or 

Letters of Credit (including Letter of Credit Notes), (iii) obligations to 

perform acts and refrain from taking action, as well as obligations to pay 

money, (iv) reimbursement obligations of the Borrower, pursuant to any 

documentation executed in conjunction with or related to the issuance by the 

Lender of any Letters of Credit, and/or (v) Guaranty Obligations of Borrower in 

favor of Smith & Wesson Corp. 
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         "PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or any entity 

succeeding to any or all of its functions under ERISA. 

 

         "Person" means an individual, partnership, corporation, liability 

company, business trust, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated association, 

joint venture, governmental authority, or other entity of whatever nature. 

 

         "Principal Office" means the Lender's office at 1441 Main Street, 

Springfield, Massachusetts. 

 

         "Prohibited Transaction" means any transaction set forth in Section 406 

of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code. 

 

         "Regulation D" means Regulation D of the Board of Governors of the 

Federal Reserve System as amended or supplemented from time-to-time. 

 

         "Reportable Event" means any of the events set forth in Section 4043 of 

ERISA. 

 

         "Security" shall have the same meaning as in Section 2(1) of the 

Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

 

         "Term Note" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 

2.03. 

 

         1.01 ACCOUNTING TERMS 

 

         All accounting terms not specifically defined herein shall be construed 

in accordance with GAAP consistent with those applied in the preparation of the 

financial statements, and all financial data submitted pursuant to this 

Agreement shall be prepared in accordance with such principles. 

 

         2.00 THE TERM LOAN FACILITY 

 

         2.01 THE TERM LOAN 

 

         A Fifteen Million and 00/100 Dollar ($15,000,000.00) Term Loan (the 

"Term Loan") will be made available to the Borrower. The Term Loan shall be 

repaid over a twelve (12) year term in accordance with the terms of the Term 

Note. 

 

         2.02 CALCULATION AND PAYMENT OF INTEREST 

 

         Interest on the Term Loan shall be calculated on the basis of a year of 

360 days for the actual number of days elapsed for any payment period. Interest 

on the Loans shall be paid in immediately available funds at either the 

Principal Office of the Lender or any branch thereof. Any principal amount not 

paid when due (at maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) shall bear interest 

thereafter until paid in full, payable on demand, at a rate per annum equal to 

the aggregate of the interest rate currently in effect on such Loan, as 

determined herein, plus five percent (5.00%). 

 

         2.03 THE TERM LOAN PROMISSORY NOTE 

 

         The Term Loan made by the Lender under this Agreement shall be 

evidenced by, and repaid with interest in accordance with a term promissory note 

substantially in the form of Exhibit "A" (the "Term Note"). 

 

         2.04 USE OF PROCEEDS 

 

         The Term Loan shall be used only to pay off an existing promissory note 

to Colten Melby in the amount of Five Million and 00/100 Dollars ($5,000,000.00) 

and to pay off an existing promissory note to Tomkins Corporation in the amount 

of Ten Million and 00/100 Dollars ($10,000,000,00). 

 

         3.00 THE GUARANTOR 
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         3.01 GUARANTOR'S AGREEMENT 

 

         Payment and performance of Borrower's Obligations shall be 

unconditionally guaranteed by the Guarantor, all as more fully described in 

Exhibit "B" attached hereto and incorporated by reference. 

 

         3.02 The Guaranty made by Guarantor shall be secured by a first 

security interest in the Guarantor's brokerage account held at Bancnorth 

Investment Planning Group, Account No. 74006311 (the "Securities") and annuities 

with various insurance companies (the "Annuities") having a minimum aggregate 

market equal to the sum of any applicable surrender charges, prepayment fees, 

early withdrawal fees and/or similar charges required in connection with any of 

the Annuities and/or Securities, and the Obligations. The Securities are valued 

on a discounted basis as follows: 

 

 

 

         Type of Security                                  Discount Factor 

         ----------------                                  --------------- 

                                                         

         Money Market Account                                     0% 

 

         Annuities                                                0% 

 

         United States Government Securities                     10% 

 

         Corporate Securities and Commercial Paper               30% 

 

         Corporate and Municipal Bonds                           20% 

 

 

         Guarantor, for valuable consideration received, hereby pledges, 

assigns, transfers and grants to Lender as security for the Obligations, a 

continuing lien and security interest in all of Guarantor's right, title and 

interest in and to, the following investment property and general intangibles 

consisting of annuity contracts, Securities, stocks, bonds, United States 

government securities, commercial paper and all income therefrom, increases 

therein and proceeds thereof maintained at and/or by: (1) PRIME VEST FINANCIAL 

SERVICES, INC., ACCOUNT NO. 74006311,(the "Account"); (2) Pacific Life Insurance 

Company Annuity - $1,000,000 - Contract No. SP01001834; (3) Pacific Life 

Insurance Company Annuity - $500,000 - Contract No. VR01050237; (4) Pacific Life 

Insurance Company Annuity - $9,000,000 - Contract No. SP01001732; (5) Keyport 

Insurance Trust I Annuity - $950,000 - Contract No. 0212493926-01; and (6) MFS 

Regatta Insurance Trust Annuity - $2,000,000 - Contract No. 93-9300-035978, 

together with products and proceeds thereof and all accessions and additions 

thereto and all replacements and substitutions therefore (hereinafter called the 

"Collateral"). The term "proceeds" shall include, without limitation, all types 

of classifications of non-cash proceeds acquired with cash proceeds. 

 

         The Guarantor shall at all times maintain Collateral having an 

aggregate market value (on a discounted basis subject to the Discount Factors 

set forth in the definition of Available Amount) of not less than the sum of any 

applicable surrender charges, prepayment fees, early withdrawal fees and/or 

similar charges required in connection with any of the Annuities and/or 

Securities, and the Obligations of the Guarantor to the Lender hereunder. 

Additional units or shares of investment securities (or other unrestricted, 

registered securities publicly traded on a nationally recognized stock exchange, 

or other additional collateral acceptable to the Lender) may from time to time 

be required by the Lender to be transferred to the Account, and the Guarantor 

agrees to do so within three (3) business days of notice and request from the 

Lender stating that the then aggregate market value of Collateral is less than 

the sum of any applicable surrender charges, prepayment fees, early withdrawal 

fees and/or similar charges required in connection with any of the Annuities 

and/or Securities, and the Obligations of the Guarantor to the Lender hereunder. 

Failure by the Guarantor to provide additional collateral having an aggregate 

market value (on a discounted basis subject to the Discount Factors set forth in 

the definition of Available Amount) equal to the difference between (i) the sum 

of any applicable surrender charges, prepayment fees, early withdrawal fees 

and/or similar charges required in connection with any of the Annuities and/or 

Securities, and (ii) the Obligations and the then aggregate market value of the 

Collateral shall constitute an Event of Default, and the Lender shall be 

entitled to liquidate the Collateral for application to the Obligations without 

further notice to the Guarantor. 
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         Provided that no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is 

continuing hereunder, the Lender, upon request of the Borrower or its authorized 

representatives, shall promptly make or cause to be made trades of investment 

securities held in the Account as Collateral for the Obligations. In addition, 

so long as no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing 

hereunder, the Lender, upon request of the Borrower or its authorized 

representatives, shall promptly transfer or withdraw or cause to be transferred 

or withdrawn from the Account and placed in an alternative account designated by 

the Borrower or delivered to the Borrower, as the case may be, cash or 

securities in such amounts up to that amount by which the then current aggregate 

market value of the Collateral (on a discounted basis subject to the Discount 

Factors set forth in the definition of Available Amount) exceeds the sum any 

applicable surrender charges, prepayment fees, early withdrawal fees and/or 

similar charges required in connection with any of the Annuities and/or 

Securities, and the Obligations. 

 

         4.00 GENERALLY 

 

         As to all Loans made pursuant to this Agreement: 

 

         4.01 CROSS DEFAULT 

 

         A default of any of the terms and conditions of: 

 

                  (i)      any Obligation, of the Borrower and/or Guarantor to 

                           the Lender (including, without limitation any 

                           reimbursement obligations arising out of any Letters 

                           of Credit which the Lender may later issue on behalf 

                           of the Borrower and/or Guarantor) or any document or 

                           instrument evidencing such an Obligation, or 

 

 

                  (ii)     the obligations of the Borrower and/or Guarantor 

                           under any Debt to any other lender or creditor 

                           resulting in default and/or acceleration of such Debt 

                           in excess of Five Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars 

                           ($500,000.00), 

 

shall constitute a default of the Note, this Agreement, and any other 

obligations of the Borrower and Guarantor to the Lender whether evidenced by 

notes or otherwise. 

 

         4.02 METHOD OF PAYMENT 

 

         All payments and prepayments of principal and all payments of interest, 

fees and other amounts payable hereunder shall be made by the Borrower to the 

Lender at its principal office OR SUCH OTHER PLACE AS THE LENDER MAY FROM 

TIME-TO-TIME SPECIFY IN WRITING in immediately available UNITED STATES DOLLARS 

LAWFUL CURRENCY OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, on or before 11:00 a.m. 

(Boston, Massachusetts time) on the due date thereof, WITHOUT COUNTERCLAIM OR 

SETOFF AND FREE AND CLEAR OF, AND WITHOUT ANY DEDUCTION OR WITHHOLDING FOR, ANY 

TAXES OR OTHER PAYMENTS. The Borrower hereby authorizes the Lender, if and to 

the extent payment is not made when due under this Agreement or under any Note, 

to charge from time-to-time against any account of the Borrower with the Lender 

any amount so due. Whenever any payment to be made under this Agreement or under 

any Note shall be stated to be due on a day other than a Business Day, such 

payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day, and such extension of 

time shall in such case be included in the computation of the payment of 

interest. 
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         4.03  PREPAYMENT 

 

         The Borrower may prepay the Note in whole or in part, provided that it 

pays Lender a prepayment fee in accordance with the following schedule: 

 

 

 

                  Year of Loan when 

                  Prepayment Occurs              Amount of Prepayment Fee 

                  -----------------              ------------------------ 

                                               

                           1                     3% of amount prepaid 

                           2                     2% of amount prepaid 

                           3                     1% of amount prepaid 

                           4                     1% of amount prepaid 

                           5                     1% of amount prepaid 

 

 

         Notwithstanding the foregoing, no prepayment premium shall be charged 

from prepayments made from internally generated cash flow. 

 

         4.04 LATE PAYMENT 

 

         Any payment on the Loans received more than ten (10) days after its due 

date shall be subject to an additional charge of six percent (6.00%) of the 

amount due. 

 

         4.05 ADDITIONAL PAYMENTS 

 

         If after the date of this Agreement the Lender determines that (i) the 

adoption of or change in any law, rule, regulation or guideline regarding 

capital requirements for banks or bank holding companies, or any change in the 

interpretation or application thereof by any governmental authority charged with 

the administration thereof, or (ii) compliance by the Lender or any parent bank 

holding company with any guideline, request or directive of any such 

governmental entity regarding capital adequacy (whether or not having the force 

of law), has the effect of reducing the return on the Lender's or such holding 

company's capital as a consequence of the Lender's agreement to make Loans 

hereunder to a level below that which the Lender or such holding company could 

have achieved but for such adoption, change or compliance (taking into 

consideration the Lender's or such holding company's then existing policies with 

respect to capital adequacy and assuming the full utilization of such entity's 

capital) by any amount deemed by the Lender to be material, or (iii) as a result 

from any change after the date of this Agreement in United States, Federal, 

State, Municipal or Foreign Laws or Regulations (including Regulation D), or the 

adoption or making after the date hereof of any interpretations, directives or 

requirements applying to a class of banks, including the Lender of or under any 

United States, Federal, State, Municipal or Foreign Laws or Regulations (whether 

or not having the force of law) by any court or governmental or monetary 

authority charged with the interpretation or administration thereof which 

changes the basis of taxation of any amounts payable to the Lender under this 

Agreement, including, without limitation, the Term Loan (other than taxes 

imposed on the overall net income of the Lender by the jurisdiction where the 

principal office of the Lender is located), then the Lender shall notify the 

Borrower thereof. The Borrower agrees to pay to the Lender the amount of such 

reduction in the return on capital as and when such reduction is determined, 

upon presentation by the Lender of a statement in the amount and setting forth 

in reasonable detail, the Lender's calculation thereof, which statement shall be 

deemed true and correct absent manifest error. In determining such amount, the 

Lender may use reasonable averaging and attribution methods. 

 

         4.06 TENURE OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT 

 

         This Agreement shall become effective upon the execution by the parties 

hereto. When so executed, this Agreement shall be binding on, and inure to the 

benefit of, the respective successors and permitted assigns of the Borrower (if 

authorized by the Lender, in writing, in the Lender's sole and exclusive 

discretion), and of the Lender, 

 

                                       7 



 

and shall continue in full force and effect and unchanged except by agreement in 

writing between the Borrower and the Lender until terminated as hereinafter 

provided. 

 

         4.07 CONDITIONS PRECEDENT 

 

         The obligation of the Lender to make the Term Loan shall be subject to 

the condition precedent that the Lender shall have received on or before the day 

of such transaction each of the following, in form and substance satisfactory to 

the Lender and its counsel in their sole discretion: 

 

                  4.07.1 EXECUTION OF NOTE 

 

         The applicable Term Note duly executed by the Borrower. 

 

                  4.07.2 EVIDENCE OF BORROWER'S AUTHORITY AND INCUMBENCY OF 

                         REPRESENTATIVES. 

 

                  Certified (as of the date of this Agreement) copies of all 

corporate action taken by the Borrower, including resolutions of its Board of 

Directors, authorizing the execution, delivery, and performance of the Loan 

Documents to which it is a party and each other document to be delivered 

pursuant to this Agreement together with a certificate (dated as of the date of 

this Agreement) of the Secretary of the Borrower certifying the names and true 

signatures of the officers of the Borrower authorized to sign the Loan Documents 

to which it is a party and the other documents to be delivered by the Borrower 

under this Agreement. 

 

                  4.07.3 OPINION 

 

                  A favorable opinion of counsel for the Borrower, dated the 

date of the Loan, in such form as is acceptable to the Lender and as to such 

other matters as the Lender may request. 

 

                  4.07.4 OFFICER'S CERTIFICATE, ETC. 

 

                  The following statements shall be true and the Lender shall 

have received a certificate signed by a duly authorized officer of the Borrower 

dated the date of the Loan stating that: 

 

                                    a) The representations and warranties 

                           contained in Section 5.00 of this Agreement are 

                           correct on and as of the date of the Loan as though 

                           made on and as of such date; and 

 

                                    b) No Default or Event of Default has 

                           occurred and is continuing, or would result from the 

                           making of the Loan. 

 

                  4.07.5 LITIGATION SUMMARY 

 

         Evidence that the Borrower maintains product liability insurance in 

excess of Fifty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($50,000.00), as well as evidence 

that Tomkins Corporation is responsible for all product liability claims which 

predate May 11, 2001, with insurance coverage limits of not less than Three 

Hundred Million and 00/100 Dollars ($300,000,000.00). See Exhibit `D" 

 

                  4.07.6 [INTENTIONALLY DELETED] 

 

                  4.07.7 SOLVENCY CERTIFICATE 

 

         Lender shall have received an executed Solvency Certificate as more 

fully described in Exhibit "C". 
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                  4.07.8 HAZARD INSURANCE 

 

                  Evidence of Hazard Insurance acceptable to Lender. 

 

                  4.07.9 UCC AND TAX LIEN SEARCHES 

 

                  Uniform Commercial Code and tax lien searches made in the 

Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the State of Delaware and the State of Maine, 

showing no filings relative to any Collateral other than those made pursuant to 

this Agreement, and no federal or state tax liens against Borrower or any 

Guarantor. 

 

                  4.07.10 CORPORATE DOCUMENTATION 

 

                  Certified copies of the Borrower's Articles of Incorporation, 

By-Laws, Certificates of Good Standing from the Secretary of State's Office and 

Department of Revenue Office and original Corporate Resolutions, Certificates of 

Incumbency with specimen signatures. 

 

                  4.07.11 OTHER ITEMS 

 

                  Such other approvals, opinions, certificates, documents and/or 

instruments as Lender may require in its reasonable discretion. 

 

         4.08 POWER OF ATTORNEY 

 

         Borrower appoints Lender and its designees as Borrower's attorney, with 

the power to endorse Borrower's name on any checks, notes, acceptances, money 

orders or other forms of payment or security that come into Lender's possession 

following the occurrence of an Event of Default and while such Event of Default 

is continuing. Neither Lender nor any of its designees will be liable for any 

acts or omissions nor for any error of judgment or mistake of fact or law 

undertaken in good faith acting as Borrower's attorney. This power, being 

coupled with an interest, is irrevocable until the Obligations have been fully 

satisfied and Lender's obligation to provide Loans hereunder has terminated. 

 

         4.09 FEDERAL RESERVE BANK 

 

         Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Lender may 

at any time pledge or assign all or any portion of Lender's rights under this 

Agreement and the other Loan Documents to a Federal Reserve Bank; provided, 

however, that no such pledge or assignment shall release the Lender from 

Lender's obligations hereunder or under any other Loan Documents. 

 

         5.00 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES, GENERALLY 

 

         Borrower also represents, warrants and agrees that: 

 

         5.01 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICE 

 

         It has no chief executive office, or principal place of business, or 

principal mailing address, other than that shown above. Borrower will 

immediately notify Lender in writing of any change in the location of any place 

of business or intention to change the location of any Collateral or the 

establishment of any new chief executive office, principal place of business, or 

location of inventory, or office where its aforesaid records are kept. 

 

         5.02 GOOD STANDING 

 

         Borrower is duly organized and existing in good standing under the laws 

of the State of Nevada and is duly qualified to do business under the laws of 

each state where the nature of the business done or property owned requires such 

qualification. 
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         5.03 CORPORATE AUTHORITY 

 

         Borrower's delivery and performance hereof are within Borrower's 

corporate powers, have been duly authorized by vote of the Board of Directors, 

and are not in contravention of the terms of, and will not result in any event 

of default under Borrower's Articles of Organization, by-laws, or other 

incorporation papers, or of any indenture, promissory note, agreement or 

undertaking to which Borrower is a party or by which it is bound or affected. 

All of Borrower's issued and outstanding capital stock has been properly issued 

and all Borrower's books and records, in particular its minute books, by-laws, 

and books of account, are accurate and up-to-date and will be so maintained. 

 

         5.04 BORROWER NOT IN DEFAULT 

 

         All material leases, contracts, and other commitments to which Borrower 

is a party are in good standing, and Borrower has complied with all material 

provisions of such leases, contracts and other commitments; Borrower is not in 

default under any provision thereof; and no event has occurred which, but for 

the giving of notice or the passage of time, or both, could constitute a default 

thereunder. 

 

         5.05 LEGALLY ENFORCEABLE AGREEMENT 

 

         This Agreement is, and each of the other Loan Documents when delivered 

under this Agreement will be, legal, valid, and binding obligations of the 

Borrower, enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except to the 

extent that such enforcement may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, 

insolvency, and other similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally. 

 

         5.06 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

         The balance sheet of the Borrower and the related statements of income 

and retained earnings and cash flow of the Borrower for the fiscal year then 

ended, and the accompanying footnotes, together with any interim financial 

statements of the Borrower, copies of which have been furnished to the Lender, 

are complete and correct and fairly present the financial condition of the 

Borrower as at such dates and the results of the operations of the Borrower for 

the periods covered by such statements, all in accordance with GAAP consistently 

applied (subject to year-end adjustments in the case of the interim financial 

statements), and there has been no material adverse change in the condition 

(financial or otherwise), business, or operations of the Borrower since the 

presentation to the Lender of the most recently dated financial statements, nor 

are there any liabilities of the Borrower, fixed or contingent, which are 

material but are not reflected in such financial statements or in the notes 

thereto, other than liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business. No 

information, exhibit or report furnished by the Borrower to the Lender in 

connection with the negotiation of this Agreement contained any material 

misstatement of fact or omitted to state a material fact or any fact necessary 

to make the statement contained therein not materially misleading. 

 

         5.07 PRO FORMAS The consolidated pro forma financial statements of the 

Borrower and Guarantor as furnished to the Lender are (and all financial 

statements hereafter delivered pursuant to this Agreement) will be complete and 

accurate, fairly presenting the financial condition of the Borrower as of the 

date thereof and for the periods covered thereby, all being prepared in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied 

throughout the relevant periods. Borrower has no liability, contingent or 

otherwise, not disclosed in the aforesaid financial statements or in any notes 

thereto that could materially adversely affect the financial condition of the 

Borrower. The Borrower has delivered to the Lender projected balance sheets and 

statements of income for each of the fiscal years ending April 30, through 2006. 

The projected financial statements referred to in the preceding sentence 

(including the material assumptions and adjustments made in their preparation) 

were reasonable when made and continue to be reasonable, subject to the 

uncertainty and approximation inherent in any projections. The following 

representations are true at the date hereof; in each case since the date of the 

most recently delivered financial statements: (i) there has been no material 

adverse change in the business, assets or condition, financial or otherwise of 

the Borrower; (ii) neither the business, condition or operations of the Borrower 

nor any of its respective properties or assets had materially adversely affected 

as the result of any legislative or regulatory change, any revocation or change 

in any franchise, license or right to do business, or any other event or 

occurrence, whether or 
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not insured against; (iii) Borrower has experienced no material controversy or 

problem with its employees or with any labor organizations; and (iv) Borrower 

has not entered into any material transaction other than in the ordinary course 

of business. 

 

         5.08 LABOR DISPUTES AND ACTS OF GOD 

 

         Neither the business nor the properties of the Borrower are affected by 

any fire, explosion, accident, strike, lockout or other labor dispute, drought, 

storm, hail, earthquake, embargo, act of God or of the public enemy, or other 

casualty (whether or not covered by insurance), materially and adversely 

affecting such business or properties or the operation of the Borrower. 

 

         5.09 OTHER AGREEMENTS 

 

         The Borrower is not a party to any indenture, loan or credit agreement, 

or to any lease or other agreement or instrument, or subject to any charter or 

corporate restriction which could have a material adverse effect on the 

business, properties, assets, operations, or conditions, financial or otherwise, 

of the Borrower, or the ability of the Borrower to carry out its obligations 

under the Loan Documents to which it is a party. The Borrower is not in default 

in any material respect in the performance, observance, or fulfillment of any of 

the obligations, covenants, or conditions contained in any agreement or 

instrument material to its business to which it is a party. 

 

         5.10 LITIGATION 

 

         Except as set forth on Schedule 5.10, there is no pending or threatened 

action or proceeding against or affecting the Borrower before any court, 

governmental agency, or arbitrator, which may, in any one case or in the 

aggregate, materially adversely affect the financial condition, operations, 

properties, or business of the Borrower or the ability of the Borrower to 

perform its obligations under the Loan Documents to which it is a party. 

 

         5.11 NO JUDGMENTS 

 

         The Borrower has satisfied all judgments, and the Borrower is not in 

default with respect to any judgment, writ, injunction, decree, rule or 

regulation of any court, arbitrator, or Federal, state, municipal, or other 

governmental authority, commission, board, bureau, agency, or instrumentality, 

domestic or foreign. 

 

         5.12 ERISA 

 

         The Borrower is to the best of its knowledge in compliance in all 

material respects with all applicable provisions of ERISA. Neither a Reportable 

Event nor a Prohibited Transaction has occurred and is continuing with respect 

to any Plan; no notice of intent to terminate a Plan has been filed, nor has any 

Plan been terminated; no circumstances exist which constitute grounds entitling 

the PBGC to institute proceedings to terminate, or appoint a trustee to 

administer, a Plan, nor has the PBGC instituted any such proceedings; neither 

the Borrower nor any Commonly Controlled Entity has completely or partially 

withdrawn from a Multiemployer Plan; the Borrower and each Commonly Controlled 

Entity have met their minimum funding requirements under ERISA with respect to 

all of their Plans and the present value of all vested benefits under each Plan 

does not exceed the fair market value of all Plan assets allocable to such 

benefits, as determined on the most recent valuation date of the Plan and in 

accordance with the provisions of ERISA; and neither the Borrower nor any 

Commonly Controlled Entity has incurred any liability to the PBGC under ERISA. 

 

         5.13 OPERATION OF BUSINESS 

 

         The Borrower possesses all Licenses, permits (including Environmental 

Permits), franchises, patents, copyrights, trademarks, and trade names, or 

rights thereto, to conduct its business substantially as now conducted and as 

presently proposed to be conducted, and the Borrower is not in violation of any 

valid rights of others with respect to any of the foregoing. 
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         5.14 TAXES 

 

         The Borrower has filed all tax returns (Federal, state, and local) 

required to be filed and has paid all taxes, assessments, and governmental 

charges and levies thereon to be due, including interest and penalties unless 

such taxes are being contested in good faith by appropriate action with adequate 

reserves established on Borrower's financial statements. 

 

         5.15 DEBT 

 

         Set forth in the financial statements referred to in this Agreement, to 

the extent required by GAAP, is a complete and correct list of all credit 

agreements, indentures, purchase agreements, Guaranties, Capital Leases, and 

other Investments, agreements, and arrangements presently in effect providing 

for or relating to extensions of credit (including agreements and arrangements 

for the issuance of letters of credit or for acceptance financing) in respect of 

which the Borrower is in any manner directly or contingently obligated; and the 

maximum principal or face amounts of the credit in question, which are 

outstanding and which can be outstanding, are correctly stated, and all Liens of 

any nature given or agreed to be given as security therefor are correctly 

described or indicated in such financial statements. Exhibit "E" correctly lists 

all secured and unsecured Debt (excluding trade payables) of the Borrower 

outstanding as of the date of this Agreement, and shows, as to each item of Debt 

listed thereon, the obligor and obligee, the aggregate principal amount 

outstanding on the date hereof. 

 

         5.16 ENVIRONMENT 

 

         The Borrower has duly complied with, and their businesses, operations, 

assets, equipment, property, leaseholds, or other facilities are in compliance 

with, the provisions of all Environmental Laws. The Borrower has been issued and 

will maintain all required Federal, state, and local permits, Licenses, 

certificates, and approvals relating to (1) air emissions; (2) discharges to 

surface water or groundwater; (3) noise emissions; (4) solid or liquid waste 

disposal; (5) the use, generation, storage, transportation, or disposal of toxic 

or hazardous substances or wastes (intended hereby and hereafter to include any 

and all such materials listed in any Federal, state, or local law, code or 

ordinance, and all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder as hazardous or 

potentially hazardous); or (6) other environmental, health, or safety matters. 

The Borrower has not received notice of, nor knows of, or suspects, facts which 

might constitute any violations of any Environmental Laws with respect to its 

businesses, operations, assets, equipment, property, leaseholds, or other 

facilities. Except in accordance with a valid governmental permit, license, 

certificate, or approval, to the best of Borrower's knowledge there has been no 

emission, spill, release, or discharge into or upon (1) the air; (2) soils, or 

any improvements located thereon; (3) surface water or groundwater; or (4) the 

sewer, septic system or waste treatment, storage or disposal system servicing 

the premises, of any toxic or hazardous substances or wastes at or from the 

premises; and accordingly the premises of the Borrower is to the best of 

Borrower's knowledge free of all such toxic or hazardous substances or wastes. 

There has been no complaint, order, directive, claim, citation, or notice by any 

governmental authority or any person or entity with respect to (1) air 

emissions; (2) spills releases or discharges to soils or improvements located 

thereon, surface water, groundwater or the sewer, septic system or waste 

treatment, storage or disposal systems servicing the premises; (3) noise 

emissions; (4) solid or liquid waste disposal; (5) the use, generation, storage, 

transportation, or disposal of toxic or hazardous substances or waste; or (6) 

other environmental, health, or safety matters affecting the Borrower or its 

business, operations, assets, equipment, property, leaseholds, or other 

facilities. The Borrower has no indebtedness, obligation, or liability, absolute 

or contingent, matured or not matured, with respect to the storage, treatment, 

cleanup, or disposal of any solid wastes, hazardous wastes, or other toxic or 

hazardous substances (including without limitation any such indebtedness, 

obligation, or liability with respect to any current regulation, law, or statute 

regarding such storage, treatment, cleanup, or disposal). 

 

         5.17 TITLE TO PROPERTY; LEASES 

 

                  The Borrower has good and marketable title in fee simple (or 

its equivalent under applicable law) to its respective properties and good title 

to the other properties and assets it purports to own, including those reflected 

in the most recent audited balance sheet provided to the Lender (other than 

properties and assets disposed of in the ordinary course of business). The 

Borrower enjoys peaceful and undisturbed possession under all leases of all 

personal and all real property under which they operate, and all such leases are 

valid and subsisting and in full force and effect and the Borrower is not in 

default in any material respect in the performance or observance of its 

 

                                       12 



 

obligations under any provisions thereof. Exhibit "F" includes a general 

description of all presently existing Long Term Leases and Capital Leases under 

which the Borrower is a lessee. 

 

         5.18 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

 

         Borrower owns or has a valid right to use all patents, copyrights, 

trademarks, licenses, trade names or franchises now being used or necessary to 

conduct its business, all of which are listed on Exhibit "G", hereto and the 

conduct of its business as now operated does not conflict with valid patents, 

copyrights, trademarks, licenses, trade names or franchises of others in any 

manner that could materially adversely affect in any manner the business or 

assets or condition, financial or otherwise, of Borrower. 

 

         5.19 EXECUTIVE AGREEMENTS 

 

         None of the executive officers of the Borrower is subject to any 

agreement in favor of anyone, other than Borrower, which limits or restricts 

that person's right to engage in the type of business activity conducted or 

proposed to be conducted by such Borrower or to use therein any property or 

confidential information or which grants to anyone other than the Borrower any 

rights in any inventions or other ideas susceptible to legal protection 

developed or conceived by any such officer. 

 

         5.20 FOREIGN ASSET CONTROL REGULATIONS 

 

         Neither the execution of this Agreement nor the use of the proceeds 

thereof violates the Trading With the Enemy Act of 1917, as amended, nor any of 

the Foreign Assets Control Regulations promulgated thereunder or under the 

International Emergency Economic Powers Act or the U.N. Participation Act of 

1945. 

 

         5.21 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 

 

         It is not an "investment company" within the meaning of, or is exempt 

from, the provisions of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. 

 

         6.00 FURTHER AGREEMENTS OF BORROWER 

 

         6.01 INSURANCE 

 

         Borrower agrees at all times to keep all of its property insured by 

financially sound and reputable insurers satisfactory to the Lender, against 

loss or damage by fire, water, theft, explosion or other hazards insured against 

by extended coverage. 

 

         6.02 INSPECTION 

 

         The Borrower shall at all reasonable times and with reasonable notice 

(unless an Event of Default has occurred hereunder and is continuing, after 

which no prior notice must be provided), and from time-to-time, allow the 

Lender, by or through any of its officers, agents, attorneys, or accountants, to 

physically inspect, copy or make extracts from Borrower's books and records; all 

at Borrower's expense following the occurrence of an Event of Default. 

 

         6.03 GOOD STANDING 

 

         Borrower will remain in good standing and comply with all laws and 

regulations of the United States or of any state or states thereof or of any 

political subdivision thereof, or of any governmental authority which may be 

applicable to it or to its business. 

 

         6.04 NOTICE OF MERGER OR ACQUISITION 
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         Borrower and/or Guarantor will not wind up, liquidate, or dissolve 

itself and/or the Guarantor, reorganize, merge or consolidate with, or into, or 

convey, sell, assign, transfer, lease, or otherwise dispose of (whether in one 

transaction or a series of transactions) all or substantially all of its assets 

and/or the Guarantor's (whether now owned or hereafter acquired) to any Person 

or acquire all or substantially all of the assets or the business of any Person 

or permit any subsidiary to do so without providing notice of such event to 

Lender within thirty (30) days of such occurrence, together with financial 

information necessary for the Lender to evaluate the capital structure and debt 

service ability of the Borrower after giving effect to such occurrence; provided 

that such notice and information shall be solely for informational purposes and 

Lender shall have no right to approve or disapprove such transaction. 

 

         6.05 COMPLIANCE WITH ERISA 

 

         The Borrower will not: 

 

                  (A) engage in any prohibited transaction (within the meaning 

                  of Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code), or 

                  commit any other breach of its fiduciary responsibility under 

                  Part 4 of Title I of ERISA, which could subject the Borrower 

                  or any Borrower Group Member to any material liability under 

                  Section 406, 409, 502(i) or 502(d) of ERISA or Section 4975 of 

                  the Code, or under any agreement or other instrument pursuant 

                  to which the Borrower or such Borrower Group Member could be 

                  required to indemnify any Person against any such liability or 

                  which could otherwise have a Material Adverse Effect on the 

                  Borrower or any Plan; or 

 

                  (B) fail to make any contribution required to be made by it to 

                  any Plan or Multiemployer Plan or permit to exist with respect 

                  to any Plan any "accumulated funding deficiency" (as such term 

                  is defined in Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of 

                  ERISA), whether or not waived; or 

 

                  (C) (i) commence proceedings to terminate any Plan, other than 

                  in a "standard termination" within the meaning of Section 4041 

                  of ERISA, or (ii) permit to exist any proceedings instituted 

                  by the PBGC to terminate or to have a trustee appointed to 

                  administer any Plan, or (iii) withdraw from any Multiemployer 

                  Plan in a manner which could result in the imposition of a 

                  withdrawal liability under Part 1 of Subtitle E of Title IV of 

                  ERISA. 

 

         6.06 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

         The Borrower will deliver, at its sole expense, to the Lender, the 

         following: 

 

         A. Within one hundred twenty (120) days after the close of each fiscal 

         year, its consolidated financial statements, including the Guarantor, 

         audited by certified public accountants servicing the corporations, 

         along with the accountant's management letter and an accounts 

         receivable aging as of the end of each fiscal year. 

 

         B. Within forty-five (45) days after the close of each of the first 

         three (3) fiscal quarters, Borrower will provide to Lender, its 

         internally prepared financial statements, including the Guarantor, 

         including, without limitation, consolidated income statement and 

         balance sheet, accounts receivable aging, and consolidated statement of 

         cash flow prepared according to GAAP consistently applied. 

 

         C. The Borrower shall provide Lender with a true and correct copy of 

         all filings made with the Securities Exchange Commission as and when 

         filed. 

 

         D. The Borrower and Guarantor shall deliver to the Lender by March 31st 

         of each fiscal year, a true and correct copy of their consolidated 

         projections for that fiscal year to include a income statement balance 

         sheet and cash flow statement. 
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         E. From time-to-time, such additional information regarding the 

         financial condition or business of the Borrower and Guarantor as the 

         Lender may reasonably request. 

 

         6.07 MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS 

 

         Keep adequate records and books of account, in which complete entries 

will be made in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, reflecting all 

financial transactions of the Borrower. 

 

         6.08 CONDUCT OF BUSINESS 

 

         Except as otherwise permitted herein, the Guarantor shall continue to 

engage in business in an efficient and economical manner. 

 

         6.09 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 

 

         Promptly pay and discharge all lawful taxes, assessments and 

governmental charges or levies imposed upon the Borrower, or upon, or in respect 

of, all or any part of the property or business of the Borrower, all trade 

accounts payable in accordance with usual and customary business terms, and all 

claims for work, labor or materials, which if unpaid might become a lien or 

charge upon any property of the Borrower; provided the Borrower shall not be 

required to pay any such tax, assessment, charge, levy, account payable or claim 

if (i) the validity, applicability or amount thereof is being contested in good 

faith by appropriate actions or proceedings which will prevent the forfeiture or 

sale of any property of the Borrower or any material interference with the use 

thereof by the Borrower, and (ii) the Borrower shall set aside on its books, 

reserves deemed by it to be adequate with respect thereto. The Borrower will 

promptly comply with all laws, ordinances or governmental rules and regulations 

to which it is subject, including without limitation, the Occupational Safety 

and Heath Act of 1970, ERISA, the Americans with Disabilities Act and all 

Environmental Laws in all applicable jurisdictions, the violation of which would 

materially and adversely affect the properties, business, prospects, profits or 

condition of the Borrower or would result in any lien or charge upon any 

property of the Borrower. 

 

         6.10 ENVIRONMENT 

 

         Notify the Lender immediately of any notice of a hazardous discharge or 

environmental complaint received from any governmental agency or any other 

party; notify the Lender immediately of any hazardous discharge from or 

affecting its premises; immediately contain and remove the same, in compliance 

with all applicable laws; promptly pay any fine or penalty assessed in 

connection therewith, except such assessments as are being contested in good 

faith, against which adequate reserves have been established; upon receipt of 

such notification, permit the Lender to inspect the premises, and to inspect all 

books, correspondence, and records pertaining thereto; and at the Lender's 

request, and at the Borrower's expense, provide a report of a qualified 

environmental engineer, satisfactory in scope, form, and content to the Lender, 

and such other and further assurances reasonably satisfactory to the Lender that 

the condition has been corrected. 

 

         6.11 PAYMENT OF LOANS 

 

         The Borrower will duly and punctually pay the principal of, and 

interest on the Loan in accordance with the terms of the Loan and this 

Agreement. 

 

         6.12 PRINCIPAL DEPOSITORY 

 

         The Guarantor further agrees that it shall conduct its primary banking 

business with the Lender, including, without limitation, retaining the Lender as 

its principal depository for savings accounts, checking accounts, general demand 

depository accounts, and such other accounts as are utilized by the Guarantor 

from time-to-time. 
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         6.13 CHANGE IN MANAGEMENT 

 

         The Borrower represents and warrants that it will notify the Lender in 

writing of any change in its present senior management until all Obligations are 

fully paid. 

 

         6.14 ADVERSE TRANSACTIONS 

 

         The Borrower shall not enter into any transaction which materially and 

adversely affects its ability to repay the Obligations in full as and when due. 

 

         6.15 LENDER'S EXPENSES 

 

         Borrower shall pay, on demand by Lender, all reasonable expenses, 

charges, costs and fees in connection with the negotiation, documentation and 

closing of the Loan, including all registration and recording fees, and the fees 

and disbursements of all counsel to Lender, which in the aggregate shall not 

exceed Fifteen Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($15,000.00). 

 

         7.00 REPRESENTATIONS REMADE 

 

         Borrower warrants and covenants that the foregoing representations and 

warranties will be true and shall be deemed remade as of the date of the 

closing. All representations and warranties made herein or in any other Loan 

Documents or in any certificate or other document delivered to Lender by or on 

behalf of Borrower pursuant to or in connection with this Agreement or any other 

Loan Document shall be deemed to have been relied upon by Lender, 

notwithstanding any investigation heretofore or hereafter made by, or on behalf 

of Lender. All such representations and warranties shall survive the making of 

the Loan and Advance contemplated hereby and shall continue in full force and 

effect until such time as the Loan has been paid in full. 

 

         8.00 [INTENTIONALLY DELETED] 

 

         9.00 DEFAULT 

 

         Borrower shall be in default under this Agreement upon the happening of 

any of the following events or conditions (which shall individually and/or 

collectively be referenced as an "Event of Default") without notice or demand 

(except to the extent of notice or demand required pursuant to this Agreement 

and any other Loan Documents or bylaw): 

 

         9.01 Failure to observe or perform any of its agreements, warranties or 

representations in this Agreement, including, without limitation, financial 

covenants, or in any other agreement with Lender, following notice thereof from 

the Lender with respect to a non-monetary Event of Default. No notice shall be 

sent with respect to a monetary default. 

 

         9.02 Failure of Borrower and/or Guarantor to pay within ten (10) days 

of when due whether upon demand, at maturity, by acceleration or otherwise, any 

amount payable by either of them to the Lender under any of their respective 

Obligations. 

 

         9.03 Insolvency of Borrower as defined in this Agreement, or the 

recording or existence of any lien for unpaid taxes against Borrower in excess 

of One Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($100,000.00); provided, however, 

with respect to an involuntary bankruptcy, it shall not be an Event of Default 

hereunder if the same is dismissed within sixty (60) days of the commencement 

date. 

 

         9.04 Default in, and acceleration of any agreement or undertaking to 

which the Borrower is a party or by which Borrower is bound or affected 

following notice thereof from the Lender with respect to non-monetary Events of 

Default. No notice shall be sent with respect to a monetary default. 
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         9.05 The making by the Borrower of any misrepresentation to the Lender 

for the purpose of obtaining credit or an extension of credit following notice 

thereof from the Lender with respect to non-monetary Events of Default. 

 

         9.06 Failure of Borrower and Guarantor to maintain in the aggregate, at 

all times, a Cash Balance equal to, or greater than, the sum of Two Million Five 

Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($2,500,000.00), plus the Obligations. 

 

         9.07  Any default arising pursuant to Section 4.01 of this Agreement. 

Unless expressly agreed to by Lender, in writing, the Borrower has no right to 

cure a monetary Event of Default. 

 

         10.00 LENDER'S RIGHTS 

 

         Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and while such Event of 

Default is continuing, Lender may: 

 

         10.01 Make all Obligations of Borrower and/or Guarantor immediately due 

and payable, without presentment, demand, protest, hearing or notice of any kind 

and exercise the remedies of a Lender afforded by the Uniform Commercial Code 

and other applicable law or by the terms of any agreement between Borrower and 

Lender. 

 

         10.02 The Lender shall hereby also be granted a security interest in, 

and right of set off against any balance on any deposit, deposit account, 

agency, reserve, holdback, or other account maintained by, or on behalf of, the 

Borrower with the Lender, and the Lender shall have the right to apply the 

proceeds of such foreclosure or set off against such items of Borrower's 

Obligations as Lender may select. 

 

         10.03 All rights and remedies of Lender whether provided for herein or 

in other agreements, instruments, or documents, or conferred by law, are 

cumulative and not alternative and may be enforced successively. 

 

         11.00 BORROWER'S ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 

 

         11.01 Borrower acknowledges that Lender has not, by the terms hereof, 

acted to intrude into any of its management decisions, or prerogatives, nor has 

it entered into control or management of Borrower's affairs. Any reference 

herein to limitation on of action(s) or conduct on the part of the Borrower 

represents only undertakings, or forbearance(s) necessary to preserve the 

management, cash flow, and asset and financial status quo promised by the 

Borrower upon which the loan(s) were originally contemplated, and on which the 

Lender relied as a condition-precedent thereto, and which are necessary to the 

protection of Lender, in its sole status as secured lender, and not otherwise. 

 

         11.02 The Borrower acknowledges and represents that it is a 

sophisticated borrower and has experience in financial matters generally and in 

Borrower obligations, specifically. Borrower acknowledges that it has been 

represented by counsel, and that a draft of this Agreement has been available 

for review and negotiation. Therefore, Borrower hereby agrees that all Lender's 

rights were the result of negotiations between the Lender and the Borrower and 

were induced in a material respect by the benefits granted to the Borrower 

hereunder. 

 

         12.00 BORROWER'S OBLIGATION TO PAY EXPENSES OF LENDER 

 

         Excluding expenses in connection with the preparation of this 

Agreement, related loan documents and the closing, the Borrower agrees to pay 

all reasonable expenses, including counsel fees and other expenses which may be 

paid or incurred by Lender for itself or as agent for any other lender, in 

connection with the subject matter of this Agreement, the Obligations, the 

Collateral or any rights or interest therein in the event of a Default 

hereunder, including without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the 

enforcement of any security interest granted hereby and representation in any 

litigation including any bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings. All such expenses 

may be added to the principal amount of any indebtedness owed by the Borrower to 

Lender and shall constitute part of the Obligations secured hereby. 
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         13.00 NO WAIVERS BY THE LENDER 

 

         No delay or omission on the part of Lender in exercising any rights 

shall operate as a waiver of such right or any other right. Waiver on any one 

occasion shall not be construed as a bar to or waiver of any right or remedy on 

any future occasion. All of Lender's rights and remedies, whether evidenced 

hereby or by any other agreement, instrument, or paper, shall be cumulative and 

may be exercised singularly or concurrently. 

 

         14.00 AMENDMENT 

 

         This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement between the parties. 

This Agreement or any part thereof cannot be changed, waived, or amended, except 

by an instrument in writing, signed by both the Lender and Borrower herein. 

 

         15.00 RIGHTS AND LIABILITIES OF ASSIGNS 

 

         Borrower shall not be permitted to assign this Agreement, unless 

expressly authorized by the Lender, in writing. Lender may assign its interests 

under this Agreement. The assignment of this Agreement shall bind all persons to 

become bound as a borrower to this Agreement. In the event Lender assigns its 

rights and interests under this Agreement, the Borrower shall render performance 

under this Agreement to the assignee. 

 

         16.00 CONSTRUCTION 

 

         This Agreement shall be deemed to have been entered into in the 

Commonwealth of Massachusetts, and the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts 

shall govern the construction of this Agreement and the rights and duties of the 

parties hereto. It is agreed and understood that, as this form of agreement may 

be used by persons of either sex, and for one or more corporations, and also 

where there are several parties, in such cases, the masculine and plural, as 

herein used, shall be instead of and shall stand for, the feminine or neuter 

gender or the single number, as the context may require. Any ambiguity, 

contradiction, or inconsistency between this Agreement and any other documents 

relied upon by Lender shall, at all times, be resolved in favor of this 

Agreement. 

 

         17.00 NOTICE 

 

         Any notice required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing, and 

shall be duly given to any party or if mailed first class, postage prepaid or 

certified mail, return receipt requested, to the Borrower at the address set 

forth on page 1 hereof, to the Lender at its principal banking house, or to such 

other address as may be specified by notice in writing to the other parties by 

the party changing such address. 

 

         18.00 CONSENT TO JURISDICTION 

 

         THE BORROWER AND GUARANTOR HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY (A) 

SUBMIT TO PERSONAL JURISDICTION IN THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS OVER ANY 

SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY 

OF THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, AND (B) WAIVE ANY AND ALL PERSONAL RIGHTS UNDER THE 

LAWS OF ANY STATE (I) TO THE RIGHT, IF ANY, TO TRIAL BY JURY, AND (II) TO OBJECT 

TO JURISDICTION WITHIN THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS OR VENUE IN ANY 

PARTICULAR FORUM WITHIN THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS. THE BORROWER AGREES 

THAT, IN ADDITION TO ANY METHODS OF SERVICE OF PROCESS PROVIDED FOR UNDER 

APPLICABLE LAW, ALL SERVICE OF PROCESS IN ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING 

MAY BE MADE BY CERTIFIED OR REGISTERED MAIL, RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED DIRECTED 

TO THE BORROWER AT THE BUSINESS ADDRESS SET FORTH ON PAGE 1 ABOVE, AND SERVICE S 

SO MADE SHALL BE DEEMED COMPLETE THE EARLIER OF DATE OF ACTUAL RECEIPT OR DATE 

OF REFUSAL TO ACCEPT DELIVERY, BUT IN NO EVENT, LATER THAN TEN (10) BUSINESS 

DAYS AFTER MAILING. NOTHING CONTAINED HEREIN, HOWEVER, SHALL PREVENT THE LENDER 

FROM BRINGING ANY SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING OR EXERCISING ANY RIGHTS AGAINST 

ANY 
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COLLATERAL AND AGAINST THE BORROWER, AND AGAINST ANY PROPERTY OF THE BORROWER, 

IN ANY OTHER STATE. INITIATING SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING OR TAKING SUCH 

ACTION IN ANY STATE SHALL IN NO EVENT CONSTITUTE A WAIVER OF THE AGREEMENT 

CONTAINED HEREIN THAT THE LAWS OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS SHALL GOVERN 

THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE BORROWER AND THE LENDER HEREUNDER OR THE 

SUBMISSION HEREIN BY THE BORROWER TO PERSONAL JURISDICTION WITHIN THE 

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS. 

 

         EXECUTED UNDER SEAL this    day of March 2002, by the parties set forth 

below, or by their duly authorized officers. 

 

BORROWER:                   SMITH & WESSON HOLDING CORPORATION 

 

                            BY: 

- ---------------------- 

Witness                          Its duly authorized (seal) 
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GUARANTOR:                          SMITH & WESSON CORP. 

 

                            BY: 

- ------------------------ 

Witness                            Its duly authorized (seal) 

 

 

LENDER:                             BANKNORTH, N.A. 

 

                            BY: 

- ------------------------ 

Witness                            Its duly authorized (seal) 
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Exhibit 10.26 

 

                                    GUARANTY 

 

 

         This GUARANTY, dated as of March ___, 2002 is given by Smith & Wesson 

Holding Corporation, a Nevada corporation having a principal place of business 

at 14500 Northsight, Suite 221, Scottsdale, Arizona (the "Guarantor") in favor 

of Banknorth, N.A. f/k/a First Massachusetts Bank, N.A., located at 1441 Main 

Street, Springfield, Massachusetts (the "Lender"), to induce Lender to give, in 

its discretion, time, credit or other banking facilities or accommodations to 

Smith & Wesson Corp. (the "Borrower"). In consideration of the foregoing, 

Guarantor agrees as follows: 

 

         1. Guaranty of Payment and Performance. Guarantor hereby (jointly and 

severally with all other guarantors, if any) guarantees to Lender the full and 

punctual payment when due (whether at maturity, by acceleration or otherwise), 

and the performance, of all liabilities, agreements and other obligations of 

Borrower to Lender of every kind, nature and description (whether by way of 

discount, letters of credit, lease, loan, overdraft or otherwise), whether now 

existing or hereafter arising, direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, due 

or to become due, secured or unsecured, and including, without limitation, all 

costs and expenses incurred by Lender in attempting to collect or enforce any of 

the foregoing, (collectively the "Obligations"). This Guaranty is an absolute, 

unconditional and continuing guaranty of the full and punctual payment and 

performance of the Obligations and not of their collectibility only and is in no 

way conditioned upon any requirement that Lender first attempt to collect any of 

the Obligations from Borrower or resort to any security or other means of 

obtaining their payment. Guarantor agrees that the Obligations will be paid and 

performed strictly in accordance with their respective terms (as amended from 

time-to-time) regardless of any law, regulation or order now or hereafter in 

effect in any jurisdiction affecting any of such terms or the rights of Lender 

with respect thereto. Should Borrower default in the payment or performance of 

any of the Obligations, the liabilities and obligations of Guarantor hereunder 

shall become immediately due and payable to Lender, without demand or notice of 

any nature, all of which are expressly waived by Guarantor. Payment and 

performance by Guarantor hereunder may be required by Lender on any number of 

occasions. 

 

         2. Guarantor's Further Agreement to Pay. Guarantor further agrees, as 

the principal obligor and not as a guarantor only, to pay to Lender, on demand, 

all costs and expenses (including, without limitation, court costs and 

reasonable attorneys' fees) incurred or expended by Lender in connection with 

the Obligations, this Guaranty and the enforcement thereof, together with 

interest on all amounts recoverable under this Guaranty, from the time such 

amounts become due until payment, at the rate per annum equal to the highest 

rate of interest charged with respect to any of the Obligations. 

 

         3. General Waivers. Guarantor waives: (a) notice of acceptance hereof 

by Lender; (b) presentment, demand and protest with respect to the Obligations 

and this Guaranty; (c) notice of Obligations incurred or default upon any of the 

Obligations, and all other notices of any kind; (d) all defenses which may be 

available by virtue of any statute of limitations, valuation, stay, 
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moratorium law or other similar law now or hereafter in effect; (e) any right to 

require the marshalling of assets of Borrower; (f) all homestead rights, 

protections and exemptions; and (g) all suretyship defenses generally. 

 

         4. Lender's Freedom to Act. Lender may, without giving notice to or 

obtaining the assent of Guarantor and without relieving Guarantor of any 

liability hereunder, deal with Borrower or any other party now or hereafter 

liable upon any of the Obligations, in such manner as Lender in its sole 

discretion deems appropriate, and in this regard, Guarantor agrees that the 

obligations of Guarantor hereunder shall not be released or discharged, in whole 

or in part, or otherwise affected by (a) the failure of Lender to assert any 

claim or demand or to enforce any right or remedy against Borrower, (b) any 

extensions or renewals of any of the Obligations, (c) any rescissions, waivers, 

amendments or modifications of any of the terms or provisions of any agreement 

evidencing, securing or otherwise executed in connection with any of the 

Obligations, (d) the substitution or release of any party primarily or 

secondarily liable for any of the Obligations, (e) the adequacy of any rights 

Lender may have against any collateral or other means of obtaining repayment of 

the Obligations, (f) the impairment of any collateral securing any of the 

Obligations, including, without limitation, the failure to perfect or preserve 

any rights Lender might have in such collateral or the substitution, exchange, 

surrender, release, loss or destruction of any such collateral, or (g) any other 

act or omission which might in any manner or to any extent vary the risk of 

Guarantor or otherwise operate as a release or discharge of Guarantor, all of 

which may be done without notice to or assent from Guarantor. 

 

         5. Unenforceability Of Obligations Against Borrower. If for any reason 

Borrower has no legal existence or is under no legal obligation to discharge any 

of the Obligations, or if any of the Obligations have become irrecoverable from 

Borrower by operation of law or for any other reason, this Guaranty shall 

nevertheless be binding on Guarantor to the same extent as if Guarantor at all 

times had been the principal obligor on all such Obligations. In the event that 

acceleration of the time for payment of any of the Obligations is stayed upon 

the insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization of Borrower, or for any other 

reason, all such amounts otherwise subject to acceleration under the terms of 

any agreement evidencing, securing or otherwise executed in connection with any 

of the Obligations shall be immediately due and payable by Guarantor. 

 

         6. Subrogation. Guarantor also waives any and all rights of 

subrogation, reimbursement, indemnity, contribution or the like which Guarantor 

might at any time have against Borrower as a result of any payment by Guarantor 

to Lender hereunder; unless Lender otherwise agrees, such waiver by Guarantor 

shall not be effective to the extent that, by virtue of such waiver, Guarantor's 

liability to Lender hereunder is rendered invalid, voidable or unenforceable 

under any applicable federal or state laws dealing with the recovery or 

avoidance of so called "fraudulent conveyances", or otherwise. Until the payment 

and performance in full of the Obligations and any and all obligations of 

Borrower to any affiliate of Lender, Guarantor will not claim any set-off or 

counterclaim against Borrower in respect of any liability of Guarantor to 

Borrower, and Guarantor waives any recourse against any collateral which may be 

held by Lender or any such affiliate. 
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         7. Debt Subordination. The payment of any amounts due with respect to 

any indebtedness of Borrower now or hereafter held by Guarantor is hereby 

subordinated to the prior payment in full of the Obligations, and Guarantor 

agrees that, in the absence of Lender's prior written consent, Guarantor will 

not demand, accept or sue for any payment upon, or otherwise attempt to collect, 

any such indebtedness of Borrower to Guarantor until the Obligations shall have 

been paid in full. If, notwithstanding the foregoing, Guarantor shall, without 

Lender's prior written consent, collect, enforce or receive any amounts in 

respect of such indebtedness, such amounts shall be collected, enforced and 

received by Guarantor as trustee for Lender and be paid over to Lender on 

account of the Obligations without affecting in any manner the liability of 

Guarantor under the other provisions of this Guaranty. 

 

         8. Security; Set-Off. Any and all deposits or other sums at any time 

credited by, or due to Guarantor from Lender under any loan arrangement between 

Lender and Guarantor, and any cash, instruments, securities or any other 

property of Guarantor, now or hereafter in the possession of Lender, any loan 

arrangement between Lender and Guarantor, whether for safe-keeping or otherwise, 

shall at all times constitute security (and hereby remain subject to a pledge 

and grant of security interest by Guarantor) for the payment of this Guaranty 

and all other obligations, whether now existing or hereafter arising, of 

Guarantor to Lender and may be applied or set-off against any of such 

obligations, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing in 

accordance with a Loan and Security Agreement dated July 12, 2001, as modified 

by First Modification to Loan and Security Agreement and Revolving Line of 

Credit Note dated March ___, 2002 between Lender and Borrower. 

 

         9. Term; Reinstatement. The obligations of Guarantor hereunder shall 

continue until full payment is made of all of the Obligations and of all 

obligations and liabilities of Guarantor hereunder. This Guaranty shall continue 

to be effective or reinstated, notwithstanding any return by Lender to Guarantor 

of the original of this Guaranty, if at any time any payment made or value 

received with respect to any of the Obligations or any of the obligations of 

Guarantor upon this Guaranty is rescinded or must otherwise be returned by 

Lender upon the insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization of Borrower or 

Guarantor, or otherwise, all as though such payment had not been made or such 

value not received. 

 

         10. Governing Law; Successors and Assigns. This Guaranty is intended to 

take effect as a sealed instrument, shall be governed by, and construed in 

accordance with, the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, shall be binding 

upon Guarantor and Guarantor's successors and assigns, shall inure to the 

benefit of Lender and Lender's successors and assigns, and shall apply to all 

Obligations of Borrower and any successor to Borrower, including any successor 

by operation of law. 

 

         11. Amendments and Waivers. No amendment or waiver of any provision of 

this Guaranty nor consent to any departure by Guarantor therefrom shall be 

effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by Lender. No failure 

on the part of Lender to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right 

hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial 

exercise of any right hereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof 

or the exercise of any other right. 
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         12. CONSENT TO JURISDICTION; JURY WAIVER. GUARANTOR HEREBY EXPRESSLY 

WAIVES ALL RIGHTS TO A JURY TRIAL WITH RESPECT TO ANY ACTION OR CLAIM ARISING 

OUT OF ANY DISPUTE RELATING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, TO ANY OF THE OBLIGATIONS 

AND/OR THIS GUARANTY. GUARANTOR HEREBY SUBMITS TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE COURTS 

OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS (AND THE FEDERAL COURTS SITUATED THEREIN) 

WITH RESPECT TO ALL CLAIMS CONCERNING THIS GUARANTY AND/OR ANY COLLATERAL 

SECURING GUARANTOR'S LIABILITIES TO LENDER. 

 

         13. Miscellaneous. This Guaranty constitutes the entire agreement of 

Guarantor with respect to the matters set forth herein. The rights and remedies 

herein provided are cumulative and not exclusive of any remedies provided by law 

or any other agreement, and this Guaranty shall be in addition to, and not in 

substitution of, any other guaranty or security for the Obligations. The 

invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more sections of this Guaranty 

shall not affect the validity or enforceability of its remaining provisions. 

Captions are for the ease of reference only and shall not affect the meaning of 

the relevant provision. The meaning of all defined terms used in this Guaranty 

shall be equally applicable to the singular and plural forms of the terms 

defined. 

 

         Executed under seal and delivered as of the date first above written. 

 

 

                                    SMITH & WESSON HOLDING 

                                    CORPORATION 

 

                                    By: 

- ---------------------------             ------------------------------ 

Witness                             Its duly authorized 
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Exhibit 10.27 

 

                                    GUARANTY 

 

 

         This GUARANTY, dated as of March ___, 2002 is given by Smith & Wesson 

Corp., a Delaware corporation having a principal place of business at 2100 

Roosevelt Avenue, Springfield, Massachusetts (the "Guarantor") in favor of 

Banknorth, N.A. f/k/a First Massachusetts Bank, N.A., located at 1441 Main 

Street, Springfield, Massachusetts (the "Lender"), to induce Lender to give, in 

its discretion, time, credit or other banking facilities or accommodations to 

Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation (the "Borrower"). In consideration of the 

foregoing, Guarantor agrees as follows: 

 

         1. Guaranty of Payment and Performance. Guarantor hereby (jointly and 

severally with all other guarantors, if any) guarantees to Lender the full and 

punctual payment when due (whether at maturity, by acceleration or otherwise), 

and the performance, of all liabilities, agreements and other obligations of 

Borrower to Lender of every kind, nature and description (whether by way of 

discount, letters of credit, lease, loan, overdraft or otherwise), whether now 

existing or hereafter arising, direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, due 

or to become due, secured or unsecured, and including, without limitation, all 

costs and expenses incurred by Lender in attempting to collect or enforce any of 

the foregoing, (collectively the "Obligations"). This Guaranty is an absolute, 

unconditional and continuing guaranty of the full and punctual payment and 

performance of the Obligations and not of their collectibility only and is in no 

way conditioned upon any requirement that Lender first attempt to collect any of 

the Obligations from Borrower or resort to any security or other means of 

obtaining their payment. Guarantor agrees that the Obligations will be paid and 

performed strictly in accordance with their respective terms (as amended from 

time-to-time) regardless of any law, regulation or order now or hereafter in 

effect in any jurisdiction affecting any of such terms or the rights of Lender 

with respect thereto. Should Borrower default in the payment or performance of 

any of the Obligations, the liabilities and obligations of Guarantor hereunder 

shall become immediately due and payable to Lender, without demand or notice of 

any nature, all of which are expressly waived by Guarantor. Payment and 

performance by Guarantor hereunder may be required by Lender on any number of 

occasions. 

 

         2. Guarantor's Further Agreement to Pay. Guarantor further agrees, as 

the principal obligor and not as a guarantor only, to pay to Lender, on demand, 

all costs and expenses (including, without limitation, court costs and 

reasonable attorneys' fees) incurred or expended by Lender in connection with 

the Obligations, this Guaranty and the enforcement thereof, together with 

interest on all amounts recoverable under this Guaranty, from the time such 

amounts become due until payment, at the rate per annum equal to the highest 

rate of interest charged with respect to any of the Obligations. 

 

         3. General Waivers. Guarantor waives: (a) notice of acceptance hereof 

by Lender; (b) presentment, demand and protest with respect to the Obligations 

and this Guaranty; (c) notice of Obligations incurred or default upon any of the 

Obligations, and all other notices of any kind; (d) all defenses which may be 

available by virtue of any statute of limitations, valuation, stay, 
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moratorium law or other similar law now or hereafter in effect; (e) any right to 

require the marshalling of assets of Borrower; (f) all homestead rights, 

protections and exemptions; and (g) all suretyship defenses generally. 

 

         4. Lender's Freedom to Act. Lender may, without giving notice to or 

obtaining the assent of Guarantor and without relieving Guarantor of any 

liability hereunder, deal with Borrower or any other party now or hereafter 

liable upon any of the Obligations, in such manner as Lender in its sole 

discretion deems appropriate, and in this regard, Guarantor agrees that the 

obligations of Guarantor hereunder shall not be released or discharged, in whole 

or in part, or otherwise affected by (a) the failure of Lender to assert any 

claim or demand or to enforce any right or remedy against Borrower, (b) any 

extensions or renewals of any of the Obligations, (c) any rescissions, waivers, 

amendments or modifications of any of the terms or provisions of any agreement 

evidencing, securing or otherwise executed in connection with any of the 

Obligations, (d) the substitution or release of any party primarily or 

secondarily liable for any of the Obligations, (e) the adequacy of any rights 

Lender may have against any collateral or other means of obtaining repayment of 

the Obligations, (f) the impairment of any collateral securing any of the 

Obligations, including, without limitation, the failure to perfect or preserve 

any rights Lender might have in such collateral or the substitution, exchange, 

surrender, release, loss or destruction of any such collateral, or (g) any other 

act or omission which might in any manner or to any extent vary the risk of 

Guarantor or otherwise operate as a release or discharge of Guarantor, all of 

which may be done without notice to or assent from Guarantor. 

 

         5. Unenforceability Of Obligations Against Borrower. If for any reason 

Borrower has no legal existence or is under no legal obligation to discharge any 

of the Obligations, or if any of the Obligations have become irrecoverable from 

Borrower by operation of law or for any other reason, this Guaranty shall 

nevertheless be binding on Guarantor to the same extent as if Guarantor at all 

times had been the principal obligor on all such Obligations. In the event that 

acceleration of the time for payment of any of the Obligations is stayed upon 

the insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization of Borrower, or for any other 

reason, all such amounts otherwise subject to acceleration under the terms of 

any agreement evidencing, securing or otherwise executed in connection with any 

of the Obligations shall be immediately due and payable by Guarantor. 

 

         6. Subrogation. Guarantor also waives any and all rights of 

subrogation, reimbursement, indemnity, contribution or the like which Guarantor 

might at any time have against Borrower as a result of any payment by Guarantor 

to Lender hereunder; unless Lender otherwise agrees, such waiver by Guarantor 

shall not be effective to the extent that, by virtue of such waiver, Guarantor's 

liability to Lender hereunder is rendered invalid, voidable or unenforceable 

under any applicable federal or state laws dealing with the recovery or 

avoidance of so called "fraudulent conveyances", or otherwise. Until the payment 

and performance in full of the Obligations and any and all obligations of 

Borrower to any affiliate of Lender, Guarantor will not claim any set-off or 

counterclaim against Borrower in respect of any liability of Guarantor to 

Borrower, and Guarantor waives any recourse against any collateral which may be 

held by Lender or any such affiliate. 
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         7. Debt Subordination. The payment of any amounts due with respect to 

any indebtedness of Borrower now or hereafter held by Guarantor is hereby 

subordinated to the prior payment in full of the Obligations, and Guarantor 

agrees that, in the absence of Lender's prior written consent, Guarantor will 

not demand, accept or sue for any payment upon, or otherwise attempt to collect, 

any such indebtedness of Borrower to Guarantor until the Obligations shall have 

been paid in full. If, notwithstanding the foregoing, Guarantor shall, without 

Lender's prior written consent, collect, enforce or receive any amounts in 

respect of such indebtedness, such amounts shall be collected, enforced and 

received by Guarantor as trustee for Lender and be paid over to Lender on 

account of the Obligations without affecting in any manner the liability of 

Guarantor under the other provisions of this Guaranty. 

 

         8. Security; Set-Off. Any and all deposits or other sums at any time 

credited by, or due to Guarantor from Lender under any loan arrangement between 

Lender and Guarantor, and any cash, instruments, securities or any other 

property of Guarantor, now or hereafter in the possession of Lender, any loan 

arrangement between Lender and Guarantor, whether for safe-keeping or otherwise, 

shall at all times constitute security (and hereby remain subject to a pledge 

and grant of security interest by Guarantor) for the payment of this Guaranty 

and all other obligations, whether now existing or hereafter arising, of 

Guarantor to Lender and may be applied or set-off against any of such 

obligations, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing in 

accordance with in the Loan Agreement between the Borrower and the Lender, 

whether or not then due. 

 

         9. Collateral. The following described property from Guarantor, in 

addition to all other collateral now or hereafter provided by Guarantor to 

Lender, shall secure all obligations of Guarantor upon this Guaranty and all 

other present and future obligations of Guarantor to Lender: First security 

interest in all of Guarantor's right, title and interest in and to, all 

investment property and general intangibles consisting of annuity contracts, 

Securities, stocks, bonds, United States government securities, commercial paper 

and all income therefrom, increases therein and proceeds thereof maintained at 

and/or by: (1) PRIME VEST FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC., ACCOUNT NO. 74006311,(the 

"Account"); (2) Pacific Life Insurance Company Annuity - $1,000,000 - Contract 

No. SP01001834; (3) Pacific Life Insurance Company Annuity - $500,000 - Contract 

No. VR01050237; (4) Pacific Life Insurance Company Annuity - $9,000,000 - 

Contract No. SP01001732; (5) Keyport Insurance Trust I Annuity - $950,000 - 

Contract No. 0212493926-01; and (6) MFS Regatta Insurance Trust Annuity - 

$2,000,000 - Contract No. 93-9300-035978, together with products and proceeds 

thereof and all accessions and additions thereto and all replacements and 

substitutions therefore (hereinafter called the "Collateral"). The term 

"proceeds" shall include, without limitation, all types of classifications of 

non-cash proceeds acquired with cash proceeds. 

 

         The Guarantor shall at all times maintain Collateral having an 

aggregate market value (on a discounted basis subject to the Discount Factors 

set forth in the definition of Available Amount) of not less than the sum of any 

applicable surrender charges, prepayment fees, early withdrawal fees and/or 

similar charges required in connection with any of the Annuities and/or 

Securities, and the Obligations of the Guarantor to the Lender hereunder. 

Additional units or shares of investment securities (or other unrestricted, 

registered securities publicly traded on a nationally recognized stock exchange, 

or other additional collateral acceptable to the Lender) 
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may from time to time be required by the Lender to be transferred to the 

Account, and the Guarantor agrees to do so within three (3) business days of 

notice and request from the Lender stating that the then aggregate market value 

of Collateral is less than the sum of any applicable surrender charges, 

prepayment fees, early withdrawal fees and/or similar charges required in 

connection with any of the Annuities and/or Securities, and the Obligations of 

the Guarantor to the Lender hereunder. Failure by the Guarantor to provide 

additional collateral having an aggregate market value (on a discounted basis 

subject to the Discount Factors set forth in the definition of Available Amount) 

equal to the difference between (i) the sum of any applicable surrender charges, 

prepayment fees, early withdrawal fees and/or similar charges required in 

connection with any of the Annuities and/or Securities, and (ii) the Obligations 

and the then aggregate market value of the Collateral shall constitute an Event 

of Default, and the Lender shall be entitled to liquidate the Collateral for 

application to the Obligations without further notice to the Guarantor, as more 

fully described in a Loan and Security Agreement dated July 12, 2001, as 

modified by a First Modification to Loan and Security Agreement and Revolving 

Line of Credit Note dated March ___, 2002 (the "Loan Agreement"). Defined terms 

in the Loan Agreement shall have their defined meanings applied herein. 

 

         10. Term; Reinstatement. The obligations of Guarantor hereunder shall 

continue until full payment is made of all of the Obligations and of all 

obligations and liabilities of Guarantor hereunder. This Guaranty shall continue 

to be effective or reinstated, notwithstanding any return by Lender to Guarantor 

of the original of this Guaranty, if at any time any payment made or value 

received with respect to any of the Obligations or any of the obligations of 

Guarantor upon this Guaranty is rescinded or must otherwise be returned by 

Lender upon the insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization of Borrower or 

Guarantor, or otherwise, all as though such payment had not been made or such 

value not received. 

 

         11. Governing Law; Successors and Assigns. This Guaranty is intended to 

take effect as a sealed instrument, shall be governed by, and construed in 

accordance with, the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, shall be binding 

upon Guarantor and Guarantor's successors and assigns, shall inure to the 

benefit of Lender and Lender's successors and assigns, and shall apply to all 

Obligations of Borrower and any successor to Borrower, including any successor 

by operation of law. 

 

         12. Amendments and Waivers. No amendment or waiver of any provision of 

this Guaranty nor consent to any departure by Guarantor therefrom shall be 

effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by Lender. No failure 

on the part of Lender to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right 

hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial 

exercise of any right hereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof 

or the exercise of any other right. 

 

         13. CONSENT TO JURISDICTION; JURY WAIVER. GUARANTOR HEREBY EXPRESSLY 

WAIVES ALL RIGHTS TO A JURY TRIAL WITH RESPECT TO ANY ACTION OR CLAIM ARISING 

OUT OF ANY DISPUTE RELATING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, TO ANY OF THE OBLIGATIONS 

AND/OR THIS GUARANTY. GUARANTOR HEREBY SUBMITS TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE COURTS 

OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS (AND THE FEDERAL COURTS SITUATED 
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THEREIN) WITH RESPECT TO ALL CLAIMS CONCERNING THIS GUARANTY AND/OR ANY 

COLLATERAL SECURING GUARANTOR'S LIABILITIES TO LENDER. 

 

         14. Miscellaneous. This Guaranty constitutes the entire agreement of 

Guarantor with respect to the matters set forth herein. The rights and remedies 

herein provided are cumulative and not exclusive of any remedies provided by law 

or any other agreement, and this Guaranty shall be in addition to, and not in 

substitution of, any other guaranty or security for the Obligations. The 

invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more sections of this Guaranty 

shall not affect the validity or enforceability of its remaining provisions. 

Captions are for the ease of reference only and shall not affect the meaning of 

the relevant provision. The meaning of all defined terms used in this Guaranty 

shall be equally applicable to the singular and plural forms of the terms 

defined. 

 

         Executed under seal and delivered as of the date first above written. 

 

                                     SMITH & WESSON CORP. 

 

                                     By: 

- ------------------------------          --------------------------- 

Witness                              Its duly authorized 
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Exhibit 10.28 

 

                              SOLVENCY CERTIFICATE 

 

 

         Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation, a Nevada corporation having a chief 

executive principal place of business at 14500 Northsight, Suite 221, 

Scottsdale, Arizona (the "Borrower"), does hereby certify that the person 

executing this Certificate is the chief financial officer of the Borrower and is 

duly authorized to execute this Certificate on behalf of the Borrower. This 

Certificate is being delivered pursuant to a Loan and Security Agreement of even 

date herewith (the "Loan Agreement") and executed by and between the Borrower 

and Banknorth, N.A., a national banking association with a usual place of 

business at 1441 Main Street, Springfield, Massachusetts (the "Lender"). All 

capitalized terms used, which are not otherwise defined herein, shall have the 

meanings attributed to such terms in the Loan Agreement. 

 

         The Borrower further certifies that the person executing this 

Certificate has carefully reviewed the Loan Documents and the contents of this 

Certificate and in connection with the execution and delivery hereof, has made 

such investigation and inquiries as the Borrower deems necessary and prudent. 

 

         The Borrower further certifies that the financial information, 

assumptions and valuation techniques which underlie and form the basis of the 

representations made in this Certificate were reasonable when made and were made 

in good faith and continue to be reasonable as of the date hereof. 

 

         The Borrower understands that the Lender shall rely on the 

representations contained in this Certificate in connection with the 

transactions (as hereinafter defined) contemplated by the Loan Documents. 

 

         The Borrower hereby further certifies that: 

 

         1. The financial statements for fiscal year end 2001 and the pro forma 

balance sheet, operating statement and statement of cash flow through April 30, 

2006, which have been provided to the Lender from the Borrower (the "Financial 

Statements"), give effect to the funding of the Loan and the consummation of all 

other transactions contemplated by the Loan Documents (all of the foregoing 

collectively being referred to as the "Transactions"), and the payment of all 

fees and expenses in connection therewith. The assumptions made in preparing the 

Financial Statements are reasonable as of the date hereof. The Financial 

Statements provide reasonable estimations of future performance, subject to the 

uncertainty and approximation 
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inherent in any projections. The financial statements fairly present the 

Contingent Liabilities (as defined below) as of the date hereof. 

 

         2. On the date hereof, after giving effect to the Transactions and the 

payment of the fees and expenses in connection therewith, the undersigned in 

good faith, after due inquiry, represents and warrants that: 

 

                  (a) the fair market going concern value of all of the assets 

of the Borrower is greater than the total amount of the liabilities, including 

contingent, subordinated, absolute, fixed, matured and unmatured and liquidated 

or unliquidated liabilities, of the Borrower; 

 

                  (b) the present fair market going concern value of the assets 

of the Borrower is sufficient to pay the probable liability of the Borrower on 

its existing debts as such debts become absolute and matured; 

 

                  (c) the Borrower is presently able to pay its debts and other 

liabilities, contingent obligations and other commitments as they mature in the 

normal course of business; and 

 

                  (d) the Borrower is not engaged, or about to engage, in 

business or transactions for which it has unreasonably small capital. 

 

         3. The Borrower does not intend to, or believe that it will, incur 

debts or liabilities that will be beyond its ability to pay the same as they 

mature. 

 

         4. In consummating the Transactions, the Borrower does not intend to 

hinder, delay or defraud either present or future creditors or any other Person 

to which it is or will become indebted on or after the date hereof. 

 

         5. In reaching the conclusions set forth in this Certificate, the 

Borrower has considered among other things: 

 

                  (a) the cash and other current assets of the Borrower 

reflected in the pro forma Balance Sheets; 

 

                  (b) all contingent liabilities of the Borrower, including, 

without limitation, claims arising out of pending or threatened litigation 

against the Borrower, and in so doing, the 
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undersigned has computed the amount of such liabilities as the amount which, in 

light of all the facts and circumstances existing on the date hereof, represents 

the amount that reasonably can be expected to become an actual or mature 

liability (the "Contingent Liabilities"); 

 

                  (c) the Financial Statements; and 

 

                  (d) such other financial, statistical and other data as the 

chief financial officer has determined necessary for the purposes of this 

Certificate. 

 

         IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Certificate the 

___ day of March 2002. 

 

                                         SMITH & WESSON HOLDING 

                                         CORPORATION 

 

______________________________        BY: 

Witness                                  Its duly authorized 
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Exhibit 10.29 

 

                FIRST MODIFICATION TO LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT 

                        AND REVOLVING LINE OF CREDIT NOTE 

 

 

         Now comes Smith & Wesson Corp., a Delaware corporation having a 

principal place of business at 2100 Roosevelt Avenue, Springfield, Massachusetts 

(the "Borrower") and Banknorth, N.A. f/k/a First Massachusetts Bank, N.A., a 

national banking association organized under the laws of the United States of 

America, having a principal place of business at 1441 Main Street, Springfield, 

Massachusetts (the "Lender"). 

 

         WHEREAS, Borrower and Lender have heretofore executed a Loan and 

Security Agreement dated July 12, 2001 (the "Loan Agreement"). 

 

         WHEREAS, pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the Borrower executed inter 

alia, a Revolving Line of Credit Note on July 12, 2001, in the original 

principal amount of Ten Million and 00/100 Dollars ($10,000,000.00) (the 

"Note"). 

 

         WHEREAS, Borrower and its parent corporation, Smith & Wesson Holding 

Corporation, have entered into a related transaction of even date herewith 

whereby Lender has loaned Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation, Fifteen Million 

and 00/100 Dollars ($15,000,000.00) and as part of a coordinated transaction, 

Borrower has agreed to guaranty all obligations of Smith & Wesson Holding 

Corporation and reduce the Maximum Amount of availability pursuant to the Note 

to Eight Million and 00/100 Dollars ($8,000,000.00), which Lender has agreed to 

do, subject to the execution of these presents. 

 

         NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, the 

parties agree as follows: 

 

         1. The principal balance due under the Note is $6,227,025.46, as of 

March 26, 2002, in the form of Letters of Credit issued and ACH credit exposure. 

 

         2. The Borrower as of the date hereof, acknowledges its undisputed and 

liquidated liability to the Lender under the Loan Agreement and Note, without 

any counterclaims, rights of set-off and other defenses, without exception, the 

terms and conditions of which shall remain in full force and effect, except to 

the limited extent of the modification contemplated hereby, with this 

Modification Agreement being incorporated by reference into the Loan Agreement 

and the Note, as if restated therein. 

 

         3. That all terms, conditions and covenants of the Loan Agreement, Note 

and other Loan Documents and instruments heretofore executed by the Borrower 

concerning its financing transactions, shall remain in full force and effect in 

their original tenor, except as provided for hereby and not otherwise. 

 

         4. That Borrower represents, warrants and confirms that all 

"Collateral" pledged, secured or mortgaged in connection with its Obligations to 

Lender is, and shall continue to remain as collateral security for the Note, as 

modified hereby, as well as any and all other "Future Advances" and its 

unlimited guaranty of all Obligations of Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation. 
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THE MODIFICATIONS 

 

         5. That the definition of "Available Amount" in the Loan Agreement is 

deleted and replaced with the following: 

 

                  " `Available Amount' means up to an aggregate outstanding 

                  principal amount not to exceed the lesser of: (i) Eight 

                  Million and 00/100 Dollars ($8,000,000.00) (the "Maximum 

                  Amount"); or (ii) the aggregate market value of the 

                  "Collateral" (a) discounted by the following percentages and 

                  (b) reduced by the amount of any margin or other liability due 

                  from Borrower to the broker or other securities intermediary 

                  holding the Collateral: 

 

 

 

Type of Security                             Discount Factor 

- ----------------                             --------------- 

                                           

Money Market Account                              0% 

 

Annuities                                         0% 

 

United States Government Securities              10% 

 

Corporate Securities and Commercial Paper        30% 

 

Corporate and Municipal Bonds                    20% 

 

 

                  Provided, however, the Available Amount shall be reduced by 

                  the aggregate of issued Letters of Credit and ACH Credit 

                  Risk." 

 

         6. That the definition "Maximum Amount" is deleted in its entirety and 

replaced with the following: 

 

         " `Maximum Amount' means Eight Million and 00/100 Dollars 

($8,000,000.00)." 

 

         7. That the phrase "Prime Loan" in the Loan Agreement is deleted and 

replaced with the phrase "Base Loan" throughout the Loan Agreement. 

 

         8. That the phrase "Prime Rate" in the Loan Agreement is deleted and 

replaced with the phrase "Base Rate" throughout the Loan Agreement. 

 

         9. That Section 2.01 in the Loan Agreement is deleted in its entirety 

and replaced with the following: 
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         "2.01 REVOLVING LINE OF CREDIT FACILITY 

 

         An Eight Million and 00/100 Dollar ($8,000,000.00) discretionary Demand 

Revolving Line of Credit (the "Revolving Line of Credit") will be made 

available, repayable ON DEMAND, at any time, with Loans made from time-to-time 

during the period from the date of this Agreement up to, but not including, the 

date when demand is made for repayment of the Revolving Line of Credit. Loans 

may be in any amount within the limits of the Available Amount, and within such 

limits, the Borrower may borrow and repay pursuant to Section 3.02 and re-borrow 

under this Section 2.01 on such terms and conditions as are contained herein. 

Each Loan shall be made and maintained at the Lender's Lending office for such 

Loan. At all times, advances against the Revolving Line of Credit shall remain 

solely within the discretion of the Lender. The Borrower shall pay interest to 

the Lender, which shall be calculated daily and payable monthly, in arrears, on 

the outstanding and unpaid principal amount of the Revolving Line of Credit 

Loans made under this Agreement during the preceding month at a rate per annum 

equal to the Base Rate." 

 

         10. That Section 2A.01 of the Loan Agreement shall be deleted in its 

entirety and replaced with the following: 

 

         "2A.01 Lender agrees, subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter 

         set forth, to incur Letter of Credit Obligations with respect to the 

         issuance of Letters of Credit issued on terms acceptable to Lender and 

         supporting obligations of Borrower incurred in the ordinary course of 

         Borrower's business, in order to support the payment of Borrower's 

         inventory purchase obligations, insurance premiums, or utility or other 

         operating expenses and obligations, as Borrower shall request by 

         written notice to Lender that is received by Lender not less than two 

         (2) Business Days prior to the requested date of issuance of any such 

         Letter of Credit; provided, that: (a) that the aggregate amount of all 

         Letter of Credit Obligations at any one time outstanding (whether or 

         not then due and payable) shall not exceed Seven Million Five Hundred 

         Eighty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($7,580,000.00); and (b) Lender 

         shall be under no obligation to incur any Letter of Credit Obligation 

         if after giving effect to the incurrence of such Letter of Credit 

         Obligation, the Available Amount would be less than zero." 

 

         11. That Section 2.06 of the Loan Agreement is deleted in its entirety 

and replaced with the following: 

 

         "2.06 USE OF PROCEEDS 

 

         The proceeds of the Revolving Line of Credit Facility may be used by 

         the Borrower (i) to support standby and commercial letters of credit, 

         (ii) allocated against an ACH Credit Risk Exposure of $420,000 (20% of 

         $2,100, 000 ACH Batch Limit) and (iii) for working capital. The 

         Revolving Line of Credit will be reduced by $420,000 and held by the 

         Lender as a reserve for ACH batch limit transactions. 

 

         The Borrower will not, directly or indirectly, use any part of such 

         proceeds for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any margin stock 

         within the meaning of Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the 

         Federal Reserve System or to extend credit to any Person for the 

         purpose of purchasing or carrying any such margin stock, or for any 
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         purpose which violates, or is inconsistent with, Regulation X of such 

         Board of Governors." 

 

         12. That Section 4.00 of the Loan Agreement shall be deleted in its 

entirety and replaced with the following: 

 

         "4.00 SECURITY INTEREST 

 

         Borrower, for valuable consideration received, hereby pledges, assigns, 

         transfers and grants to Lender as security for the Obligations, a 

         continuing lien and security interest in all of Borrower's right, title 

         and interest in and to, the following investment property and general 

         intangibles consisting of annuity contracts, Securities, stocks, bonds, 

         United States government securities, commercial paper and all income 

         therefrom, increases therein and proceeds thereof maintained at and/or 

         by: (1) PRIME VEST FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC., ACCOUNT NO. 74006311,(the 

         "Account"); (2) Pacific Life Insurance Company Annuity - $1,000,000 - 

         Contract No. SP01001834; (3) Pacific Life Insurance Company Annuity - 

         $500,000 - Contract No. VR01050237; (4) Pacific Life Insurance Company 

         Annuity - $9,000,000 - Contract No. SP01001732; (5) Keyport Insurance 

         Trust I Annuity - $950,000 - Contract No. 0212493926-01; and (6) MFS 

         Regatta Insurance Trust Annuity - $2,000,000 - Contract No. 

         93-9300-035978, together with products and proceeds thereof and all 

         accessions and additions thereto and all replacements and substitutions 

         therefore (hereinafter called the "Collateral"). The term "proceeds" 

         shall include, without limitation, all types of classifications of 

         non-cash proceeds acquired with cash proceeds. 

 

                  The Borrower shall at all times maintain Collateral having an 

         aggregate market value (on a discounted basis subject to the Discount 

         Factors set forth in the definition of Available Amount) of not less 

         than the sum of any applicable surrender charges, prepayment fees, 

         early withdrawal fees and/or similar charges required in connection 

         with any of the Annuities and/or Securities, and the Obligations of the 

         Borrower to the Lender hereunder. Additional units or shares of 

         investment securities (or other unrestricted, registered securities 

         publicly traded on a nationally recognized stock exchange, or other 

         additional collateral acceptable to the Lender) may from time to time 

         be required by the Lender to be transferred to the Account, and the 

         Borrower agrees to do so within three (3) business days of notice and 

         request from the Lender stating that the then aggregate market value of 

         Collateral is less than the sum of any applicable surrender charges, 

         prepayment fees, early withdrawal fees and/or similar charges required 

         in connection with any of the Annuities and/or Securities, and the 

         Obligations of the Borrower to the Lender hereunder. Failure by the 

         Borrower to provide additional collateral having an aggregate market 

         value (on a discounted basis subject to the Discount Factors set forth 

         in the definition of Available Amount) equal to the difference between 

         (i) the sum of any applicable surrender charges, prepayment fees, early 

         withdrawal fees and/or similar charges required in connection with any 

         of the Annuities and/or Securities, and (ii) the Obligations and the 

         then aggregate market value of the Collateral shall constitute an Event 

         of Default, and the Lender shall be entitled to liquidate the 

         Collateral for application to the Obligations without further notice to 

         the Borrower. 
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                  Provided that no Default or Event of Default has occurred and 

is continuing hereunder, the Lender, upon request of the Borrower or its 

authorized representatives, shall promptly make or cause to be made trades of 

investment securities held in the Account as Collateral for the Obligations. In 

addition, so long as no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is 

continuing hereunder, the Lender, upon request of the Borrower or its authorized 

representatives, shall promptly transfer or withdraw or cause to be transferred 

or withdrawn from the Account and placed in an alternative account designated by 

the Borrower or delivered to the Borrower, as the case may be, cash or 

securities in such amounts up to that amount by which the then current aggregate 

market value of the Collateral (on a discounted basis subject to the Discount 

Factors set forth in the definition of Available Amount) exceeds the sum of any 

applicable surrender charges, prepayment fees, early withdrawal fees and/or 

similar charges required in connection with any of the Annuities and/or 

Securities, and the Obligations." 

 

         13. That Section 6.02 of the Loan Agreement is deleted in its entirety 

and replaced with the following: 

 

         "6.02 NO SALE OF COLLATERAL 

 

         Without prior written consent of Lender, which will not be unreasonably 

         withheld, Borrower, during the tenure of this Agreement, will not sell, 

         assign, or dispose of any Collateral, nor create or permit to be 

         created, any lien, encumbrance or security interest of any kind on any 

         Collateral other than for the benefit of Lender, and if such lien or 

         encumbrance is created or permitted, Borrower will effect a discharge 

         of the same within ten (10) days following written notice from Lender. 

         Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower may dispose of Investment 

         Collateral in accordance with the terms of the Control Agreement." 

 

         14. That Section 6.04 of the Loan Agreement is deleted in its entirety 

and replaced with the following: 

 

         "6.04 NOTICE OF MERGER OR ACQUISITION 

 

         Borrower and/or Guarantor will not wind up, liquidate, or dissolve 

         itself, reorganize, merge or consolidate with, or into, or convey, 

         sell, assign, transfer, lease, or otherwise dispose of (whether in one 

         transaction or a series of transactions) all or substantially all of 

         its assets and/or the Guarantor's (whether now owned or hereafter 

         acquired) to any Person or acquire all or substantially all of the 

         assets or the business of any Person or permit any subsidiary to do so 

         without providing notice of such event to Lender within thirty (30) 

         days of such occurrence, together with financial information necessary 

         for the Lender to evaluate the capital structure and debt service 

         ability of the Borrower after giving effect to such occurrence; 

         provided that such notice and information shall be solely for 

         informational purposes and Lender shall have no right to approve or 

         disapprove such transaction." 

 

         15. That Section 6.07 of the Loan Agreement is deleted in its entirety 

and replaced with the following: 

 

         "6.07 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

         The Borrower will deliver, at its sole expense, to the Lender, the 

         following: 

 

         A. Within one hundred twenty (120) days after the close of each fiscal 

         year, its consolidated financial statements, including the Guarantor, 

         audited by certified public accountants servicing the corporations, 

         along with the accountant's management letter and an accounts 

         receivable aging as of the end of each fiscal year. 

 

         B. Within forty-five (45) days after the close of each of the first 

         three (3) fiscal quarters, Borrower will provide to Lender, its 

         internally prepared financial statements, including the Guarantor, 

         including, without limitation, consolidated income statement and 

         balance 
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         sheet, accounts receivable aging, and consolidated statement of cash 

         flow prepared according to GAAP consistently applied. 

 

         C. The Borrower shall provide Lender with a true and correct copy of 

         all filings made with the Securities Exchange Commission as and when 

         filed. 

 

         D. The Borrower and Guarantor shall deliver to the Lender by March 31st 

         of each fiscal year, a true and correct copy of their consolidated 

         projections for that fiscal year, to include an income statement, 

         balance sheet and cash flow statement. 

 

         E. From time-to-time, such additional information regarding the 

         financial condition or business of the Borrower and Guarantor as the 

         Lender may request. 

 

 

                  MODIFICATION TO REVOLVING LINE OF CREDIT NOTE 

 

         16. That the opening paragraph of the Revolving Line of Credit Note is 

deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: 

 

         "REVOLVING LINE OF CREDIT 

         MAXIMUM AMOUNT: $8,000,000.00 

 

                          REVOLVING LINE OF CREDIT NOTE 

 

         AFTER DATE, FOR VALUE RECEIVED, SMITH & WESSON CORP., a Delaware 

         corporation having a principal place of business at 2100 Roosevelt 

         Avenue, Springfield, Massachusetts (the "Borrower"), promises to pay to 

         the order, of BANKNORTH, N.A. F/K/A FIRST MASSACHUSETTS BANK, N.A., a 

         national banking association duly organized under the laws of the 

         United States of America ("Lender"), having a usual place of business 

         at 1441 Main Street, Springfield, Massachusetts, ON DEMAND, the maximum 

         principal sum of EIGHT MILLION AND 00/100 DOLLARS ($8,000,000.00), or 

         the (then) current balance of Borrower's loans now existing, refinanced 

         hereby, or made to it on or after the date hereof, by the Lender, from 

         time-to-time ("Principal Sum"), as reflected by the books, records and 

         ledgers of the Lender ("Loan Account") with respect to those loans made 

         on or after the date hereof pursuant to a Loan and Security Agreement 

         of even date herewith (the "Loan Agreement"), as well as all other 

         obligations of Borrower pursuant to this Note which may at any time be 

         due to Lender (if such balances or obligations are other than Eight 

         Million and 00/100 Dollars ($8,000,000.00)), together with interest 

         thereon in arrears, calculated daily and payable monthly on the 

         outstanding and unpaid principal amount of the Revolving Line of Credit 

         Loans during the preceding month at a rate per annum equal to Lender's 

         Base Rate. The term "Base Rate" shall mean that rate of interest 

         established and announced as such by the Lender from time-to-time as 

         the Base Rate." 

 

         17. That for valuable consideration received, including but not limited 

to, a Fifteen Million and 00/100 Dollar ($15,000,000.00) Term Loan of even date 

herewith, Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation does hereby guaranty payment and 

performance of all Obligations of the Borrower, all as more fully described in 

Exhibit "1" attached hereto. 
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         18. That any ambiguities, contradictions, discrepancies as between or 

among the Loan Agreement, the Note and this Modification Agreement shall at all 

times, and in each instance, be resolved in favor of this Modification 

Agreement. 

 

         19. Except for the modifications made hereby, this Modification is in 

addition to, and not in substitution of, the Loan Agreement and the Note. 

 

         Executed under seal this ___ day of March, 2002 by the parties set 

forth below by their duly authorized officers. 

 

                                          SMITH & WESSON CORP. 

 

 

__________________________________     By:______________________________________ 

Witness                                   Its duly authorized 

                                          BORROWER 

 

                                          SMITH & WESSON HOLDING CORPORATION 

 

__________________________________     By:______________________________________ 

Witness                                   Its duly authorized 

                                          GUARANTOR 

 

                                          BANKNORTH, N.A. F/K/A FIRST 

                                          MASSACHUSETTS BANK, N.A. 

 

__________________________________     By:______________________________________ 

Witness                                   Its duly authorized 

                                          LENDER 
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Exhibit 10.31 

 

                                 SMITH & WESSON 

                            WHOLESALE SPORTING GOODS 

                              DISTRIBUTOR AGREEMENT 

 

      THIS AGREEMENT is effective as of January 1, 2002 between SMITH & WESSON 

CORP., a Delaware corporation (Smith & Wesson) with offices at 2100 Roosevelt 

Avenue, Springfield, Massachusetts 01102 and <> (Distributor). 

 

      1. APPOINTMENT. Smith & Wesson hereby appoints Distributor a non-exclusive 

sporting goods wholesale distributor for Smith & Wesson sporting goods equipment 

(the Products) in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

 

      2. COMPLIANCE WITH FIREARMS LAWS. Distributor acknowledges that the 

distribution and sale of Smith & Wesson firearms are governed by 

responsibilities and obligations delineated by law and by virtue of this 

agreement with Smith & Wesson. Distributor represents that it is presently in 

full compliance with all federal, state and local laws, statutes, ordinances and 

regulations relating to the distribution and sale of firearms. Distributor 

further represents and acknowledges that the name and reputation of Smith & 

Wesson and its products constitute a valuable asset, and Distributor shall 

conduct its operations and the distribution and sale of the Products ethically 

and strictly in accordance with the letter and spirit of all applicable laws so 

that the name and reputation of Smith & Wesson and its Products shall not be 

adversely affected. Distributor acknowledges this is a material condition and 

term to this Agreement. Failure to comply with this Provision affords Smith & 

Wesson the right to terminate this Agreement without further obligation or 

liability on the part of Smith & Wesson. 

 

      3. DISTRIBUTOR'S DUTIES. The Distributor shall: 

 

      (a) Comply with all federal, state and local laws, statutes, ordinances 

and regulations relating to the sale and distribution of firearms during the 

term of this agreement. 

 

      (b) Employ sufficient adequately trained and competent personnel who will 

follow all federal, state and local laws, statutes, ordinances and regulations 

relating to the sale and distribution of firearms during the term of this 

agreement. 

 

      (c) Restrict the sale of firearms to those persons or dealers lawfully 

authorized to purchase or own firearms. 

 

      (d) Not knowingly sell Smith & Wesson products to any person or entity who 

is not complying with the laws and regulations relating to the sale or 

distribution of firearms. 
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      (e) Maintain all required books and records relating to the sale or 

distribution of firearms and cooperate with all appropriate law enforcement 

inquiries relating to those books and records. 

 

      (f) Limit the sale of Smith & Wesson firearms to other Smith & Wesson 

distributors or to retail dealers who have a federal firearms license and a 

regular place of business where products are displayed to the retail public. 

 

      (g) Equip all new Smith & Wesson firearms sold or distributed with a 

locking device provided by Smith & Wesson. Distributor further agrees that it 

will provide all applicable Smith & Wesson safety and instruction manuals with 

new Smith & Wesson products. 

 

      (h) Adhere to the sales policies of Smith & Wesson which may be expressed 

or modified by Smith & Wesson as it deems necessary from time to time. 

 

      (i) Assist Smith & Wesson in processing warranty claims and otherwise 

fulfilling its obligations as provided in such warranties. 

 

      (j) Maintain the financial and competitive capabilities necessary to 

achieve and support effective distribution of the Products. 

 

      (k) Pay all Smith & Wesson invoices promptly when due. 

 

      (1) Provide financial statements (including a balance sheet, profit and 

loss statement and changes in cash flow) certified by independent certified 

public accountants, within 60 days after the close of each fiscal year. 

 

      (m) Purchase and maintain a sufficient inventory of Products to 

effectively support retail dealers' product needs and maintain, at its own 

expense, suitable storage and warehouse facilities for this purpose. 

 

      (n) Report the unit and dollar sales of new Smith & Wesson handguns broken 

into the following categories: Revolvers, Centerfire Pistols, and .22 Pistols, 

by state, on a monthly basis no later than 15 days from the end of the calendar 

month. This information will be supplied on forms supplied by Smith & Wesson 

unless another format is specifically approved by Smith & Wesson's Vice 

President of Sales and Marketing. 

 

      (o) Not ship the Products to other wholesale distributors who are not 

Smith & Wesson contract distributors. 

 

      (p) Provide sales, service and market reports as Smith & Wesson may 

reasonably request. 

 

      4. DISTRIBUTOR'S KEY PERSONNEL AND AFFILIATES. Distributor represents and 

warrants that the persons or entities named in Exhibit A include (a) all of the 

Distributor's key personnel, officers, and directors, and (b) the 
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individuals or entities that control or are controlled by the Distributor. 

Distributor shall give written notice to Smith & Wesson of any change in Exhibit 

A within thirty (30) days of such change. 

 

      5. PROHIBITIONS. Distributor shall not, directly or indirectly: 

 

      (a) Sell new Smith & Wesson products at "gun shows". 

 

 

      (b) Possess or transfer any large capacity ammunition feeding devices 

manufactured by Smith & Wesson for sale to purchasers except for those sold to 

law enforcement agencies or other purchasers specified by law in paragraph (b) 

of Section 178.40(a) of the Code of Federal Regulations. 

 

      (c) Sell or market new Smith & Wesson products through Shotgun News, Gun 

List, or other similar magazines. 

 

      (d) Knowingly sell firearms to persons or dealers where false or 

misleading statements have been made with respect to the information required to 

purchase a firearm. 

 

      (e) Knowingly sell or deliver any firearm to any person or dealer if the 

purchase or possession would be in violation of any federal, state or local law, 

statute, ordinance or regulation applicable at the place of sale or delivery. 

 

      (f) Participate in direct bids or sell the Products directly to law 

enforcement agencies, except that Distributor may honor handgun orders from 

dealers for law enforcement agencies providing the order does not exceed 25 

units. 

 

      (g) Export any order in excess of five new Smith & Wesson standard catalog 

handguns and an additional $1,000.00 in non-handgun product, without the prior 

written approval of Vice President of Sales and Marketing to the attached list 

(Exhibit B) of specific countries which currently have appropriate distribution 

or agents. 

 

      6. TERMS OF SALE. This Agreement, as well as Smith & Wesson's invoice and 

order acknowledgment, shall govern the purchase and sale of all Products to 

Distributor. To the extent there is any inconsistency between the documents, 

this Agreement shall govern. 

 

Smith & Wesson reserves the right to change Products, prices, terms of sale, and 

sales policies by giving written notice of any such change to Distributor. 

 

      7. INDEMNIFICATION. Distributor shall indemnify, defend, hold harmless, 

and reimburse Smith & Wesson from any and all claims, causes of action, losses, 

damages, wrongful death claims, personal injury claims, property damage claims, 

expenses and costs as they are incurred (including reasonable attorney's fees, 

expenses and costs of litigation) or liability of any kind arising directly or 

indirectly (hereinafter 
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"Claims") in tort, contract or otherwise, out of either (a) Distributor's 

alleged or actual violation or breach of this Agreement; (b) the handling, 

possession or use of the Products by Distributor or any of its employees or 

agents (excluding, however, liability arising solely out of the manufacture of 

the Products by Smith & Wesson); and/or (c) any Claims asserted by any third 

party against Smith & Wesson which were caused (or alleged to be), in whole or 

part, by the negligence, misconduct, action or omissions of Distributor. 

 

      8. INSPECTION AND REPAIR OF RESALE - PRODUCTS. Smith & Wesson may, from 

time to time, take used Products in trade-in from law enforcement agencies as a 

credit toward the purchase of new Products, and Smith & Wesson may sell such 

used Products to the Distributor for resale by the Distributor to its customers. 

If mutually agreed upon by Smith & Wesson and Distributor, Smith & Wesson may 

direct law enforcement agencies to deliver such used Products directly to 

Distributor. Upon receipt of the used Products, the Distributor is required to 

follow the inspection and repair procedure described below. 

 

Upon receipt of any used Products intended for resale, Distributor shall perform 

an inspection of each used product and, if necessary, make all necessary repairs 

to ensure that the Products are in good working order, and that all safety 

devices and other features are functioning properly. Only used Products which 

are functioning properly and safely may be sold by the Distributor to its 

customers. 

 

      9. WARRANTY. Smith & Wesson may provide express written warranties on 

Smith & Wesson Products. SUCH WARRANTIES ARE IN LIEU OF, AND SMITH & WESSON 

HEREBY DISCLAIMS, ALL WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED 

TO, THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR 

PURPOSE. Distributor shall not make any representations or warranties concerning 

the Products except those contained in Smith & Wesson prepared materials 

accompanying the Product. Distributor is not authorized to extend or otherwise 

modify (or permit any vendee to extend or otherwise modify) Smith & Wesson's 

warranty with respect to any Product. Any statements or warranties, written or 

oral, made by distributor with respect to a product that exceeds, modifies or 

deviates from the applicable warranty for such product provided by Smith & 

Wesson shall be the sole responsibility of distributor unless Smith & Wesson has 

given its written authorization for such modification or deviation. 

 

      10. CREDIT. Smith & Wesson may, in its sole discretion, extend credit to 

Distributor, and ship Products to Distributor on open account. If Smith & Wesson 

is not satisfied with the credit standing of Distributor, Smith & Wesson may 

immediately discontinue extending credit to Distributor and Distributor will 

immediately make payment of all outstanding amounts. In the event Distributor 

fails to pay Smith & Wesson any amount when due, Smith & Wesson shall assess 

Distributor a late charge equal to the greater of 2% per month or the highest 

rate permissible under applicable law on the outstanding balance which is due 

and owing. 
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      11. RETURNS. Distributor shall not, upon the expiration or termination of 

this Agreement, return inventory or any unsold product to Smith & Wesson (unless 

agreed upon by Smith & Wesson) or seek reimbursement or any other damages 

relating to prospective profits on sales or anticipated sales of products. 

 

      12. TRADE NAMES AND TRADEMARKS. Smith & Wesson grants to Distributor a 

nontransferable, nonexclusive license to use Smith & Wesson trade names and 

trademarks provided that Distributor shall not use such trade names or 

trademarks as any part of its title or the name of its business. Distributor 

shall also not use such trade names or trademarks in any manner in connection 

with an effort to sell the goods of others, whether or not such goods are 

competitive with the Products. Upon termination of this Agreement, Distributor 

shall immediately discontinue any use of Smith & Wesson's trademarks, trade 

names, and any other identification with Smith & Wesson. 

 

      13. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the 

parties waive and relinquish any Claims, demands, causes of action or recoveries 

for punitive damages, exemplary damages, or statutory damages. Smith & Wesson 

shall not be liable for indirect, special, incidental or other damages arising 

under this Agreement or otherwise with respect to the sale of the Products, 

including, any lost revenues or profits, consequential and/or incidental 

damages, business interruption or damage to business reputation, regardless of 

the theory upon which any Claim may be based, including any statutory causes of 

action or claims. Notwithstanding the term of any limited written warranty 

provided to Distributor, or in the event said limited written warranty fails of 

its essential purpose, in no event will Smith & Wesson's entire liability to 

Distributor exceed the purchase price actually paid by Distributor for the 

Products hereunder, or any defective portion thereof, whichever is the lesser 

amount. Any written limited warranty is the sole and exclusive remedy of 

Distributor. 

 

No Claim of any kind may be brought against Smith & Wesson by Distributor more 

than one year after the Claim has arisen. In addition, Distributor may not make 

any Claim for shortage or damage in any delivery to Distributor more than 

fourteen business days after Distributor's receipt of the delivery; and, all 

other Claims, including Claims for allegedly defective goods, must be made 

within fifteen days after Distributor learns of the facts on which such Claim is 

based, but in no event later than one year after Distributor's receipt of the 

goods. 

 

      14. FORCE MAJEURE. Smith & Wesson shall have no liability or obligation to 

Distributor of any kind, including, but not limited to, any obligation to 

deliver Products or provide maintenance, warranty, repair or other services, 

arising from any delay or failure or failure to perform all or any part of this 

Agreement as a result of causes, conduct or occurrence beyond Smith & Wesson's 

reasonable control, including, but not limited to, commercial impracticability, 

fire, flood, act of war, civil disorder or disobedience, act of public enemies, 

problems associated with manufacture or transportation (including car or truck 

shortages), acts or failure to act of any state, federal or foreign governmental 

or regulatory authorities, labor disputes, strikes or failures of suppliers to 

make timely deliveries of materials, goods or services to Smith & Wesson. 
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      15. DEFAULT. The failure of Distributor to perform any obligations 

hereunder, including without limitation, the breach of this Agreement, the 

payment of the purchase price for Products and/or all other amounts due 

hereunder, the failure to materially perform other agreements between 

Distributor and Smith & Wesson, or Distributor's bankruptcy, insolvency, or 

inability to pay its debts when they become due, shall constitute a default 

under this Agreement and shall, in addition to any other remedies in law, equity 

or under this Agreement, afford Smith & Wesson all the remedies of a secured 

party under the Uniform Commercial Code. In the event of default, Smith & Wesson 

may, in addition to canceling this Agreement without liability to Distributor, 

refuse to provide warranty, repair and/or maintenance services and/or refuse to 

deliver Products under this or any other service, purchase or maintenance 

agreement relating to the Products, and may also cancel this Agreement and any 

pending orders or agreements without liability to Distributor. Notwithstanding 

the foregoing, it is understood that Smith & Wesson's remedies hereunder are 

cumulative and nonexclusive. 

 

      16. BREACH OF CONTRACT. A violation or breach of any item of this 

agreement, which may be determined in the sole and unfettered discretion of 

Smith & Wesson, may in its discretion also issue a warning that a distributor is 

operating in violation of the agreement, suspend shipments, or take such other 

steps as it deems appropriate under the circumstances. No acts or omissions by 

Smith & Wesson shall be deemed a waiver of any rights under this agreement. 

 

      17. TERM. This Agreement shall remain in effect until December 31, 2002, 

when it will automatically terminate; provided, however, that either party may 

terminate this Agreement without cause by giving thirty (30) days prior written 

notice to the other party and, provided further, that Smith & Wesson may 

terminate this Agreement immediately by giving written notice of termination if 

any of the following occur: 

 

                  (a) a breach, violation or failure to perform any term of this 

Agreement by Distributor; 

 

                  (b) Failure to pay the purchase price to Smith & Wesson when 

due; 

 

                  (c) a change in the business, operation, control, financial 

condition or business affairs of Distributor including, without limitation, a 

change in the parties listed in Exhibit A, the filing of any lien against 

Distributor or attachment of any assets, the entry of a judgment against 

Distributor in an amount in excess of $25,000, the filing of any petition in 

bankruptcy by or against Distributor, Distributor's insolvency, reorganization 

or inability to pay its debts when due; or 

 

                  (d) Distributor has failed to provide any financial statements 

as required by Section 3(e). 
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Smith & Wesson may suspend or terminate all Distributor rights, with or without 

notice, if a claim is brought by any governmental or law enforcement agency in 

which the business or distribution practices of Distributor are called into 

question. 

 

      18. SEVERABILITY. If any term, covenant, warranty or condition of this 

Agreement or the application thereof to any person or circumstance shall, to any 

extent, be held or deemed invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this 

Agreement or the application of such term, covenant or provision, to persons or 

circumstances other than those to which it is held invalid or unenforceable, 

shall not be affected thereby, and each remaining term, covenant, or provision 

of this Agreement shall be deemed valid and shall be enforced to the fullest 

extent permitted by law. 

 

      19. NON-EXCLUSIVE NATURE. Smith & Wesson reserves the right to appoint 

other distributors and to make direct sales to any other person or entity. It is 

expressly agreed that Distributor's rights are non-exclusive. The Distributor is 

not an agent, employee or franchisee of Smith & Wesson and may not assign or 

license any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement. 

 

            20. ACCEPTANCE, MERGER AND INTEGRATION. SMITH & WESSON WILL BE 

      DEEMED TO HAVE ACCEPTED THIS AGREEMENT WHEN SMITH & WESSON RETURNS AN 

      ACKNOWLEDGED COPY OF THIS AGREEMENT TO DISTRIBUTOR, OR AT SMITH & WESSON'S 

      OPTION, WHEN SMITH & WESSON BEGINS SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE UNDER THIS 

      AGREEMENT. DISTRIBUTOR ACCEPTS THIS AGREEMENT BY ACKNOWLEDGING OR SIGNING 

      A COPY OF THIS AGREEMENT OR BY ACCEPTANCE OF DELIVERY OF THE PRODUCTS OR 

      SERVICES HEREUNDER. NOTWITHSTANDING THE MANNER IN WHICH DISTRIBUTOR 

      ACCEPTS, DISTRIBUTOR'S ACCEPTANCE IS LIMITED EXCLUSIVELY TO THE ACCEPTANCE 

      OF SMITH & WESSON'S TERMS AND CONDITIONS SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT ONLY. 

      SMITH & WESSON HEREBY OBJECTS TO AND REJECTS ANY PROPOSAL BY DISTRIBUTOR 

      FOR ADDITIONAL OR DIFFERENT TERMS IN CONNECTION WITH THE PRODUCTS OR 

      SERVICES PROVIDED. ANY CONTRARY TERMS PROVIDED BY DISTRIBUTOR ARE AGREED 

      TO BE SUPERFLUOUS AND WITHOUT ANY FORCE AND EFFECT. THIS AGREEMENT, WHICH 

      INCLUDES ALL THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS SET FORTH HEREIN AND ALL RIDERS OR 

      LIMITED WRITTEN WARRANTIES, IF ANY, PROVIDED BY SMITH & WESSON, IS 

      INTENDED TO BE THE EXCLUSIVE AND FINAL STATEMENT OF THE TERMS AND 

      UNDERSTANDINGS RELATIVE TO THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF, MERGING HEREIN, AND 

      SUPERSEDING ALL NEGOTIATIONS AND PRIOR WRITTEN OR ORAL AGREEMENTS BETWEEN 

      THE PARTIES AS TO THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THE PURCHASE OF THE PRODUCTS OR 

      SERVICES HEREUNDER. THERE ARE NO PROMISES, REPRESENTATIONS OR 

      UNDERSTANDINGS MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR CONTEMPORANEOUS 

      WITH THE EXECUTION HEREOF, EXCEPT AS SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT. 

 

      21. ARBITRATION. Except for the right of either party to apply to a court 

of competent jurisdiction located within the Commonwealth of Massachusetts for 

equitable relief to preserve the status quo or prevent irreparable harm, any 

controversy or 
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claim relating to this Agreement shall be settled by arbitration in the City of 

Springfield, Massachusetts, in accordance with the rules of the American 

Arbitration Association or some other similar organization mutually agreeable to 

the parties. The arbitrator shall not be empowered to grant exemplary or 

punitive damages or any damages in excess of those damages permitted or limited 

under the express terms of this Agreement. Distributor shall be liable for all 

collection costs and expenses, including collection agency and reasonable 

attorney's fees and costs, incurred by Smith & Wesson to collect amounts owed to 

Smith & Wesson by Distributor. 

 

      22. ATTORNEY'S FEES. In the event it becomes necessary for Smith & Wesson 

to enforce the terms and conditions of this Agreement by litigation or 

otherwise, or to defend itself in any Controversy (as defined herein), 

litigation, Claim, demand, dispute, or cause of action arising out of or as a 

result of this Agreement or the Products or services provided hereunder, and if 

Smith & Wesson is the substantially prevailing party in said Controversy, 

litigation, Claim, demand, dispute, or cause of action, then Smith & Wesson 

shall be entitled to recover, in addition to any other relief granted or damages 

assessed, its attorney's fees, expert witness fees, costs, and all expenses of 

litigation. 

 

      23. MISCELLANEOUS. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between 

the parties and supersedes any prior negotiations, representations or 

agreements. The delay or failure of either party to assert or exercise any of 

its rights shall not operate as a waiver of such right. 

 

 

<>                             SMITH & WESSON 

 

BY: __________________________           BY: ______________________________ 

 

    __________________________               ______________________________ 

    PRINT NAME AND TITLE                     PRINT NAME AND TITLE 

 

Date:                                    Date: 
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Exhibit 10.32 

 

SMITH & WESSON 

 

 

 

                            WHOLESALE LAW ENFORCEMENT 

                              DISTRIBUTOR AGREEMENT 

 

 

THIS AGREEMENT is effective as of January 1, 2002 and expires December 31, 2002 

between SMITH & WESSON CORP., a Delaware corporation (Smith & Wesson) with 

offices at 2100 Roosevelt Avenue, Springfield, Massachusetts 01104 and 

<> located at <> in <>, <> 

(Distributor). 

 

      I. APPOINTMENT. Smith & Wesson hereby appoints Distributor a non-exclusive 

law enforcement wholesale distributor for Smith & Wesson law enforcement 

equipment (the Products) in the primary area of responsibility described in 

Exhibit A (the "Territory") in accordance with this Agreement. Distributor 

acknowledges that the name and reputation of Smith & Wesson and its products 

constitute a valuable asset, and Distributor shall conduct its operation 

ethically and strictly in accordance with the letter and spirit of applicable 

laws so that the name and reputation of Smith & Wesson and its Products shall 

not be adversely affected. Smith & Wesson reserves the right to appoint other 

distributors and to make direct sales to any person or entity. The Distributor 

is not an agent, employee or franchisee of Smith & Wesson and may not assign or 

license any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement. 

 

II.    DISTRIBUTOR'S DUTIES. The Distributor shall: 

 

A.          Maintain the financial and competitive capabilities necessary to 

            achieve and support effective distribution of the FET exempt 

            Products in the Territory and individual officer sales nationwide. 

 

B.          Pay all Smith & Wesson invoices promptly when due. 

 

C.          Provide financial statements (including a balance sheet, profit and 

            loss statement and changes in cash flow) certified by independent 

            certified public accountants, within 60 days after the close of each 

            fiscal year. 

 

D.          Purchase and maintain a sufficient inventory of Products to 

            effectively support its customers' product needs, and maintain at 

            its own expense suitable storage and warehouse facilities for this 

            purpose. 

 

E.          Not ship the Products to other wholesale distributors who are not 

            Smith & Wesson contract distributors. 
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F.          Adhere to the sales policies of Smith & Wesson which may be 

            expressed by Smith & Wesson as it deems necessary from time to time. 

 

G.          Assist Smith & Wesson in processing warranty claims and otherwise 

            fulfilling its obligations as provided in such warranties. 

 

H.          Advertise for direct sale of the Products to law enforcement and 

            security agencies and their personnel. 

 

I.          Provide Smith & Wesson access to periodically examine the BATF 

            "Bound Book" sales record to ensure that the sales policies of Smith 

            & Wesson are being adhered to. 

 

J.          Use its best and principal efforts to solicit and make law 

            enforcement sales of the Products including, without limitation, the 

            following: employ sufficient adequately trained and competent 

            personnel, including full-time salesmen; make regular personal calls 

            to customers in all parts of the Territory; maintain Distributor's 

            name on all bid lists at the state and local levels; make 

            substantial efforts to have Smith & Wesson specifications written 

            into every bid; bid Smith & Wesson on all bids, even when a 

            competitive product is specified; provide sales, service, market and 

            call reports, as Smith & Wesson may reasonably request; and, attend 

            law enforcement shows and conventions which are conducted in the 

            Territory. 

 

K.          Supply test and evaluation samples of the Products to Distributor's 

            customers as needed. All T&E evaluation units will come direct from 

            Smith & Wesson, drop shipped to the requesting agency. 

 

L.          Sell and service all Smith & Wesson products within assigned 

            territory to individual officers and agencies. 

 

M.          Sell and service Smith & Wesson products to individual officers 

            nationwide. 

 

N.          NOT bid FET exempt handguns outside assigned territory, either 

            directly or through a third account. 

 

O.          Be permitted to honor handgun orders for up to 5 tax exempt handguns 

            from Law Enforcement agencies outside of assigned territory. 

 

P.          Provide up to 10 salesman samples for each full-time traveling 

            salesman employed by Distributor at the prices identified in 

            paragraph V. 
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III. DISTRIBUTOR'S KEY PERSONNEL AND AFFILIATES. Distributor represents that 

   the persons or entities named in Exhibit B include (a) all of the 

   Distributor's key personnel, officers, and directors, and (b) the individuals 

   or entities that control or are controlled by the Distributor. Distributor 

   shall give written notice to Smith & Wesson of any change in Exhibit B within 

   thirty (30) days of such change. 

 

IV. PROHIBITIONS. Distributor shall not, directly or indirectly, (a) sell new 

   Products at "gun shows"; (b) own, manage, be employed by, consult for, or in 

   any other way participate in, the Smith & Wesson sporting goods business at 

   wholesale or retail except pursuant to a separate Smith & Wesson wholesale 

   sporting goods distributor agreement; (c) engage in sales other than to law 

   enforcement and security agencies and their official personnel, except that 

   Distributor may make unsolicited and incidental sales of the Products to 

   consumers; (d) be permitted to export any order in excess of five new Smith & 

   Wesson standard catalog handguns and an additional $1,000.00 in non-handgun 

   product, without the prior approval of either the Vice President of 

   International Sales or the Vice President of Sales & Marketing to the 

   attached list (Exhibit C) of specific countries which currently have 

   appropriate distribution or agents; (e) advertise for direct sale of the 

   Products in general distribution media or to other than law enforcement and 

   security agencies and their personnel. 

 

Violation of Policy will incur the following actions: 

 

First Violation - A warning will be issued that they are operating in violation 

of our Agreement. 

 

Second Violation - Cancellation of distribution Agreement. 

 

V. TERMS OF SALE. This Agreement, Smith & Wesson's invoice and order 

   acknowledgment shall govern the purchase and sale of all Products. To the 

   extent there is any inconsistency between the documents, this Agreement shall 

   govern. Smith & Wesson reserves the right to change Products, prices, terms 

   of sale and sales policies by giving written notice of any such change to 

   Distributor. 

 

   Smith & Wesson shall bill Distributor at Smith & Wesson's Domestic 

   Distributor Confidential List price(s), except that: 

 

      A. Test and evaluation handguns will be invoiced at Distributor price less 

         20% with 60 day net terms; 

 

      B. Salesmen sample guns will be invoiced at Distributor price less 20% 

         with 180 day net terms; 
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      C. Purchases for resale within the Territory documented as exempt from FET 

         will be billed at the Domestic Distributor Confidential Price List 

         level (Distributor w/o FET) less 5%. All purchases for inventory will 

         be billed at the distributor price, including FET. 

 

VI. INDEMNIFICATION. Distributor shall indemnify, defend, hold harmless, and 

   reimburse Smith & Wesson from any and all claims, causes of action, losses, 

   damages, wrongful death claims, personal injury claims, property damage 

   claims, expenses and costs as they are incurred (including reasonable 

   attorney's fees, expenses and costs of litigation) or liability of any kind 

   arising directly or indirectly (hereinafter "Claims") in tort, contract or 

   otherwise, out of either (a) Distributor's alleged or actual violation or 

   breach of this agreement; (b) the handling, possession or use of the Products 

   by Distributor or any of its employees or agents (excluding, however, 

   liability arising solely out of the manufacture of the Products by Smith & 

   Wesson); and/or (c) any Claims asserted by any third party against Smith & 

   Wesson which were caused (or alleged to be), in whole or part, by the 

   negligence, misconduct, action or omissions of the Distributor. 

 

VII. INSPECTION AND REPAIR OF RESALE PRODUCTS. Smith & Wesson may, from time to 

   time, take used Products in trade-in from law enforcement agencies as a 

   credit toward the purchase of new Products, and Smith & Wesson may sell such 

   used Products to the Distributor for resale by the Distributor to its 

   customers. If mutually agreed upon by Smith & Wesson and Distributor, Smith & 

   Wesson may direct law enforcement agencies to deliver such used Products 

   directly to Distributor. Upon receipt of the used Products, the Distributor 

   is required to follow the inspection and repair procedure described below. 

 

   Upon receipt of any used Products intended for resale, Distributor shall 

   perform an inspection of each used product and, if necessary, make all 

   necessary repairs to ensure that the Products are in good working order, and 

   that all safety devices and other features are functioning properly. Only 

   used Products which are functioning properly and safely may be sold by the 

   Distributor to its customers. 

 

VIII. WARRANTY. Smith & Wesson may provide warranties on Smith & Wesson 

   Products. SUCH WARRANTIES ARE IN LIEU OF ALL WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, 

   INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND 

   FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. Distributor shall not make any 

   representations or warranties concerning the Products except those contained 

   in Smith & Wesson prepared materials accompanying the Product. Distributor is 

   not authorized to extend or otherwise modify (or permit any vendee to extend 

   or otherwise modify) Smith & Wesson's warranty with respect to any Product. 

 

IX. CREDIT. Smith & Wesson may, in its sole discretion, extend credit to 

   Distributor, and ship Products to Distributor on open account. If Smith & 

   Wesson is not 
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   satisfied with the credit standing of Distributor, Smith & Wesson may 

   immediately discontinue extending credit to Distributor and Distributor will 

   immediately make payment of all outstanding amounts. In the event Distributor 

   fails to pay Smith & Wesson any amount when due, Smith & Wesson shall assess 

   Distributor a late charge equal to the greater of 2% per month or the highest 

   rate permissible under applicable law on the outstanding balance which is due 

   and owing. 

 

X. TRADE NAMES AND TRADEMARKS. Smith & Wesson grants to Distributor a 

   nontransferable, nonexclusive license to use Smith & Wesson trade names and 

   trademarks provided that Distributor shall not use such trade names or 

   trademarks as any part of its title or the name of its business. Distributor 

   shall also not use such trade names or trademarks in any manner in connection 

   with an effort to sell the goods of others, whether or not such goods are 

   competitive with the Products. Upon termination of this Agreement, 

   Distributor shall immediately discontinue any use of Smith & Wesson's 

   trademarks, trade names, and any other identification with Smith & Wesson. 

 

XI. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. Smith & Wesson's liability for any losses or 

   damages to Distributor resulting from the condition of the Products or from 

   any other cause shall be limited to the purchase price, or at Smith & 

   Wesson's option, to the repair or replacement of the Products. Under no 

   circumstances shall Smith & Wesson be liable to Distributor for incidental, 

   consequential or special damages. No claim of any kind may be brought by 

   Distributor more than two years after the claim has arisen. In addition, 

   Distributor may not make any claim for shortage or damage in any delivery to 

   Distributor more than three business days after Distributor's receipt of the 

   delivery; and, all other claims, including claims for allegedly defective 

   goods, must be made within fifteen days after Distributor learns of the facts 

   on which such claim is based, but in no event later than one year after 

   Distributor's receipt of the goods. 

 

XII. TERM. This Agreement shall remain in effect until December 31, 2002, when 

   it will automatically terminate provided, however, that either party may 

   terminate this Agreement without cause by giving thirty (30) days written 

   notice to the other party and, provided further, that Smith & Wesson may 

   terminate this Agreement immediately by giving written notice of termination 

   if any of the following happen: 

 

      A.    a breach of this Agreement by Distributor; 

 

      B.    a change in the business, operation, control, financial condition or 

            business affairs of Distributor including, without limitation, a 

            change in the parties listed in Exhibit B, the filing of any lien 

            against Distributor or attachments of any assets, the entry of a 

            judgment against Distributor in an amount in excess of $25,000, or 

            the filing of any petition in bankruptcy by or against Distributor; 

            or 
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      C.    Distributor has failed to provide any financial statements as 

            required by Section II (c). 

 

   Distributor shall not, upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement, 

   return inventory to Smith & Wesson or seek reimbursement, or any other 

   damages relating to prospective profits on sales or anticipated sales. 

 

XIII. MISCELLANEOUS. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the 

      parties and supersedes any prior negotiations, representations or 

      agreements. The delay or failure of either party to assert or exercise any 

      of its rights shall not operate as a waiver of such right. 

 

Except for the right of either party to apply to a court of competent 

jurisdiction for any equitable relief to preserve the status quo or prevent 

irreparable harm, any controversy or claim relating to this agreement shall be 

settled by arbitration in the City of Springfield, Massachusetts, in accordance 

with the rules then obtaining of the American Arbitration Association. 

Distributor shall be liable for all collection costs and expenses, including 

collection agency and reasonable attorney's fees, incurred by Smith & Wesson to 

collect amounts owed to Smith & Wesson by Distributor. 

 

               DISTRIBUTOR                        SMITH & WESSON 

 

            <> 

   By: __________________________           By: _____________________________ 

               Signature                                  Signature 

 

       __________________________               _____________________________ 

          Print Name and Title                      Print Name and Title 
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                                    EXHIBIT A 

            SMITH & WESSON LAW ENFORCEMENT DISTRIBUTORSHIP AGREEMENT 

 

NAME OF DISTRIBUTOR: <>,<>,<> 

 

GEOGRAPHIC AREA OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR ALL SMITH & WESSON LAW ENFORCEMENT 

PRODUCTS: 

 

STATES: 

 

<> 

 

COMMENTS: 
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                                    EXHIBIT B 

            SMITH & WESSON LAW ENFORCEMENT DISTRIBUTORSHIP AGREEMENT 

 

                      NAME OF DISTRIBUTOR: ,Company-LVL1,, 

 

Pursuant to Paragraph 3 of the Law Enforcement Distributorship Agreement, 

Distributor identifies the following Affiliates: 

 

Key personnel, officers and directors of Distributor are: 

 

            Individual                                  Job Function 

 

__________________________________          ____________________________________ 

 

__________________________________          ____________________________________ 

 

__________________________________          ____________________________________ 

 

__________________________________          ____________________________________ 

 

__________________________________          ____________________________________ 

 

 

        INDIVIDUAL OR ENTITY             NATURE OF RELATIONSHIP WITH DISTRIBUTOR 

 

__________________________________          ____________________________________ 

 

__________________________________          ____________________________________ 

 

__________________________________          ____________________________________ 

 

__________________________________          ____________________________________ 

 

 

 

                                            DISTRIBUTOR 

 

 

                                            ____________________________________ 

                                            INSERT FIRM'S NAME 

 

                                            BY:_________________________________ 
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                                                     PRINT NAME AND TITLE DATED: 

 

    DATED:_________________ 

 

 

                                    EXHIBIT C 

            SMITH & WESSON LAW ENFORCEMENT DISTRIBUTORSHIP AGREEMENT 

 

                          RESTRICTED COUNTRIES 

                          --------------------- 

                          ARGENTINA 

                          AUSTRALIA 

                          AUSTRIA 

                          BELGIUM 

                          BOLIVIA 

                          BULGARIA 

                          CANADA 

                          CZECH REPUBLIC 

                          CHILE 

                          DENMARK 

                          DOMINICAN REPUBLIC 

                          ECUADOR 

                          EL SALVADOR 

                          ESTONIA 

                          FRANCE 

                          FINLAND 

                          GERMANY 

                          GREECE 

                          GUATEMALA 

                          HONDURAS 

                          HUNGARY 

                          ICELAND 

                          INDONESIA 

                          ISRAEL 

                          ITALY 

                          JAPAN 

                          KENYA 

                          KOREA 

                          LATVIA 

                          LEBANON 

                          LUXEMBURG 

                          MALAYSIA 

                          MEXICO 

                          MACEDONIA 
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                          NEPAL 

                          THE NETHERLANDS 

                          NEW ZEALAND 

                          NORWAY 

                          PANAMA 

                          PARAGUAY 

                          PERU 

                          PHILIPPINES 

                          POLAND 

                          PORTUGAL 

                          REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA 

                          SINGAPORE 

                          SLOVAKIA 

                          SPAIN 

                          SURINAM 

                          SWEDEN 

                          SWITZERLAND 

                          THAILAND 

                          TOBAGO 

                          TRINIDAD 

                          TURKEY 

                          UNITED KINGDOM 

                          URUGUAY 

                          VENEZUELA 
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Exhibit 10.33 

 

      SMITH & WESSON 

      LAW ENFORCEMENT DEALER AGREEMENT 

 

 

THIS AGREEMENT is effective as of January 1, 2002 and expires on December 31, 

2002 between SMITH & WESSON CORP., a Delaware corporation (Smith & Wesson) with 

offices at 2100 Roosevelt Avenue, Springfield, Massachusetts 01102 and <>, <



>, <>, <>, <> (DEALER). 

 

   1. APPOINTMENT. Smith & Wesson hereby appoints Dealer as a non-exclusive law 

enforcement dealer for Smith & Wesson law enforcement equipment (the Products) 

in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

 

   2. COMPLIANCE WITH FIREARMS LAWS. Dealer acknowledges that the distribution 

and sale of Smith & Wesson firearms are governed by responsibilities and 

obligations delineated by law and by virtue of this agreement with Smith & 

Wesson. Dealer represents that it is presently in full compliance with all 

federal, state and local laws, statutes, ordinances and regulations relating to 

the distribution and sale of firearms. Dealer further represents and 

acknowledges that the name and reputation of Smith & Wesson and its products 

constitute a valuable asset, and Dealer shall conduct its operations and the 

distribution and sale of the Products ethically and strictly in accordance with 

the letter and spirit of all applicable laws so that the name and reputation of 

Smith & Wesson and its Products shall not be adversely affected. Dealer 

acknowledges this is a material condition and term to this Agreement. Failure to 

comply with this Provision affords Smith & Wesson the right to terminate this 

Agreement without further obligation or liability on the part of Smith & Wesson. 

 

   3. DEALER'S DUTIES. The Dealer shall: 

 

                  (a) Comply with all federal, state and local laws, statutes, 

      ordinances and regulations relating to the sale and distribution of 

      firearms during the term of this agreement. 

 

                  (b) Employ sufficient adequately trained and competent 

      personnel who will follow all federal, state and local laws, statutes, 

      ordinances and regulations relating to the sale and distribution of 

      firearms during the term of this agreement. 

 

                  (c) Restrict the sale of firearms to those persons or dealers 

      lawfully authorized to purchase or own firearms. 
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                  (d) Not knowingly sell Smith & Wesson products to any person 

      or entity who is not complying with the laws and regulations relating to 

      the sale or distribution of firearms. 

 

                  (e) Maintain all required books and records relating to the 

      sale or distribution of firearms and cooperate with all appropriate law 

      enforcement inquiries relating to those books and records. 

 

                  (f) Equip all new Smith & Wesson firearms sold or distributed 

      with a locking device provided by Smith & Wesson. Dealer further agrees 

      that it will provide all applicable Smith & Wesson safety and instruction 

      manuals with new Smith & Wesson products. 

 

                  (g) Adhere to the sales policies of Smith & Wesson which may 

      be expressed or modified by Smith & Wesson as it deems necessary from time 

      to time. 

 

                  (h) Assist Smith & Wesson in processing warranty claims and 

      otherwise fulfilling its obligations as provided in such warranties. 

 

                  (i) Promote the Product to the Individual Officer (IO) market, 

      in a professional and well-merchandised manner satisfactory to Smith & 

      Wesson. 

 

                  (j) Place an opening order of at least 5 handgun SKU's for 

      stock purposes to service the IO market. The mix of product must be 

      approved by the appropriate S&W Regional Manager or Representative. No. 22 

      LR Pistols, .44 Magnum or .44 Special handguns will be permitted to be 

      sold under this program. 

 

                  (k) Submit a copy of the attached Individual Officer Purchase 

      Form with each re-order for replacement product. 

 

                  (1) Adhere to all state, local and federal laws and 

      regulations regarding the sale and transfer of high capacity magazines. 

      Pistols sold under this program will be in the LE configuration, i.e., 3 

      high capacity magazines (marked for L.E.) except for the following models: 

      SW40VE, SW9VE, M410, M457, M908 and M910 which will be shipped with 2 

      magazines each. 

 

                  (m) NOT bid FET exempt handguns beyond 25 guns, either 

      directly or through a third account. Any such bids, 25 guns or less, must 



      be processed through Sporting Goods Distributors. 
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                  (n) Pay all Smith & Wesson invoices promptly when due. 

 

                  (o) Provide financial statements, including, but not limited 

      to, a balance sheet, profit and loss statement and changes in cash flow, 

      if requested to do so by Smith & Wesson. Smith & Wesson agrees to maintain 

      the confidentiality of any financial statement produced pursuant to this 

      paragraph, except as otherwise required by law or governmental agency. 

 

                  (p) Advertise for direct sale of the Products to law 

      enforcement and security personnel. 

 

      4. DEALER'S KEY PERSONNEL AND AFFILIATES. Dealer represents and warrants 

and warrants that the persons or entities named in Exhibit A include (a) all of 

the Dealer's key personnel, officers, and directors, and (b) the individuals or 

entities that control or are controlled by the Dealer. Dealer shall give written 

notice to Smith & Wesson of any change in Exhibit A within thirty (30) days of 

such change. 

 

      5. PROHIBITIONS. Dealer shall not, directly or indirectly: 

 

                  (a) Sell new products at "gun shows". 

 

                  (b) Possess or transfer any large capacity ammunition feeding 

      devices manufactured by Smith & Wesson for sale to purchasers except for 

      those sold to law enforcement agencies or other purchasers specified by 

      law in paragraph (b) of Section 178.40A of the Code of Federal 

      Regulations. 

 

                  (c) Sell or market new Smith & Wesson products through Shotgun 

      News, Gun List, or other similar magazines. 

 

                  (d) Knowingly sell firearms to persons or dealers where false 

      or misleading statements have been made with respect to the information 

      required to purchase a firearm. 

 

                  (e) Knowingly sell or deliver any firearm to any person or 

      dealer if the purchase or possession would be in violation of any federal, 

      state or local law, statute, ordinance or regulation applicable at the 

      place of sale or delivery. 
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                  (f) Sell new Products purchased directly from Smith & Wesson 

      to any individual other than a bonafide individual law enforcement 

      officer. 

 

                  (g) Export any order. 

 

      6. TERMS OF SALE. This Agreement, as well as Smith & Wesson's invoice and 

order acknowledgment, shall govern the purchase and sale of all Products to 

Dealer. To the extent there is any inconsistency between those documents, this 

Agreement shall govern. Smith & Wesson reserves the right to change Products, 

prices, terms of sale and sales policies by giving written notice of any such 

change to Dealer. 

 

      7. INDEMNIFICATION. Dealer shall indemnify, defend, hold harmless, and 

reimburse Smith & Wesson from any and all claims, causes of action, losses, 

damages, wrongful death claims, personal injury claims, property damage claims, 

expenses and costs as they are incurred (including reasonable attorney's fees, 

expenses and costs of litigation) or liability of any kind arising directly or 

indirectly (hereinafter "Claims") in tort, contract or otherwise, out of either 

(a) Dealer's alleged or actual violation or breach of this Agreement; (b) the 

handling, possession or use of the Products by Dealer or any of its employees or 

agents (excluding, however, liability arising solely out of the manufacture of 

the Products by Smith & Wesson); and/or (c) any Claims asserted by any third 

party against Smith & Wesson which were caused (or alleged to be), in whole or 

part, by the negligence, misconduct, action or omissions of Dealer. 

 

      8. WARRANTY. Smith & Wesson may provide express written warranties on 

Smith & Wesson Products. SUCH WARRANTIES ARE IN LIEU OF, AND SMITH & WESSON 

HEREBY DISCLAIMS, ALL WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED 

TO, THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR 

PURPOSE. Dealer shall not make any representations or warranties concerning the 

Products except those contained in 

 

      Smith & Wesson prepared materials accompanying the Product. Dealer is not 

authorized to extend or otherwise modify (or permit any vendee to extend or 

otherwise modify) Smith & Wesson's warranty with respect to any Product. Any 

statements or warranties, written or oral, made by Dealer with respect to a 

product that exceeds, modifies or deviates from the applicable warranty for such 

product provided by Smith & Wesson shall be the sole responsibility of Dealer 

unless Smith & Wesson has given its written authorization for such modification 

or deviation. 

 

      9. CREDIT. Smith & Wesson may, in its sole discretion, extend credit to 

Dealer, and ship Products to Dealer on open account. If Smith & Wesson is not 

satisfied with the credit standing of Dealer, Smith & Wesson may immediately 

discontinue extending credit to Dealer and Dealer will immediately make payment 

of all outstanding amounts. In the event Dealer fails to pay Smith & Wesson any 

amount when due, Smith & Wesson shall assess Dealer a late charge equal to the 

greater of 2% per month or the highest rate permissible under applicable law on 

the outstanding balance which is due and owing. 
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      10. RETURNS. Dealer shall not, upon the expiration or termination of this 

Agreement, return inventory or any unsold product to Smith & Wesson (unless 

agreed upon by Smith & Wesson) or seek reimbursement or any other damages 

relating to prospective profits on sales or anticipated sales of products. 

 

      11. TRADE NAMES AND TRADEMARKS. Smith & Wesson grants to Dealer a 

nontransferable, nonexclusive license to use Smith & Wesson trade names and 

trademarks pursuant to the sales of products as set forth in this agreement 

provided that Dealer shall not use such trade names or trademarks as any part of 

its title or the name of its business. Dealer shall also not use such trade 

names or trademarks in any manner in connection with an effort to sell the goods 

of others, whether or not such goods are competitive with the Products. Upon 

termination of this Agreement, Dealer shall immediately discontinue any use of 

Smith & Wesson's trademarks, trade names, and any other identification with 

Smith & Wesson. 

 

      12. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the 

parties waive and relinquish any Claims, demands, causes of action or recoveries 

for punitive damages, exemplary damages, or statutory damages. Smith & Wesson 

shall not be liable for indirect, special, incidental or other damages arising 

under this Agreement or otherwise with respect to the sale of the Products, 

including, any lost revenues or profits, consequential and/or incidental 

damages, business interruption or damage to business reputation, regardless of 

the theory upon which any Claim may be based, including any statutory causes of 

action or claims. Notwithstanding the term of any limited written warranty 

provided to Dealer, or in the event said limited written warranty fails of its 

essential purpose, in no event will Smith & Wesson's entire liability to Dealer 

exceed the purchase price actually paid by Dealer for the Products hereunder, or 

any defective portion thereof, whichever is the lesser amount. Any written 

limited warranty is the sole and exclusive remedy of Dealer. 

 

No Claim of any kind may be brought against Smith & Wesson by Dealer more than 

one year after the Claim has arisen. In addition, Dealer may not make any Claim 

for shortage or damage in any delivery to Dealer more than fourteen business 

days after Dealer's receipt of the delivery; and, all other Claims, including 

Claims for allegedly defective goods, must be made within fifteen days after 

Dealer learns of the facts on which such Claim is based, but in no event later 

than one year after Dealer's receipt of the goods. 

 

      13. FORCE MAJEURE. Smith & Wesson shall have no liability or obligation to 

Dealer of any kind, including, but not limited to, any obligation to deliver 

Products or provide maintenance, warranty, repair or other services, arising 

from any delay or failure or failure to perform all or any part of this 

Agreement as a result of causes, conduct or occurrence beyond Smith & Wesson's 

reasonable control, including, but not limited to, commercial impracticability, 

fire, flood, act of war, civil disorder or disobedience, act of public enemies, 

problems associated with manufacture or transportation (including car or truck 

shortages), acts or failure to act of any state, federal or foreign governmental 

or regulatory authorities, labor disputes, strikes or failures of suppliers to 

make timely deliveries of materials, goods or services to Smith & Wesson. 
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      14. DEFAULT. The failure of Dealer to perform any obligations hereunder, 

including without limitation, the breach of this Agreement, the payment of the 

purchase price for Products and/or all other amounts due hereunder, the failure 

to materially perform other agreements between Dealer and Smith & Wesson, or 

Dealer's bankruptcy, insolvency, or inability to pay its debts when they become 

due, shall constitute a default under this Agreement and shall, in addition to 

any other remedies in law, equity or under this Agreement, afford Smith & Wesson 

all the remedies of a secured party under the Uniform Commercial Code. In the 

event of default, Smith & Wesson may, in addition to canceling this Agreement 

without liability to Dealer, refuse to provide warranty, repair and/or 

maintenance services and/or refuse to deliver Products under this or any other 

service, purchase or maintenance agreement relating to the Products, and may 

also cancel this Agreement and any pending orders or agreements without 

liability to Dealer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is understood that Smith 

& Wesson's remedies hereunder are cumulative and nonexclusive. 

 

      15. BREACH OF CONTRACT. A violation or breach of any item of this 

agreement, which may be determined in the sole and unfettered discretion of 

Smith & Wesson, may result, in the right of Smith & Wesson to cancel this 

agreement. Smith & Wesson may in its discretion also issue a warning that a 

Dealer is operating in violation of the agreement, suspend shipments, or take 

such other steps as it deems appropriate under the circumstances. No acts or 

omissions by Smith & Wesson shall be deemed a waiver of any rights under this 

agreement. 

 

      16. TERM. This Agreement shall remain in effect until December 31, 2002, 

when it will automatically terminate; provided, however, that either party may 

terminate this Agreement without cause by giving thirty (30) days prior written 

notice to the other party and, provided further, that Smith & Wesson may 

terminate this Agreement immediately by giving written notice of termination if 

any of the following occur: 

 

                  (a) a breach, violation or failure to perform any term of this 

      Agreement by Dealer; 

 

                  (b) failure to pay the purchase price to Smith & Wesson when 

      due; 

 

                  (c) a change in the business, operation, control, financial 

      condition or business affairs of Dealer including, without limitation, a 

      change in the parties listed in Exhibit A, the filing of any lien against 

      Dealer or attachment of any assets, the entry of a judgment against Dealer 

      in an amount in excess of $25,000, the filing of any petition in 

      bankruptcy by or against Dealer, Dealer's insolvency, reorganization or 

      inability to pay its debts when due; or 

 

                  (d) Dealer has failed to provide any financial statements as 

      required by Section 3(e). 
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                  (e) Smith & Wesson may suspend or terminate all Dealer rights, 

      with or without notice, if a claim is brought by any governmental or law 

      enforcement agency in which the business or distribution practices of 

      Dealer are called into question. 

 

      17. SEVERABILITY. If any term, covenant, warranty or condition of this 

Agreement or the application thereof to any person or circumstance shall, to any 

extent, be held or deemed invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this 

Agreement or the application of such term, covenant or provision, to persons or 

circumstances other than those to which it is held invalid or unenforceable, 

shall not he affected thereby, and each remaining term, covenant, or provision 

of this Agreement shall be deemed valid and shall be enforced to the fullest 

extent permitted by law. 

 

      18. NON-EXCLUSIVE INATURE. Smith & Wesson reserves the right to appoint 

other Dealers and to make direct sales to any other person or entity. It is 

expressly agreed that Dealer's rights are non-exclusive. I, The Dealer is not an 

agent, employee or franchisee of Smith & Wesson and may not assign or license 

any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement. 

 

      19. ACCEPTANCE, MERGER AND INTEGRATION. Smith & Wesson will be deemed to 

have accepted this Agreement when Smith & Wesson returns an acknowledged copy of 

this Agreement to Dealer, or at I Smith & Wesson's option, when Smith & Wesson 

begins substantial performance under this Agreement. Dealer accepts this 

Agreement by acknowledging or signing a copy of his Agreement or by acceptance 

of delivery of the Products or services hereunder. Notwithstanding the manner in 

which Dealer accepts, Dealer's acceptance is limited exclusively to the 

acceptance of Smith & Wesson's terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement 

only. Smith & Wesson hereby objects to and rejects any proposal by Dealer for 

additional or different terms in connection with the Products or services 

provided. Any contrary terms provided by Dealer are agreed to be superfluous and 

without any force and effect. This Agreement, which includes all the terms and 

conditions set forth herein and all riders or limited written warranties, if 

any, provided by Smith & Wesson, is intended to be the exclusive and final 

statement of the terms and understandings relative to the subject matter hereof, 

merging herein, and superseding all negotiations and prior written or oral 

agreements between the parties as to the subject matter of the purchase of the 

Products or services hereunder. There are no promises, representations or 

understandings made in connection with this Agreement or contemporaneous wit the 

execution hereof, except as set forth in this Agreement. 

 

      20. ARBITRATION. Except for the right of either party to apply to a court 

of competent jurisdiction located within the Commonwealth of Massachusetts for 

equitable relief to preserve the status quo or prevent irreparable harm, any 

controversy or claim relating to this Agreement shall be settled by arbitration 

in the City of Springfield, Massachusetts, in accordance with the rules of the 

American Arbitration Association or some other similar organization mutually 

agreeable to the parties. The arbitrator shall not be empowered to grant 

exemplary or punitive damages or any damages in excess of those damages 

permitted or limited under the express terms of this Agreement. Dealer shall be 

liable for all collection costs and expenses, including collection agency and 

reasonable attorney's fees and costs, incurred by Smith & Wesson to collect 

amounts owed to Smith & Wesson by Dealer. 
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      21. ATTORNEY'S FEES. In the event it becomes necessary for Smith & Wesson 

to enforce the terms and conditions of this Agreement by litigation or 

otherwise, or to defend itself in any Controversy (as defined herein), 

litigation, Claim, demand, dispute, or cause of action arising out of or as a 

result of this Agreement or the Products or services provided hereunder, and if 

Smith & Wesson is the substantially prevailing party in said Controversy, 

litigation, Claim, demand, dispute, or cause of action, then Smith & Wesson 

shall be entitled to recover, in addition to any other relief granted or damages 

assessed, its attorney's fees, expert witness fees, costs, and all expenses of 

litigation. 

 

      22. MISCELLANEOUS. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between 

the parties and supersedes any prior negotiations, representations or 

agreements. The delay or failure of either party to assert or exercise any of 

its rights shall not operate as a waiver of such right except as expressly 

provided in this Agreement. 

 

 

 

 

DEALER SIGNATURE                    SMITH & WESSON SIGNATURE 

 

 

_____________________________       ________________________________ 

 

 

_____________________________       ________________________________ 

Print Name and Title                Print Name and Title 

 

 

_____________________________       ________________________________ 

DATE                                DATE 
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      SMITH & WESSON 

 

      INDIVIDUAL LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER PURCHASE 

      FORM 

 

 

 

I __________________________________ certify that I am a duly and fully sworn 

Peace Officer (OFFICERS NAME PRINTED) with the below listed department and am 

authorized to purchase the described firearm for use in either an "ON DUTY" or 

"OFF DUTY" application. 

 

 

 

 

                              __________________________ 

                                (OFFICER'S SIGNATURE) 

 

 

 

 

OFFICER' NAME __________________________________  RANK ______  ID# ____________ 

 

OFFICER'S DEPARTMENT OR AGENCY ________________________________________________ 

 

DEPARTMENT / AGENCY ADDRESS 

 

CITY __________________________________  COUNTY _________________  ZIP ________ 

 

DEPARTMENT / AGENCY TELEPHONE _________________________________________________ 

 

MODEL PURCHASED (PROGRAM MODELS ONLY)__________________________________________ 

 

SERIAL NUMBER ________________________________ 

 

DATE OF PURCHASE _____________________________ 

 

SMITH & WESSON L.E. DEALER<> 

 

ADDRESS <



> 

 

CITY<>       STATE<>     ZIP<> 

 

SALESPERSON'S SIGNATURE _______________________________________________________ 

 

* A COPY OF THE PURCHASING OFFICERS AGENCY IDENTIFICATION CARD MUST BE ATTACHED 

TO THIS FORM. 
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Exhibit 21.1 

 

                       Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation 

                         Subsidiaries of the Registrant 

 

 

 

 

                      State or other jurisdiction of       Percentage of voting 

Name                   incorporation or organization          securities owned 

- ----                   -----------------------------          ---------------- 

                                                      

Smith & Wesson                   Delaware                             100% 

Corp. 

 

Lost Coast                        Nevada                              100% 

Ventures, Inc. 

 

voting 

 



 

 

                         CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

 

 

 

Board of Directors 

Smith & Wesson Holding Corporation 

Scottsdale, Arizona 

 

We consent to the inclusion of our Independent Auditors' Report dated July 3, 

2002, on the consolidated financial statements of Smith & Wesson Holding 

Corporation in the Form 10KSB to be filed with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission on or around July 29, 2002. 

 

 

/s/ Stonefield Josephson, Inc. 

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

Santa Monica, California 

July 29, 2002 

 

 




